Classical Verification of Quantum Computations in Linear Time

Jiayu Zhang*1

¹California Institute of Technology jiayu@caltech.edu

April 4, 2022

Abstract

In the quantum computation verification problem, a quantum server wants to convince a client that the output of evaluating a quantum circuit C is some result that it claims. This problem is considered very important both theoretically and practically in quantum computation [32, 1, 47]. The client is considered to be limited in computational power, and one desirable property is that the client can be completely classical, which leads to the classical verification of quantum computation (CVQC) problem. In terms of the time complexity of server-side quantum computations (which typically dominate the total time complexity of both the client and the server), the fastest single-server CVQC protocol so far has complexity $O(\operatorname{poly}(\kappa)|C|^3)$ where |C| is the size of the circuit to be verified and κ is the security parameter, given by Mahadev [41]. This leads to a similar cubic time blowup in many existing protocols including multiparty quantum computation, zero knowledge and obfuscation [8, 50, 9, 16, 18, 2]. Considering the preciousness of quantum computation resources, this cubic complexity barrier could be a big obstacle for taking protocols for these problems into practice.

In this work, by developing new techniques, we give a new CVQC protocol with complexity $O(\mathsf{poly}(\kappa)|C|)$ (in terms of the total time complexity of both the client and the server), which is significantly faster than existing protocols. Our protocol is secure in the quantum random oracle model [11] assuming the existence of noisy trapdoor claw-free functions [12], which are both extensively used assumptions in quantum cryptography. Along the way, we also give a new classical channel remote state preparation protocol for states in $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{\mathrm{i}\theta\pi/4}|1\rangle)$: $\theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$, another basic primitive in quantum cryptography. Our protocol allows for parallel verifiable preparation of L independently random states in this form (up to a constant overall error and a possibly unbounded server-side isometry), and runs in only $O(\mathsf{poly}(\kappa)L)$ time and constant rounds; for comparison, existing works (even for possibly simpler state families) all require very large or unestimated time and round complexities [33, 20, 4, 36].

^{*}Supported by the IQIM, an NSF Physics Frontiers Center (NSF Grant PHY-1125565) with support of the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation (GBMF-12500028).

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	4
	1.1	Background	4
	1.2	Existing Works	5
		1.2.1 Verification of quantum computations	5
		1.2.2 Related problem: remote state preparation	6
		1.2.3 Related works: a review of existing applications of CVQC and RSPV	7
	1.3	Our Results	8
	1.4	Discussion	9
	1.5	Paper Organizations	10
2	Too	hnical Overview	10
_	2.1	Fast Parallel RSPV for 8-basis Qfactory and Gadget-assisted Quantum Computation Verification	
	$\frac{2.1}{2.2}$	Lookup-table-based Techniques for State Generation in the Honest Setting	11
	$\frac{2.2}{2.3}$	Helper Gadget Method, and Adding Phases under This Method (AddPhaseWithHelper)	13
	$\frac{2.3}{2.4}$	Overall Protocol Structure with Full Verification Procedures	14
	2.4 2.5	Standard Basis Test (StdBTest)	15
	$\frac{2.5}{2.6}$	Individual Phase Test (InPhTest)	16
	$\frac{2.0}{2.7}$	Collective Phase Test (CoPhTest)	18
	2.7	State Forms, and the Overall Implication of CoPhTest and InPhTest Applied on Multiple Gadgets	
	2.0	2.8.1 Basis-phase correspondence form	$\frac{21}{21}$
		2.8.2 Pre-phase-honest form and phase-honest form	21
		2.8.3 A summary	$\frac{21}{22}$
	2.9	Security Proofs Structure	$\frac{22}{22}$
	-	Basis Norm Test (BNTest)	24
		Amplification to RSPV	$\frac{24}{25}$
	2.11	Amphication to 1601 v	20
3	\mathbf{Pre}	liminaries	2 6
	3.1	Basic Notations and Facts	26
		3.1.1 Quantum gates	26
		3.1.2 Basic notations	26
		3.1.3 Indistinguishability notations	27
		3.1.4 Approximate invariance	27
		3.1.5 CQ-states and purified joint states	27
		3.1.6 Basic facts from linear algebra	28
		3.1.7 Basic facts from probability theory	29
	3.2	Noisy Trapdoor Claw-free Functions	29
		3.2.1 Evaluation of NTCF functions	30
	3.3	Random Oracle Model	31
		3.3.1 Blinded oracle	32
		3.3.2 Freshly-new oracle and approximate freshly-new oracle by random padding	32
	3.4	Lookup Tables and Phase Tables	32
	_		
4	-	•	33
	4.1	Models of Protocol Formalizations	33
	4.2	Quantum Computation Verification	34
	4.3	Existing Gadget-assisted Verification Protocol	35
	4.4	Our Notion of RSPV	35
	4.5	Pre-RSPV	36

5	ormalization of Our Pre-RSPV Protocol	37
	1 High Level Construction and AddPhaseWithHelper	37
	Subprotocols: Hadamard Tests and Gadget Combination	
	4 Properties of Our preRSPV Protocol	
	1 Toperties of Our prendry 1 Totocor	40
6	asic Notions and Analysis of Key-Pair Preparation and Standard Basis Test	46
	1 Symbols for Different Registers	46
	2 Basic Notions on Joint States	47
	3 Analysis of the Key-pair Superposition Preparation Step	47
	4 Basis-honest Form	48
	5 StdBTest Implies Approximate Basis-honest Form	49
	6 Useful Lemmas	49
	6.6.1 Collapsing property	49
	6.6.2 Look-up table encryptions do not affect claw-freeness	50
	6.6.3 Rigidity of basis-honest form with strong-claw-free condition	50
7	he Helper Gadget Method	51
•	1 Overview	52
	2 Analysis of Helper Gadget Method and RO-padded Hadamard Test	
	7.2.1 Helper gadget method	
	7.2.2 Analysis of RO-padded Hadamard test	
	7.2.3 Proof of Theorem 7.1	
	3 Helper Gadget Method in preRSPV	
	4 Set-up for the Output State of AddPhaseWithHelper	
8	nalysis of AddPhaseWithHelper	57
0	1 Basis-phase Correspondence Form	58
	\mathcal{R}_1 Basis-phase Correspondence Form	
	8.2.1 Intuitive discussion \dots	58
	8.2.2 Formal definition	58
	8.2.3 Preparation for the proof: ReviseRO Operator	59
	3 Phase Table Structure Implies Approximate Invariance Under Randomization of \mathcal{R}_1	60
	8.3.1 Linear algebra fact that connects state form to approximate-invariance of operator	60
	8.3.2 Proof of Theorem 8.1	60
	4 New Set-up	61
	8.4.1 Subtlety: states in Setup 4 are not obviously efficiently-preparable, and how to deal	01
	with it	62
9	nalysis of Collective Phase Test (CoPhTest)	63
	Pre-phase-honest Form and Phase-honest Form	63
	Randomization Operator \mathcal{R}_2	64
	3 CoPhTest Implies Approximate Invariance Under Randomization of \mathcal{R}_2	66
	9.3.1 A linear algebra lemma that connects state structure with randomization	66
	9.3.2 Proof of Theorem 9.3	66
10	nalysis of the Individual Phase Test (InPhTest)	70
	.1 Linear Algebra Lemmas for Self-testing of State Sequences	71
	.2 Optimality of OPT in InPhTest	72
	1.3 Randomization Operator $\mathcal P$ for InPhTest	75
	10.3.1 Intuitive discussion	75
	10.3.2 Formalization	77
	10.3.3 \mathcal{P} behaves well on states with honest phases or its complex conjugates	77
	10.3.4 \mathcal{P} projects a pre-phase-honest form to a phase-honest form	79
	.4 InPhTest Implies Approximate Invariance Under $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$	80

11	Analysis of the Basis Norm Test (BNTest)	83
	11.1 Initial Setup of BNTest	
	11.2 BNTest Implies Basis Norms Are Close to Uniform Vectors	84
12	Putting All Together	88
	12.1 Proof of the Optimality of OPT	88
	12.2 A Proof of Theorem 5.2	90
13	From Remote State Preparation to Quantum Computation Verification	98
	13.1 From Pre-RSPV to RSPV	98
	13.1.1 Step 1: a fully verifiable protocol that does not necessarily generate an output state .	
	13.1.2 Step 2: handing the case where comp round is not reached	
	13.2 From RSPV to CVQC	105
A	Missing Proofs By Section 5	106
В	Missing Proofs in Section 6	108
\mathbf{C}	Missing Proofs in Section 7	108
D	Missing Proofs in Section 8	111
\mathbf{E}	Missing Proofs in Section 10.1	111
	E.1 Basic Inequalities	111
	E.2 3-states Lemmas	111
	E.3 5-states Lemmas, with Approximate Normalization	113
	E.4 Proofs of Lemmas in Section 10.1	114

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Verification of computations is one of the most basic questions that one could ask about computations. In this problem, an untrusted server claims the output of running a circuit C is o, and the client would like to check its validity without doing all the computations from scratch. The study of this type of problems in different settings has a very long history. In the setting where the server has unlimited computation resources, many important complexity classes (like NP, IP, MIP [6]) and famous results (like the PCP theorem [6] or IP=PSPACE [48]) can be understood as characterizations of power of verification protocols in different settings.

Consider a practical setting where a user wants to outsource a large scale computation to an untrusted cloud server, we need to additionally assume the server runs in polynomial time. The computation verification problem in this setting is widely-studied and widely-used in cryptography. For example, computation verification has been studied in various different settings [29, 46] and is the foundation of various cryptographic problems (for example, zero-knowledge [34]).

Today quantum computations are gradually coming into reality. [7] Naturally, we would like to know whether quantum computations are also verifiable, and how it could be executed in practice. Formally speaking, a quantum computation verification protocol is defined as:

Definition 1.1 (Quantum computation verification, review of [1]). A quantum computation verification protocol takes a quantum circuit C and an output string o as the inputs. It has completeness c and soundness s if:

- (Completeness) For (C,o) such that $\Pr[C|0\rangle = o] \ge \frac{99}{100}$, the verifier accepts with probability $\ge c$.
- (Soundness) For any malicious quantum server, for (C, o) such that $\Pr[C|0\rangle = o] \leq \frac{1}{100}$, the verifier rejects with probability $\geq 1 s$.

In addition to that, we want the protocol to be efficient, that is, both the client and the server should be in polynomial time.

Quantum computation verification is also very important both in theory and in practice:

- The motivations of classical computation verification generally also hold in the quantum world. Historically, the study of quantum computation verification has led to a series of important works: For example, quantum computation verification protocols are the basis of many other quantum cryptographic protocols like multiparty computation and zero-knowledge [50, 8]; and the study of quantum computation verification in the multi-prover setting leads to one of the most striking results in quantum complexity theory [37].
- There is a strong practical motivation for quantum computation verification: In foreseeable future, it is possible that large scale quantum computers will be used as cloud services instead of personal computers due to its extreme running conditions [7], which makes the trust issue between the client and the server(s) more problematic.

On the other hand, quantum computation verification faces new difficulties that do not exist in the classical world:

- In quantum world, measurements are generally destructive, which is very different from the classical world. This means we can't trace and see what is happening during executions of quantum algorithms, which forbids an intuitive way of verifying computations.
- In a classical world, a user that holds a small computation device could always simulate a slightly larger scale computation by using real-world storage devices to enlarge its memory. Storing classical information in real life is generally cheap. Studies of computation verification in the classical world generally aims at verification of very large scale computations or more advanced functionalities. [29] However, quantum memory is not necessarily cheap. That implies, a user that already holds a quantum computer will still need to worry about the validity of outputs of larger scale quantum computations claimed by other untrusted parties.

We review some verification methods that are (possibly) practically useful but do not follow Definition 1.1, and discuss their restrictions.

- Cross-check of different quantum devices. This method relies on the assumption that either at least one quantum computer is reliable, or they will not maliciously deviate in a similar way. However, based on the development of classical computation technologies, it's possible that in the long run only a small number of nations or companies could be able to build large scale quantum computers. In this situation, this technique may not be sufficient for building trust in a large scale.
- Verification by solving problems in $NP \cap BQP$, like the factorization problem [49]. However, good choices for this class of problems are limited and (as far as we know) do not contain many important quantum computation algorithms like Hamiltonian simulation [45]. With only this verification method, a malicious server could choose to behave honestly only on these specific problems and deviate on all the other problems.

Besides the basic conditions given in Definition 1.1, there are various additional factors that people pay attention to. These include the assumptions used, complexities, etc. One very desirable property is the client could be completely classical. This is called the classical verification of quantum computation (CVQC) problem, which is the focus of this paper.

1.2 Existing Works

1.2.1 Verification of quantum computations

There are various approaches for the verification of quantum computations. [32]

- One approach that has a very long history is verification with a single quantum server and a client with a bounded quantum memory. These protocols include the Clifford-authentication-based protocol [1], polynomial-code-based protocol [1], protocols based on measurement-based quantum computation and trap qubits [28], the receive-and-measure protocol based on Hamiltonians [27], etc. These protocols generally require a small (for example, single-qubit) quantum device on the client side, and are information-theoretically (IT-) secure; however, the client still needs to do quantum computations, and for all the existing verification protocols that achieve IT-security in this setting, the client side quantum computations (thus also the total complexity) are at least linear (or even more) in the circuit size [1, 26, 28, 27].
- There is also a long history of verification with multiple entangled quantum servers and a completely classical client. [47, 21, 35] It is assumed that there is no communication among servers, thus the client can make use of the joint behavior of these servers to test each other. This class of protocols generally achieves information-theoretical security; but the requirement of multiple non-communicating entangled servers might be costly to guarantee at a scale in practice.
- A relatively new approach is to base the protocols on computational assumptions. Early stage works like [3] do not achieve classical verification. Mahadev constructed the first classical verification of quantum computation (CVQC) protocol in [41]. This protocol is based on a new primitive called *noisy trapdoor claw-free functions*, which can be constructed from the Learning-With-Errors assumption. Based on this work, a series of new CVQC protocols are developed [16, 2, 18] which improve [41] in different ways.

As said before, single-server cryptography-based CVQC is possible by [41]. Considering the preciousness of quantum computation resources, the next factor to consider after proving the existence might be to find a protocol with lower complexity. However, the currently fastest existing works run in $O(|C|^3)$ time complexity for verifying a circuit of size |C|, for a fixed security parameter. In more detail:

- The original Mahadev's protocol builds on the Hamiltonian-based approach [27] which leads to a cubic complexity. This complexity is inherited by the series of works built on it [16, 2, 18].
- There are also works that take the approach of remote state preparation like [33, 20]. Their complexities are polynomial but are unestimated; a back-of-envelope calculation shows their complexities might be very large.¹
- Even if we allow the usage of multiple quantum servers, the problem still exists in a sense: although there exists a quasi-linear time protocol [21], the no-communication requirement is an a-priori assumption, and it's not known how to base it on relativity-based space separation—which means guaranteeing the separation of different servers will be hard to achieve in a practical quantum network environment. If we focus on multi-server protocols where the no-communication condition can be based on space-like (relativity-based) separation, the fastest protocol known is still in cubic time [35].

For an intermediate-size problem, cubic complexity might already be too large to run in practice, especially for quantum computations. (For all the protocols listed above, the total time complexities are equal to the complexities of the server's quantum computations; we will simply use "complexity" to mean both.) This leads to the following question:

Could classical verification of quantum computations be faster?

1.2.2 Related problem: remote state preparation

A very basic notion in quantum cryptography that our work will be closely related to is *remote state* preparation, raised in [10]. There are different security notions for remote state preparation, including blindness and verifiability [24, 33]; We focus on remote state preparation with verifiability (RSPV). In this problem, ideally, the client wants to send a uniformly random state from a state family. The client wants to

¹We point out that the $O(1/\epsilon^3)$ and $O(T^4)$ complexities claimed in Section 1.1 of [33] underestimate the real complexities of their protocols. A calculation following its security proofs gives a much higher complexity. We thank the author(s) of [33] for confirming it.

use a protocol to interact with the server, so that when the protocol completes, if the server is not caught cheating, the server should hold the ideal state (approximately), as if the client prepares and sends it directly. This property is called the verifiability of remote state preparation. Necessarily, this notion of verifiability is defined up to a server-side isometry: the server could choose the basis freely and use this basis for all of its own operations, and there is no way to detect this change-of-basis from the outside.

This notion is basic and very useful in quantum cryptography. To demonstrate its applications, we note that many existing quantum cryptographic protocols have the following structure [14, 28]:

- 1. The client first prepares some quantum gadgets (small size secret states) and sends them to the server;
- 2. Both parties interact classically to achieve some tasks. We will call this step the qadqet-assisted protocol.

An undesirable property of these protocols is the client still needs to prepare and send (possibly many) quantum gadgets in the first step. RSPV could be used to replace the first step above approximately; if the RSPV protocol only relies on classical channels, we get a compiler that compiles a quantum channel protocol to a classical channel protocol with a similar functionality.

The authors of [24] consider whether it's possible to design a classical-channel RSPV protocol for the gadgets used in [14, 28] etc. In [14] the set of possible gadgets is $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{\theta i \pi/4} |1\rangle) : \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$; in [28] computational basis states $\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$ are added to the state family to support more advanced functionalities. The success of Mahadev's technique [12, 41] leads to a series of works on the possibility of constructing classical channel RSPV protocols for these state families [33, 20].

Usually RSPV is defined on a small state family (for example, $|+_{\theta}\rangle$ discussed above), while gadget-assisted protocol in general requires a large number of such gadgets. For convenience we define a variant of RSPV that takes the gadget number L as the input:

Definition 1.2 (Informal). RSPV for L gadgets in the form of $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{\theta i \pi/4}|1\rangle) : \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$ is defined to be a protocol that takes 1^L as inputs and satisfies:

- (Completeness) If the server is honest, it gets $|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle |+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \cdots |+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle$ in the end, where each of $\theta^{(1)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}$ are uniformly independently random in $\{0,1\cdots7\}$. The client gets $\theta^{(1)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}$.
- (Verifiability) For any (efficient) malicious server, if it could pass the protocol with significant probability, the joint state of the client and the server on the passing space is approximately indistinguishable to the honest state up to a server-side isometry.

The authors of [33] provide a positive answer to this problem using only classical channel; independently [20] also provides a candidate protocol whose security is shown against a restricted form of adversaries.

However, the time complexities of protocols in [20, 33] are not clear. Although both protocols are in polynomial time, the complexities are either completely implicit [20] or not fully calculated [33] (a back-of-envolope calculation shows the order of the polynomial is tens or hundreds.) Considering the wide applications of classical channel RSPV, we ask the following question:

Could classical channel RSPV for L gadgets in the form of $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle, \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$ be faster?

An answer to this question could also open the road to RSPV protocols for more general state families.

1.2.3 Related works: a review of existing applications of CVQC and RSPV

Since [41], there have been a series of works that built on the protocol or its techniques.

- CVQC protocols with improvements over [41]: the authors of [16], [2] construct non-interactive (2-rounds) CVQC protocols; [16] further construct a protocol where the client-side classical computation is in only poly(κ) time. The authors of [18] constructs blind, constant-round CVQC protocols for sampling problems.
- Multiparty quantum computation: The author of [8] constructs multiparty quantum computation protocols over classical channel, and constructs a composable bind CVQC protocol along the way from [41, 40, 18].

- Zero-knowledge: [50] constructs classical zero-knowledge arguments for QMA. [2] constructs a non-interactive zero-knowledge protocol for QMA.
- Obfuscation: [9] constructs an indistinguishability obfuscation scheme for null quantum circuits, based on non-interactive CVQC protocol with special properties. This results implies a series of fancy functionalities including publicly-verifiable NIZK, k-SNARG, ZAPR for QMA, attribute-based encryption for BQP etc, as discussed in [9].

All of these protocols have a cubic time complexity blowup inherited from [41]. Since [12], there are also a series of works on classical-channel RSPV and related problems.

- [33, 20] construct classical-channel RSPV protocols (with or without proofs) for non-trivial single qubit state families, and show these protocols could be useful for important problems like composable CVQC.
- [43] constructs a single-server self-testing protocol; this leads to a new protocol for device-independent quantum key distribution [42].
- [4] construct a new RSPV protocol that allows for preparation of a large number of BB84 states; in [36] the authors construct a parallel single-server self-testing protocol. As shown in [4], these type of RSPV protocols could lead to a series of classical-channel protocols for problems including unclonable quantum encryption, quantum copy-protection, and more.

These protocols, although polynomial-time, have very large or unestimated time complexity based on current analysis.²

1.3 Our Results

In this paper we make significant progress for the problems above. We work in the quantum random oracle model (QROM) [11], the ideal model for symmetric key encryptions or hash functions in the quantum world. (See Section 3.3 for a review.)

As our central result, we prove the following:

Theorem 1.1. Assuming the existence of post-quantum noisy trapdoor claw-free functions, there exists a single server CVQC protocol in QROM such that:

- The protocol has completeness $\frac{2}{3}$.
- For verifying a circuit of size |C|, the total time complexity is $O(poly(\kappa)|C|)$, where κ is the security parameter.
- The protocol has soundness $\frac{1}{3}$ against BQP adversaries.

This means we construct a CVQC protocol that runs in time only linear in the circuit size |C|, which is optimal in terms of dependence on |C|. The noisy trapdoor claw-free functions (NTCF) [12] in this theorem could be constructed from the Learning-With-Errors assumption, as given in [12]. (See Section 3.2 for a review.) The random oracle could be heuristically instantiated by a symmetric key encryption or hash function in practice, which is called the random oracle methodology [38]. Both are widely-used assumptions in cryptography.

The $poly(\kappa)$ in Theorem 1.1 is only linear in the time complexity of the noisy trapdoor claw-free functions (and the hash functions if we instantiate the random oracle).

Along the way, we construct a classical channel RSPV protocol for $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle, \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$ that runs in linear time and constant rounds:

Theorem 1.2 (Informal). There exists a classical channel RSPV protocol for L gadgets in the form of $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle, \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$ in QROM that runs in time $O(\mathsf{poly}(\kappa)L)$ and constant rounds.

The construction of the RSPV protocol is completed in Protocol 15 and the construction of the CVQC protocol is completed in Protocol 16. Their proofs are completed in the corresponding sections.

 $^{^{2}}$ We note the settings of these protocols are not the same, and we consider the following setting for a fair comparison: if the protocol only considers the preparation of a single state, we consider its L-fold repetition and require the total error to be a constant; for protocols with small soundness error like [36], we consider its repetition-based amplification that takes it to constant soundness error.

A quick summary of technical innovations We develop a set of techniques that are very different from existing CVQC or RSPV protocols. At a high level, we give up the Hamiltonian approach used in many existing works and seek for a fast RSPV protocol as an intermediate step towards a fast CVQC protocol. As discussed before, our RSPV protocol aims at preparing states in the form of $|+_{\theta}\rangle$.

This problem is nontrivial even without considering the complexity. Existing works that are powerful enough to handle this type of states, like [33], work as follows at a high level: the client instructs the server to do an operation followed by a partial measurement, which creates $|+_{\theta}\rangle$ (or similar states) for a random θ on the server-side; the client could calculate θ from the server's response and its secret information (trapdoor etc). Then a series of tests are probabilistically executed on this state, where the client asks the server to measure the qubit in a basis (either related to θ or unrelated to θ) and uses the server's feedback to check it has really prepared $|+_{\theta}\rangle$ as expected. Importantly, [33] designed a test based on quantum random access code [5].

We give a very brief overview of our protocol as follows. In Section 2 we give a detailed technical overview.

- 1. To allow the honest server to get the state, different from existing works, we make use of the phase table construction [53], coming from a work on a different quantum delegation problem, that generalizes garbled tables [51] construction into the quantum world. This technique could not directly create the single-qubit state $|+_{\theta}\rangle$; instead, it creates an encoded form of this state, which is $e^{\theta_0 i \pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i \pi/4} |x_1\rangle$, where x_0, x_1 are long keys held secretly by the client, and θ_0, θ_1 are sampled randomly such that $\theta_1 \theta_0 = \theta$. Then the client reveals the keys to allow the server to decode the state and get $|+_{\theta}\rangle$. But doing this directly turns out to be insecure since the revealed keys together with the phase tables allow the adversary to break the protocol. To address this problem, we develop the helper gadget method (see Section 2.3 for a detailed review of this method). This method, in a sense, allows the client to directly reveal the keys without sacrificing the necessary secrecy of the phase tables. We consider this part as the central step of our protocol.
- 2. Then we design a series of new tests that allow the client to test the server's states. (See Section 2.4 for a further review.) The difficulty is we not only want these tests to verify the server's state is indeed honest, but also want the whole tests to be in linear time when applied on L states. Existing works like [33] design tests that work on each state separately; unluckily, as discussed in Section 2.7, there are inherent barriers to get linear time protocols if we want the overall error of all these states to be within a constant.

In our design of tests, there are tests that work on all these gadgets collectively, which allows us to bypass this barrier.

1.4 Discussion

We first remark several limitations of our results that we do not aim to solve in this work.

- Although our remote state preparation protocol runs in constant rounds, we do not aim to construct a constant round CVQC protocol. The underlying gadget-assisted verification protocol runs in linear rounds which implies the overall round complexity of our CVQC protocol is also linear.
- We do not focus on optimizing the hidden constant in the big-O notation. The current constant blow-up is far from being practical, but it's largely from the very loose security analysis (even elementary calculations in our work could be far from being tight). Despite being loose, in this work we still give explicit bounds for most of the constants to set a record for future improvements, which could be important for taking protocols for these problems into practice.
- The security of our RSPV protocol is defined up to constant error and possibly unbounded isometry. (See Section 4.4 for details.) This is sufficient for constructing our CVQC protocol but will restrict the application scenarios of our RSPV.

It will be desirable to see the resolutions of these problems.

Besides the problems above, our results also naturally give rise to the following questions.

- Could we use either CVQC or RSPV in our work to construct new faster protocols for other problems? As discussed in Section 1.2.3, [41, 12] leads to a series of protocols for various different problems. It is promising to explore the possibility of using our protocols or techniques to construct fast protocols for these problems.
- Could we replace the random oracle by standard model assumptions, and prove its security formally? We feel our protocols have a relatively clean and clear structure, and the usage of the random oracle is not involved. The applications of the random oracle in our protocol construction are as follows:
 - We use the random oracle to construct the underlying symmetric key encryption scheme used in lookup-tables (see Section 2.2 for a discussion).
 - We use the random oracle in RO-padded Hadamard tests [55]. (We will mention it in Section 2.3.)

It is an intriguing question to instantiate the random oracle (or reducing its usage) with a formal proof.

We believe our work, together with answers to these questions, will be important for taking secure quantum computations into practice.

1.5 Paper Organizations

This paper is organized as follows.

- 1. Section 1 is the introduction of the background and our results. Then in Section 2 we give a technical overview of our construction.
- 2. In Section 3 we give a review to the preliminaries. In Section 4 we formalize the notion of CVQC and RSPV, and introduce the notion of pre-RSPV as an intermediate step.
- 3. In Section 5 we formalize our pre-RSPV protocol.
- 4. In Section 6 to Section 11 we analyze each idea or subprotocol in our construction.
- 5. In Section 12 we combine all these stand-alone analysis of subprotocols together to prove the verifiability of the overall pre-RSPV protocol.
- 6. In Section 13 we use our pre-RSPV protocol to complete the construction of our RSPV and CVQC protocol.

Acknowledgement

We thank someone for discussions, whose name is kept secret for anonymous review.

2 Technical Overview

Let's give an overview of the construction of our protocols.

2.1 Fast Parallel RSPV for 8-basis Qfactory and Gadget-assisted Quantum Computation Verification

At a high level, to construct the fast CVQC protocol, we take the approach of constructing RSPV protocol as an intermediate step.

As informally defined in Section 1.2.2, we consider the parallel version of RSPV for state family $\{|+_{\theta}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{i\theta\pi/4}|1\rangle), \theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$. The inputs of the RSPV protocol are the gadget number 1^L and security

parameter 1^{κ} . Equivalently we could consider this protocol as an RSPV protocol for a single uniformly random state from a large state family

$$\{|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes |+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle : \forall i, \theta^{(i)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}\}$$

$$\tag{1}$$

In the end the server should get a random element from (1) and the client should get $(\theta^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$. Equivalently we could express the joint cq-state of the client and server in this ideal functionality as³

$$\sum_{\forall i, \theta^{(i)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} \frac{1}{8^L} \underbrace{\left| \theta^{(1)} \right\rangle \left\langle \theta^{(1)} \right| \left| \theta^{(2)} \right\rangle \left\langle \theta^{(2)} \right| \cdots \left| \theta^{(L)} \right\rangle \left\langle \theta^{(L)} \right|}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\left| +_{\theta^{(1)}} \right\rangle \otimes \left| +_{\theta^{(2)}} \right\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \left| +_{\theta^{(L)}} \right\rangle}_{\text{server}}$$
(2)

The road to prove Theorem 1.1 is as follows.

- 1. Construct an RSPV protocol for target state (2) that runs in time $O(\mathsf{poly}(\kappa)L)$. This is achieved by Protocol 15 assuming NTCF and QROM and it also has the desirable property that it only has constant rounds. This proves Theorem 1.2.
- 2. Given a circuit C to be verified, find a gadget-assisted quantum computation verification protocol that uses (1) as the initial gadgets, where the gadget number L needed is linear in the circuit size |C|. This is achieved by existing work [26].

Remark Classical-channel RSPV defined above for arbitrary state families are generally impossible due to the existence of complex-conjugate attack, discussed in [47, 21, 31]: the malicious server could choose to execute the complex conjugate of the honest behaviors, and the output state will be the complex conjugate of the target state, which is not isometric to the honest state in general. The client has no way to detect it over a classical channel. However, the state (2) that we aim at is indeed invariant under complex conjugate: a complex conjugate of (2) is isometric to (2) up to a global phase by a sequence of X flips:

$$X \left| +_{-\theta} \right\rangle = e^{-\theta i \pi/4} \left| +_{\theta} \right\rangle$$

$$\Rightarrow \mathsf{X}^{\otimes L}(|+_{-\theta^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes |+_{-\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |+_{-\theta^{(L)}}\rangle) = e^{-(\theta^{(1)} + \theta^{(2)} + \cdots + \theta^{(L)})\mathrm{i}\pi/4} |+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes |+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle$$

which means a malicious server executing the complex-conjugate attack is equivalent to the honest server up to a server-side isometry and an undetectable global phase.

2.2 Lookup-table-based Techniques for State Generation in the Honest Setting

So how could we generate such states? Let's use the preparation of one gadget as an example. Suppose we need to prepare the state

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{\mathrm{i}\theta\pi/4}|1\rangle) \tag{3}$$

The first idea is to first use the noisy trapdoor claw-free function (NTCF) [12] technique to prepare the key-pair-superposition state, then use phase tables [54] to add the phases. In more detail:

1. As shown in [12] (see Section 3.2 for a review), evaluating an NTCF function could result in a state of the following form: the client gets a key pair $K = (x_0, x_1), x_0, x_1 \in \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}, x_0 \neq x_1$; the server holds the state

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)\tag{4}$$

In this paper later we will frequently use the word "keys" to denote the $K = (x_0, x_1)$ coming from the NTCF evaluation. (In the construction of NTCF there are also "secret keys" and "public keys", which are different.)

³Below we express the cq-state by a mixture of density operators and pure states. This notation is not fully standard but is convenient and is indeed used in some places; we do not rely on any operational property of it and use it solely as a notation.

2. We will use the lookup-table-based techniques [54] for adding phases. These lookup-tables have a similar structure to garbled tables [51] but do not carry computations directly.

For constructing look-up tables, we need an underlying symmetric key encryption scheme Enc with a key authentication part.

Recall that we are working in the quantum random oracle model (QROM). We use H to denote the random oracle. A natural construction of Enc on encryption key k and plaintext p is

$$\mathsf{Enc}_{k}(p) := (\underbrace{(R, H(R||k) + p)}_{\text{ciphertext}}, \underbrace{(R', H(R'||k))}_{\text{key authentication}}); R, R' \leftarrow_{r} \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}, \tag{5}$$

where the addition is over some specific group. Then we define the lookup table $LT(x_1 \to r_1, x_2 \to r_2, \dots, x_D \to r_D)$, or simply $x_1 \to r_1, x_2 \to r_2, \dots, x_D \to r_D$, as the tuple

$$(\mathsf{Enc}_{x_1}(r_1), \mathsf{Enc}_{x_2}(r_2), \cdots, \mathsf{Enc}_{x_D}(r_D)). \tag{6}$$

Each $\mathsf{Enc}_{x_u}(r_u)$ in (6) is called a row of this table. Given the table, and one key x_u used in some row, the server could decrypt the corresponding r_u as follows: it first uses the key authentication part of Enc to find out the index u, then it decrypts the ciphertext part of $\mathsf{Enc}_{x_u}(r_u)$ and gets r_u .

This type of lookup table technique is very useful in manipulating states in the form of (4). One nice property is the table decoding process above could be applied with superpositions of keys, for example, (4). Below we show how to use the *phase table* technique [54, 55] for adding phases to (4).

If the client wants to add a phase of $e^{\theta i\pi/4}$ to the x_1 basis of $|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle$, it can prepare the lookup table that encodes the following classical mapping:

$$x_0 \to \theta_0, x_1 \to \theta_1$$
, where $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$ are sampled randomly such that $\theta_1 - \theta_0 = \theta$, (7)

where we use \mathbb{Z}_8 as the group of addition. Then the adding of phase is achieved with the following mappings honestly:

$$|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle \tag{8}$$

(Decrypt table)
$$\rightarrow |x_0\rangle |\theta_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle |\theta_1\rangle$$
 (9)

(Controlled phase)
$$\rightarrow e^{i\theta_0\pi/4} |x_0\rangle |\theta_0\rangle + e^{i\theta_1\pi/4} |x_1\rangle |\theta_1\rangle$$
 (10)

(Decrypt table again)
$$\rightarrow e^{i\theta_0\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{i\theta_1\pi/4} |x_1\rangle$$
 (11)

where in the last step the decryption outcome is written into the same register that is introduced in (9), and the values in this register will be erased, as discussed in [54].

3. If the server really holds the state in the form of (11), the client could reveal the key pair K and the server could decode the keys from (11) and get (3).

This completes the construction in the honest setting. And we can naturally generalize it to prepare L states:

1. Both parties execute L evaluations of NTCF functions and prepare the following states on the server side:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}}(|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_1^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(2)}\rangle + |x_1^{(2)}\rangle) \otimes \cdots \otimes (|x_0^{(L)}\rangle + |x_1^{(L)}\rangle)$$

while the client knows all the keys.

2. The client samples random phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}, \ \Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)}), \ \theta_0^{(i)}, \ \theta_1^{(i)} \in_r \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2.$ (\in_r means uniformly random sampling.) Then it prepares the following table for each $i \in [L]$:

$$x_0^{(i)} \to \theta_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)} \to \theta_1^{(i)}$$

and sends all of them to the server.

The server is able to evaluate the phase tables and get the following state:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} \left(e^{\theta_0^{(1)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(1)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(1)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(1)} \rangle \right) \otimes \left(e^{\theta_0^{(2)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(2)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(2)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(2)} \rangle \right) \otimes \cdots \otimes \left(e^{\theta_0^{(L)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(L)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(L)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(L)} \rangle \right)$$

$$(12)$$

The client calculates $\theta^{(i)} = \theta_1^{(i)} - \theta_0^{(i)}, \forall i \in [L].$

3. The client reveals all the keys and the server gets (1) up to a global phase.

Have we got an RSPV protocol for (2)? The protocol above guarantees the honest behavior, but does not provide any security or verifiability. So where does this protocol violate the verifiability property of RSPV?

Recall the informal definition of RSPV in Definition 1.2. The verifiability property of RSPV requires the server to only hold the target state, it should not be either too little or too much—where "too little" means the server's state does not contain a subsystem that is isometric to the target state, and "too much" means the server gets additional information about the state descriptions that could not be simulated from the ideal state on the server side.

The problem here is the lookup table will contain ciphertexts that encode phases $\theta^{(i)}$, which could be decrypted after the client reveals K in the final step—which means the server knows too much.

To address this problem we introduce the *helper gadget method*, which is one of the key ingredients of this work.

2.3 Helper Gadget Method, and Adding Phases under This Method (AddPhaseWithHelper)

One important technique that we will use is the *helper gadget method*. A form of this method also appeared implicitly in [55]; in general this method does not solve concrete problems on its own, and we need to make smart usage of it and combine it with other techniques.

As discussed in the last section, the client needs a way to introduce new phases in a completely secret way. The idea is, instead of using a simple phase table, the protocol will make use of one additional *helper gadget*:

server holds
$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0^{(\text{helper})}\rangle + |x_1^{(\text{helper})}\rangle)$$
, client holds $K^{(\text{helper})} = (x_0^{(\text{helper})}, x_1^{(\text{helper})})$.

Importantly, when the mapping (7) is encoded, $K^{\text{(helper)}}$ will also be used as a part of the encryption keys. (We say "encryption keys" to mean k in $\text{Enc}_k(p)$ appeared in the construction of tables (6).) In more detail, each encryption in the table has the following form, where the encryption key is the concatenation of two keys:

$$\forall b^{\text{(helper)}} \in \{0, 1\}, b \in \{0, 1\}, x_{b^{\text{(helper)}}}^{\text{(helper)}} || x_b \to \theta_b$$

$$\tag{13}$$

The table (13) contains four rows coming from different values of $b^{\text{(helper)}}$ and b. Different choices of the helper gadget key correspond to the same encrypted phases.

With this table, the same mapping could still be implemented. The server could use similar operations as (8) to (11); it could decrypt the table (13) with the key superposition it holds, and the helper gadget remains in a product form from the other parts in each step analogous to (8) to (11):

$$(|x_0^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle + |x_1^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle) \tag{14}$$

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle + |x_1^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0\rangle |\theta_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle |\theta_1\rangle) \tag{15}$$

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle + |x_1^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle) \otimes (e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle |\theta_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle |\theta_1\rangle)$$
(16)

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle + |x_1^{\text{(helper)}}\rangle) \otimes (e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle)$$
(17)

So why do we need the helper gadget? We will see, starting from (17), the helper gadget will go through an (RO-padded) Hadamard test [55], which we define below. The (unpadded) Hadamard test is raised in [12] and in [55] it is observed that a random-oracle-padded version of this test certifies the server has to forget these keys; this observation will be formalized in our work in a nicer way. For simplicity of the introduction we review the unpadded version, given in [12]:

Toy Protocol 1 (Hadamard test). Suppose the client holds $K = (x_0, x_1), x_0, x_1 \in \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}$, and the server holds $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$.

The client asks for a non-zero d such that $d \cdot x_0 = d \cdot x_1 \mod 2$. The server does a bit-wise Hadamard measurement on $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$ and the output will satisfy the client's testing equation, which comes from the identity $\mathsf{H}^{\otimes \kappa}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{\kappa-1}}} \sum_{d:d \cdot x_0 = d \cdot x_1} |d\rangle$.

As discussed above, the (RO-padded) Hadamard test satisfies the following informal property:

Claim 2.1 (Successful Hadamard test destroys keys). Suppose the server holds an initial state that satisfies some property (say, the honest initial state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$). Both parties execute an (RO-padded) Hadamard test. If the server passes the protocol with high probability, the probability that it could predict one of x_0 or x_1 from the post-test state is small.

Since the keys of the helper gadget are part of the encryption keys for the mapping (13), if the server loses the predictability of keys in $K^{\text{(helper)}}$, intuitively the server loses the ability to make use of the mapping encoded by the table.

In more detail, the helper gadget method seems like a switch: before the test the server is able to evaluate the mapping, while after the test the information in the table will be hidden from efficient malicious servers.

With this in mind, our RSPV protocol roughly has the following structure from the viewpoint of the helper gadget method:

Toy Protocol 2. 1. For each $i \in [L]$, the client sends the helper-gadget-method-enhanced phase table for the i-th gadget

$$\forall b^{(helper)} \in \{0, 1\}, b^{(i)} \in \{0, 1\}, x_{b^{(helper)}}^{(helper)} || x_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)} \to \theta_b^{(i)}$$

$$\tag{18}$$

- 2. "Turn off" the switch of the helper gadget method (that is, to execute an RO-padded Hadamard test on the helper gadget).
- 3. The client flips a coin and does one of the following:
 - Verify that the state is really in the form (12). (This step might be destructive.)
 - Reveal all the keys and allow the server to decrypt and get the states (1).

Generally speaking, we call this type of protocol design methodology as the *helper gadget method*. The helper gadget method gives us a protocol of the following structure:

- 1. Encode a mapping on a helper gadget. The helper gadget keys will be an encryption key for the mapping, and the honest server could use either branch of the helper gadget (and thus their superpositions) to evaluate the mapping.
- 2. Both parties do a Hadamard test on the helper gadget.

Besides the helper gadget method, the next non-trivial step in Toy Protocol 2 is the design of sub-tests, the first bullet of the third step. Below we give an overview of the important techniques that we develop for it.

2.4 Overall Protocol Structure with Full Verification Procedures

We will design various types of tests for verifying the states. These tests include *standard basis test* (StdBTest), *individual phase test* (InPhTest), *collective phase test* (CoPhTest) and *basis norm test* (BNTest).

To support these tests, in the very beginning when both parties use NTCF to generate key-pair superpositions, they will generate 2+L gadgets and keys. These keys are denoted by $K^{(\text{helper})}$, $K^{(0)}$, \cdots , $K^{(L)}$. The $K^{(\text{helper})}$ corresponds to the helper gadget in the AddPhaseWithHelper step; and for the remaining keys we note that there is one additional key pair and gadget with index $K^{(0)}$ which is solely used for verification and will not appear in the output states $K^{(0)}$.

Overall speaking, our protocol goes as follows. Note that the standard basis test is probabilistically executed both before and after the AddPhaseWithHelper step, while the other tests are executed after that.

Toy Protocol 3. 1. Both parties use NTCF to create 2 + L key-pair superpositions; the client gets key pairs $K^{(helper)} = (x_0^{(helper)}, x_1^{(helper)}), K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$ for all $i \in [0, L]$ and the server gets

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{2+L}}}(|x_0^{(helper)}\rangle + |x_1^{(helper)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(0)}\rangle + |x_1^{(0)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_1^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(2)}\rangle + |x_1^{(2)}\rangle) \otimes \cdots \otimes (|x_0^{(L)}\rangle + |x_1^{(L)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_1^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle + |x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^{(1)}\rangle \otimes (|x_0^$$

- 2. The client chooses one of the following two branches randomly:
 - Execute the StdBTest;
 - Execute AddPhaseWithHelper. This will consume the helper gadget and allow the honest server to prepare gadgets with phases in the form of

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{1+L}}} (e^{\theta_0^{(0)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(0)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(0)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(0)} \rangle) \otimes (e^{\theta_0^{(1)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(1)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(1)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(1)} \rangle) \otimes \cdots \otimes (e^{\theta_0^{(L)} i\pi/4} | x_0^{(L)} \rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(L)} i\pi/4} | x_1^{(L)} \rangle)$$

$$(20)$$

Then the client chooses one of the following five branches uniformly randomly:

- Execute the StdBTest;
- Execute the InPhTest;
- Execute the CoPhTest;
- Execute the BNTest;
- Reveal the keys and allow the server to output the state.

The gadgets that these tests applied on could be illustrated as follows.

$$\underbrace{K^{(\text{helper})}}_{\text{helper gadget for AddPhaseWithHelper}}, \underbrace{K^{(0)}}_{\text{InPhTest}}, \underbrace{K^{(1)}, K^{(2)}, \cdots K^{(L)}}_{\text{BNTest, output states}}$$

This overall protocol could only prepare the target state (66) when the last case ("allow the server to output the state") in Toy Protocol 3 is reached; in addition to that, an honest server could not always win in each test of Toy Protocol 3 due to an issue that will be discussed when we introduce the InPhTest. But a suitable repetition-based amplification of Toy Protocol 3 (or formally, Protocol 2) will lead to the formal RSPV protocol (Protocol 15) that we want. (In Section 5 we will give the notion of pre-RSPV which captures these construction details.)

Convention 1. When we work on multiple key pairs, we use K to denote $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ and use \tilde{K} to denote $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$. $([L] = \{1, \dots L\} \text{ and } [0, L] = \{0, 1 \dots L\}.)$

2.5 Standard Basis Test (StdBTest)

As said before, an intermediate target state of the protocol is of the form of (12). Expanding all of these states in the standard basis, each component in the expansion will have the form of key-vectors $x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$, for some $b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(L)}\in\{0,1\}^L$. (We omit the symbols that separate these keys; we never multiply keys in this work.) This inspires us to define a test that verifies the state is of the following form up to a server-side isometry:

Definition 2.1 (basis-honest form). Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$ where each $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_0^{(i)})$, define the basis-honest form to be the form of state (where we omit the concatenation notation for simplicity):

$$\sum_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}:\forall i\in[L], b^{(i)}\in\{0,1\}} \underbrace{|x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\text{some server side registers}} \underbrace{|\varphi_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}}\rangle}_{\text{other part}}$$
(21)

We call $|x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle |\varphi_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}}\rangle$ as the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch of this basis-honest state. It could be naturally generalized to the 2+L key pairs appeared in Toy Protocol 3.

Let's consider the tests on (19). The testing of basis-honest form can be achieved by the client simply asking the server to make a standard basis measurement to provide a key vector classically:

Toy Protocol 4 (Standard basis test (StdBTest)). 1. The client asks the server to provide a key vector in the form of $x_{b^{(helper)}}^{(helper)}x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$, $b^{(helper)} \in \{0,1\}, b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\}$ for all $i \in [0,L]$.

The honest server could pass the protocol by measuring (19) in the standard basis.

The description above is the 1st standard basis test shown in Toy Protocol 3; the 2nd standard basis test is similarly defined on the remaining keys and gadgets.

Now we continue to discuss the other tests that could possibly be applied on the state (20). Importantly, we need a way to test whether the phases are really introduced by the server.

2.6 Individual Phase Test (InPhTest)

Let's start with the single state case and see how we could design a protocol that verifies a single state. Suppose:

- The client holds key pair $K = (x_0, x_1)$ and phase pair $\Theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1)$. $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$.
- In the honest setting the server should hold the state

$$e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle. \tag{22}$$

The server wants to cheat. Let's first consider a restricted form of attack for simplicity of the introduction. Suppose the server's attack is just to add some different phases to the gadget. Instead of holding (22), it might hold

$$e^{f(\theta_0)i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{g(\theta_1)i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle \tag{23}$$

for some arbitrary functions f, g. We want to design a test that verifies (23) is isometric to (22) (under an isometry that does not depend on the phases). This means, we want to design a test such that the server could pass the test from (23) if and only if f, g have the form:

$$f(\theta_0) \approx \theta_0 + c_0, g(\theta_1) \approx \theta_1 + c_1; c_0, c_1 \text{ are constants.}$$
 (24)

Certainly (23) does not capture all the possible attacks that the adversary can make; but it captures a non-trivial class of attacks that will be helpful for illustrating our ideas.

Remark To make this type of simplification make sense, the helper gadget method plays an important role here. After the helper gadget is measured and destroyed, the adversary could not decrypt the phase table any more and it is not able to do any θ -related operation on state (23). Without the helper gadget method, the adversary can change the phases in (23) to $f'(\theta_0), g'(\theta_1)$ arbitrarily.

We first note that (without loss of generality) there is a simple way to verify the relation of the following two states, which correspond to the cases where the client side phase pair is $(\tilde{\theta}_0, \tilde{\theta}_1)$ and $(\tilde{\theta}_0, \tilde{\theta}_1 + 4)$:

$$e^{f(\tilde{\theta}_0)i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{g(\tilde{\theta}_1)i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle \quad e^{f(\tilde{\theta}_0)i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{g(\tilde{\theta}_1+4)i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle \tag{25}$$

for which the honest states are

$$e^{\tilde{\theta}_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\tilde{\theta}_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle; \quad e^{\tilde{\theta}_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle - e^{\tilde{\theta}_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle (= e^{\tilde{\theta}_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{(\tilde{\theta}_1 + 4)i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle) \tag{26}$$

Note that these two states in (26) are orthogonal.

Consider the following protocol, which aims at verifying the relation between states in (25):

Toy Protocol 5. Suppose the client holds phase pair $(\tilde{\theta}_0, \tilde{\theta}_1)$ or $(\tilde{\theta}_0, \tilde{\theta}_1 + 4)$ in its Θ register with equal probability. The honest server holds (26) while the malicious server holds (25).

1. The client could simply reveal $\tilde{\theta}_1 - \tilde{\theta}_0$ and the honest server could remove the phases from (26) and get $|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle$ or $|x_0\rangle - |x_1\rangle$ correspondingly;

2. Then both parties do a Hadamard test. Suppose the server's response is d, the client will calculate $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2$, whose result is deterministically 0 for $|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle$ and deterministically 1 for $|x_0\rangle - |x_1\rangle$. The client rejects if d = 0 or $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2$ does not have the correct value.

This test could be translated to a test on (23) by a change of variables: the client will randomly choose $\tilde{\theta}_1 = \theta_1$ or $\tilde{\theta}_1 = \theta_1 - 4$. For describing this test (and tests later) we introduce the notion of δ -bias Hadamard test as follows⁴:

Toy Protocol 6 (Hadamard test with extra bias). The Hadamard test with δ -extra-bias is defined as follows. Suppose the client holds key pair (x_0, x_1) and phase pair (θ_0, θ_1) . Honestly the server should hold $e^{\theta_0 i \pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i \pi/4} |x_1\rangle$. We call $\theta_1 - \theta_0$ the relative phase and δ the extra phase bias.

- 1. The client reveals $\theta_1 \theta_0 \delta$ to the server.
- 2. The honest server adds a phase of $e^{-(\theta_1-\theta_0-\delta)}$ controlled by subscripts of keys⁵ and prepares the following state up to a global phase:

$$|x_0\rangle + e^{\delta i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle \tag{27}$$

3. Then both parties run the normal Hadamard test: the server measures all the bits in Hadamard basis and sends out the outcome d; the client outputs fail if d = 0 and otherwise could calculate $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1)$ mod 2.

The client outputs the test results as follows:

- If $\delta = 0$ the client outputs pass to the flag register if $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2 = 0$ and fail otherwise.
- If $\delta = 4$ the client outputs pass to the flag register if $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2 = 1$ and fail otherwise.

The client's action for the other δ remains to be defined later.

For a malicious server to pass this δ -biased Hadamard test from (23), where $\delta \in \{0, 4\}$, there has to be, on average of $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2$,

$$f(\theta_0 + 4) \approx f(\theta_0) + 4, q(\theta_1 + 4) \approx q(\theta_1) + 4$$
 (28)

One important property of this test is that an honest server could pass deterministically, which implies, once the server fails in this test, the verifier will catch it cheating immediately.

But this does not simply work generally for verifying the relations between states on different values of $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \{0, \dots 7\}$. One obstacle is the Hadamard test does not give a deterministic answer (in the sense of $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2$) for a general state in the form of (27) (for general δ). Finding a test with one-sided error (which means the honest server could always pass) is also impossible since (22) for different θ_0, θ_1 are not orthogonal in general.

Here we generalize an idea from [33, 20]: we do not restrict ourselves on verification processes with one-sided error; instead we turn to use a game where the optimal winning strategy is allowed to lose with some probability. [33, 20] designed tests under this idea to verify single-qubit states; here we adapt their ideas to our setting and handle technical differences.

In more detail, besides the pass/fail flag, where a fail result directly catches the server cheating, the InPhTest will also (possibly) produce a win/lose score. Then if both parties repeat such a game for many times (a large constant is sufficient to verify it to constant error tolerance), the client can calculate the winning ratio statistically and see whether the server's winning ratio is close to optimal. The test is designed to have a self-testing property, which says, any strategy that has close-to-optimal winning probability should also be close to the optimal strategy up to an isometry.

Let's introduce the idea in more detail. To summarize, our individual phase test goes as follows:

⁴As before, the formal version of this test will also have a random oracle padding; here we omit this part.

⁵This is possible assuming there is some authentication information about the keys (for example, the Enc used in phase tables).

Toy Protocol 7. The setup is the same as Toy Protocol 6.

The client samples $\delta \leftarrow \{0,4,1\}$ and runs the protocol as given in Toy Protocol 6. The client's output for $\delta \in \{0,4\}$ is the same as Toy Protocol 6. For $\delta = 1$ case, the client outputs win to the score register if $d \cdot (x_0 + x_1) \mod 2 = 0$ and lose otherwise.

We could show the optimal winning probability (conditioned on a win/lose score is generated) is $\cos^2(\pi/8)$, achieved by the honest initial state and the honest behavior. What's more, in the malicious setting, as said before, this test has a self-testing property:

Claim 2.2. Starting from (23), suppose the server does not fail in the protocol.⁶ Then:

- The optimal winning probability conditioned on $\delta = 1$ is $\cos^2(\pi/8)$.
- If the adversary could win in the $\delta = 1$ case with probability $\approx \cos^2(\pi/8)$, then

either
$$f(\theta_0) \approx \theta_0 + c_0, g(\theta_1) \approx \theta_1 + c_1$$

or
$$f(\theta_0) \approx -\theta_0 + c_0, g(\theta_1) \approx -\theta_1 + c_1$$

Thus the test could only verify (28) up to a possible negation. This is as expected: as discussed in Section 2.1, no classical channel protocol could rule out the complex conjugate attack. This is where the negation comes from. (After the keys K are revealed, the complex-conjugate term is isometric to the honest output and the two terms could be merged together.)

Finally we note our protocol could not only handle the simplified attack (23) in the example above; it could also verify the initial state is close to a specific form in general. We give the following theorem which characterize the verifiability property of the InPhTest protocol:

Theorem 2.3 (Properties of InPhTest, informal). Suppose the client holds key pair $K^{(0)} = (x_0^{(0)}, x_1^{(0)})$, phase pair $\Theta^{(0)} = (\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)})$. Suppose the client and server's purified joint state has necessary security properties and has the following form (here we make the $\Theta^{(0)}$ register explicit and make the client-side key register implicit):

$$\sum_{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2} \underbrace{|\theta_0^{(0)}\rangle \, |\theta_1^{(0)}\rangle}_{\Theta^{(0)}} \otimes (\underbrace{|x_0^{(0)}\rangle}_{server-side\ register\ required\ in\ the\ basis-honest\ form} |\varphi_{0, \theta_0^{(0)}}\rangle + |x_1^{(0)}\rangle \, |\varphi_{1, \theta_1^{(0)}}\rangle)$$

Suppose InPhTest with this initial state against an efficient adversary could pass (the client outputs pass as flag) with probability close to 1 and win (the client outputs win as score) with probability close to $\cos^2(\pi/8)$ conditioned on a win/lose score is generated. Then there exist four states $|\varphi_{0,+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{0,-}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{1,+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{1,-}\rangle$ such that:

on average over
$$\theta_0^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\} : |\varphi_{0, \theta_0^{(0)}}\rangle \approx e^{\theta_0^{(0)} i\pi/4} |\varphi_{0,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_0^{(0)} i\pi/4} |\varphi_{0,-}\rangle$$
 (29)

on average over
$$\theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\} : |\varphi_{1,\theta_1^{(0)}}\rangle \approx e^{\theta_1^{(0)} i\pi/4} |\varphi_{1,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_1^{(0)} i\pi/4} |\varphi_{1,-}\rangle$$
 (30)

We will discuss its formalization in Section 2.8 and 2.9.

2.7 Collective Phase Test (CoPhTest)

So far, we are only focusing on the simplified setting where only one gadget is considered. However a large part of the difficulties of this problem is to create a large number of such states verifiably, and guarantee the total complexity is still linear in the output number.

We highlight two limitations of existing works that focus on the verifiability of individual gadgets [33, 20]:

⁶This condition is mainly on the $\delta \in \{0,4\}$ case; and for $\delta = 1$ case it is required that $d \neq 0$.

- One frequently used technique for this and similar problems is the cut-and-choose technique, which is also the technique used in [33, 20]. In this technique, the tests are all locally applied on single gadgets, and both parties repeat the single-gadget protocol for many rounds and choose a random subset from all the output gadgets. However, as far as we know, there seems to be an obstacle to make such type of protocols linear-time. The reason is, under this technique, to control the total error of L gadgets down to a constant, the error tolerance of each gadget on average is no more than O(1/L). This implies at least $O(L^2)$ repetitions are needed for a single gadget since the probability of detecting an O(1/L) error from a single state scales with the square of the error norm.
- The performance becomes worse if we take the two-sided error issue appeared in Section 2.6. The InPhTest needs to be applied for many rounds to estimate the winning probability. For constant error tolerance this blowup is constant, but for O(1/L) error tolerance this leads to further complexity blowup in the high-level protocol.

Here we develop a central sub-protocol for resolving these problems, which is called the collective phase test (CoPhTest). The structure of this protocol is called combine-and-test. With this test, we get rid of the obstacles in the following way:

- Before this test O(|C|) number of gadgets are prepared in parallel. Then both parties combine these gadgets into a single big gadget, and test the combined gadget. Thus this test is not local on each individual gadget and not suffered from the first obstacle.
- CoPhTest has only one-sided error, which means, once the client sees a wrong answer, it knows the server is cheating right away.

Although CoPhTest does not help us fully verify the phases, we will see it together with the InPhTest achieves full verification on the phases of all the L gadgets. In this overall phase testing protocol, with the help of the CoPhTest, the InPhTest only needs to be applied on a single gadget to a constant error tolerance.

As an example of the combine-and-test technique, let's start from 2 gadgets. Consider the initial state which honestly should be in the state

$$\left(e^{\mathrm{i}\theta_0\pi/4}\left|x_0\right\rangle + e^{\mathrm{i}\theta_1\pi/4}\left|x_1\right\rangle\right) \otimes \left(e^{\mathrm{i}\theta_0'\pi/4}\left|x_0'\right\rangle + e^{\mathrm{i}\theta_1'\pi/4}\left|x_1'\right\rangle\right)\right) \tag{31}$$

while a malicious server might deviate and prepare some other states. As what we did in the last section, for explaining the intuition, we will consider a specific attack where the server only tries to add different phases. That means, the state might be⁷

$$e^{if_{00}(\theta_{0},\theta'_{0})\pi/4} |x_{0}\rangle |x'_{0}\rangle + e^{if_{01}(\theta_{0},\theta'_{1})\pi/4} |x_{0}\rangle |x'_{1}\rangle + e^{if_{10}(\theta_{1},\theta'_{0})\pi/4} |x_{1}\rangle |x'_{0}\rangle + e^{if_{11}(\theta_{1},\theta'_{1})\pi/4} |x_{1}\rangle |x'_{1}\rangle$$
(32)

Instead of testing these two gadgets independently, the client will first combine these two gadgets into a single big gadget. This is achieved by sending a lookup table to instruct the server to decrypt and measure. Then both parties run Hadamard test on the combined gadget. In more detail:

Toy Protocol 8. 1. The client samples $r_0, r_1 \leftarrow \{0,1\}^{\kappa}$ and prepares the table

$$|x_0||x_0' \to r_0, x_1||x_1' \to r_0|$$

$$|x_0||x_1' \to r_1, x_1||x_0' \to r_1$$

The server decrypts the table with (31) measures the r register and collapses the state into a superposition of two combined keys. Note the phases are also combined. This means in the honest setting the post-measurement states are:

$$output \ r_0: e^{\mathrm{i}(\theta_0+\theta_0')\pi/4} \left|x_0\right| \left|x_0'\right\rangle + e^{\mathrm{i}(\theta_1+\theta_1')\pi/4} \left|x_1\right| \left|x_1'\right\rangle$$

output
$$r_1 : e^{i(\theta_0 + \theta_1')\pi/4} |x_0||x_1'\rangle + e^{i(\theta_1 + \theta_0')\pi/4} |x_1||x_0'\rangle$$

⁷From now on we interchangeably make the concatenation notation either explicit or implicit.

Then the server will send back the measurement result r to the client, and the client will check the validity of server's response (check it's in $\{r_0, r_1\}$) and calculate the keys and phases:

$$r = r_0 : K^{(combined)} = (x_0 || x_0', x_1 || x_1'); \quad r = r_1 : K^{(combined)} = (x_0 || x_1', x_1 || x_0')$$
$$r = r_0 : \Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0 + \theta_0', \theta_1 + \theta_1'); \quad r = r_1 : \Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0 + \theta_1', \theta_1 + \theta_0')$$

Then the client can use a Hadamard test to test the combined gadget in the next step:

2. The client will reveal the relative phase of $\Theta^{(combined)}$ and the server could remove the joint phase of the combined gadget. Then the Hadamard test could be applied on the combined gadget.

Let's consider a malicious server. Starting from (32), the malicious server will end up in states:

output
$$r_0: e^{if_{00}(\theta_0, \theta'_0)\pi/4} |x_0||x'_0\rangle + e^{if_{11}(\theta_1, \theta'_1)\pi/4} |x_1||x'_1\rangle$$
 (33)

output
$$r_1 : e^{if_{01}(\theta_0, \theta_1')\pi/4} |x_0||x_1'\rangle + e^{if_{10}(\theta_1, \theta_0')\pi/4} |x_1||x_0'\rangle$$
 (34)

Without loss of generality let's assume the output is r_0 and the state is collapsed to (33). The observation is, to pass the collective phase test from (33), by the property of Hadamard test, there has to be

$$f_{11}(\theta_1, \theta_1') - f_{00}(\theta_0, \theta_0') \approx \text{the relative phase in the honest setting}$$
 (35)

Recall the relative phase in the honest setting when $r = r_0$ is $(\theta_1 + \theta'_1) - (\theta_0 + \theta'_0)$. This together with (35) implies⁸

$$\forall \Delta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, f_{00}(\theta_0, \theta_0') \approx f_{00}(\theta_0 - \Delta, \theta_0' + \Delta) \tag{36}$$

A similar statement holds for all these four terms of (32). This could be understood as follows: for each branch (term) in (32), the form of this branch is only a function of the honest joint phase (where the honest joint phase for branch $x_b x'_{b'}$ is $\theta_b + \theta'_{b'}$).

More generally, we will see, when we consider the attack that does not follow the restricted form (32), CoPhTest could still guarantee this property. Generalizing it to a combine-and-test process on all the 1 + L gadgets in (20) leads to a linear time phase sub-test, which is the CoPhTest:

Toy Protocol 9. 1. Both parties combine all the gadgets (with index from 0 to L) to a single gadget;

2. The client computes the honest joint phase pair of the combined gadget. The client reveals the relative phase of the combined phase pair and both parties run the Hadamard test.

Informally, CoPhTest has the following properties, which could be seen as a generalization of (36).

Theorem 2.4 (Properties of CoPhTest, informal). Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$ and holds a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $\Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)})$. Suppose the client and server's purified joint state has necessary security properties and has the following form:

$$\sum_{All \ valid \ values \ of \ \Theta} \underbrace{|\Theta\rangle}_{client-side} \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \underbrace{|x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle}_{server-side \ register \ required \ in \ the \ basis-honest \ form} \otimes |\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}}\rangle$$

$$(37)$$

where $b^{(0)}b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(L)}$ is the coordinate expansion of \vec{b} . Suppose in InPhTest an efficient adversary could pass (make the client outputs pass as flag) with probability close to 1. Then on average over all the possible \vec{b} in (37), consider the branch

$$\sum_{\textit{All valid values of }\Theta} \underbrace{|\Theta\rangle}_{\textit{client-side}} \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}} \rangle$$

there is, informally, the $|\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\dots\theta_{b}^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle$ part is close to a state that only depends on the honest joint phase (instead of depending on all the phases here). Here the honest joint phase is $\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} + \theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} + \dots + \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$, the phase information for this branch in the honest setting when the client-side phase tuple is Θ .

We will discuss its formalization in Section 2.8 and 2.9.

⁸The detail is as follows. Fixing $\theta_0 + \theta'_0$, the right hand side of (35) is fixed which implies the left hand side of (35) is also fixed.

2.8 State Forms, and the Overall Implication of CoPhTest and InPhTest Applied on Multiple Gadgets

To analyze the protocol formally, we define a series of *state forms*, which are classes of states that satisfy some specific structures. We have already seen the *basis-honest form* in Section 2.5; below we will further define the *basis-phase correspondence form*, *pre-phase-honest form* and the *phase-honest form*.

2.8.1 Basis-phase correspondence form

Recall by the end of AddPhaseWithHelper in Toy Protocol 3 the client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$ and holds a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $\Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)})$. Honestly the server is instructed to hold the state (20), while maliciously we assume the attacker's state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in the basis-honest form (verified by the standard basis test). Expanding the state we can write

$$\sum_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}:\forall i\in[0,L],b^{(i)}\in\{0,1\}} \underbrace{|x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\text{some server side registers}} \underbrace{|\varphi_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}}\rangle}_{\text{other part}}$$
(38)

For simplicity we make the client side register K implicit.

We define the *basis-phase correspondence form* as follows, which characterize an intuitively property of output states of AddPhaseWithHelper. We assume the state in (38) corresponding to branch

$$\vec{x}_{\vec{h}} := x_{h(0)}^{(0)} x_{h(1)}^{(1)} x_{h(2)}^{(2)} \cdots x_{h(L)}^{(L)}$$

could depend on the values of

$$\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}} := \theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} \theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \theta_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$$

but independent of the values of $\theta_{1-b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{1-b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\theta_{1-b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots\theta_{1-b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$. Recall that in AddPhaseWithHelper the client sends many look-up tables and the server could decrypt some rows of them with the keys it holds, and this property intuitively says the adversary could not decrypt the rows where it does not has the corresponding keys. Thus we can express (38) as

$$(38) = \sum_{\Theta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{2(1+L)} \text{ client-side register that stores } \Theta} |\Theta\rangle , \qquad |\varphi_{\Theta}\rangle = \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0, 1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\varphi_{\vec{b}, \vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}}}\rangle , \qquad (39)$$

Note that in Theorem 2.3, 2.4 we have already implicitly assume it.

2.8.2 Pre-phase-honest form and phase-honest form

We have designed tests that aim at allowing the client to verify (39) actually has the form of (20) (if we only consider the phases); but there is quite a big gap between them. To understand how our tests bridge the gap between (20) and (39), we define the following two forms of states.

The first is the *pre-phase-honest form*, which is a basis-honest form, and additionally, for each branch indexed by \vec{b} in (39), the state should be determined only by the honest joint phase. As before we assume the client holds a tuple of key pairs K and a tuple of phase pairs Θ .

Definition 2.2 (Pre-Phase-honest form). We say a state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in the pre-phase-honest form if there exists a class of states $|\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta}\rangle$ for each $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}, \theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}$ such that in (39),

$$|\varphi_{\Theta}\rangle = \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\vec{b},\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle, \text{ where SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}}) = \theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} + \theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} + \theta_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} + \dots + \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$$
(40)

Then we define the phase-honest form, which is a pre-phase-honest form, and for each branch, the phases on the server-side state is determined by the client-side phase information in a way similar to (20):

Definition 2.3 (Phase-honest form). We say a state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in the phase-honest form if there exists a class of states $|\varphi_{\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{\vec{b},1}\rangle$ for each $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$ such that

$$|\varphi_{\Theta}\rangle = \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes (e^{\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})i\pi/4} |\varphi_{\vec{b},+}\rangle + e^{-\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})i\pi/4} |\varphi_{\vec{b},-}\rangle)$$
(41)

The second term comes from the fact that we could not rule out the complex-conjugate attack.

2.8.3 A summary

The relation of these forms of states are

arbitrary states \supseteq basis-honest form (21) \supseteq basis-phase correspondence form (39) \supseteq pre-phase-honest form (40) \supseteq phase-honest-form (41) \supseteq (20)

For the two state forms described in Section 2.8.2, intuitively, the CoPhTest aims at testing a basis-phase correspondence form is a pre-phase honest form, and InPhTest aims at testing a pre-phase-honest form is a phase-honest form. Once the overall state is known to be in the form of (41), the verification of phase information of the server-side states has been completed up to a complex-conjugate ambiguity.

In the next section we discuss how we formally analyze our protocols to bridge these gap step-by-step.

2.9 Security Proofs Structure

The security proofs go as follows at a high level. Below $|\varphi\rangle$ stands for the output state of AddPhaseWithHelper. The goal is roughly to show this state, after the client reveals the key K, is approximately isometric to the honest state (2).

An unverified state
$$|\varphi\rangle$$
 (42)

$$(StdBTest) \Rightarrow Basis-honest form$$
 (43)

$$(CoPhTest) \Rightarrow Pre-phase-honest form$$
 (45)

$$(InPhTest) \Rightarrow Phase-honest form$$
 (46)

$$(BNTest) \Rightarrow Form (20)$$
 up to a complex-conjugate ambiguity (47)

(Client reveals
$$K$$
) \Rightarrow Form (2) (48)

where each arrow in (43)(45)(46)(47) means we make use of the fact that the adversary could pass these tests with high probability to derive that the initial state has a specific form, and each arrow in (44)(48) means the design of the protocol implies the initial state $|\varphi\rangle$ has the corresponding forms regardless of the adversary's passing probability.

However, there is a tricky problem during the proof of the arrows of (44)(45)(46). In these arrows we implicitly assume the previous steps perfectly verifies the forms of states; but this is not the case, all the steps in (44)(45)(46) are approximate, which leads to a composability issue between the analysis of each subprotocol. In more detail, for example, (46) says "if the initial state is in a pre-phase-honest form, and it could pass the InPhTest with high probability, then it's close to a phase honest form"; but it is not necessarily the case that if the initial state is only approximately in a pre-phase-honest form, the same statement still works! We further note that for each arrow in (44)(45)(46), the condition before the arrow are typically not the only conditions that we need when we want to formally prove the result after the arrow; many properties are needed, for example, efficiently preparable property or security of keys. These properties are typically not preserved by a general approximation on the state.

To address this problem, the first step is to work on the *purified joint state* of both the client and the server. In the real execution the client is classical while the server holds quantum states; in the security analysis the purified joint state is defined to be the state where all the classical randomness are replaced by

quantum superpositions (on which a collapsing measurement gives the same classical randomness; note that for this purification we do not introduce environment or reference system). ⁹

Then the observation is as follows. The purified joint state contains a large entanglement between the client and the server. Then a duality between the client-side and the server-side emerges:

Server-side state approximately has a form

⇒ Joint state is approximately invariant under an operation that revises the client-side registers

In more detail, in our security proofs, we will design a series of randomization operators. Corresponding to (44)(45)(46), these operators are denoted as \mathcal{R}_1 , \mathcal{R}_2 , \mathcal{P} . These operators are defined on the joint state of the client and the server, and revise the client-side registers (possibly controlled by registers in other parties). These operators have the following properties:

- The honest state is invariant under these operators;
- The execution of the protocol or the ability to pass a test in each of (44)(45)(46) implies approximate invariance of the purified joint state under the corresponding operator; ¹⁰
- The output of a randomization perfectly has form that we aim at in each of (44)(45)(46).

With these tool, when we analyze our subprotocols, the theorem statement will be "if this test could be passed with high probability, the state will be approximately invariant under the corresponding randomization operator". Approximate invariance under randomization operators turns out to have much nicer properties than simply saying the server's state is close to a state that has a specific property: for example, randomization operators are efficient operators that operate on some specific registers, which allow us to prove some security properties that we need on the state are preserved.

To give the reader a feeling of our technique, we give a minimum example, which only contains one gadget, that illustrates the first property (the honest state is invariant) of \mathcal{R}_1 :

Example 2.1. Expanding the honest state by writing down all the possible client side phases:

$$\sum_{\theta_0,\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^2} \frac{1}{8} \underbrace{|\theta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |x_0\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle)}_{\text{server}}$$

This is the purified joint state of the client and the server since the client-side phase registers are explicit and entangled with the server-side system. (Note that, the purified joint states have actually already been used in the previous subsections of this technical overview.) We make the client-side phase registers explicit since we will need to work on them, and omit the client-side key registers.

Introduce randomness $\Delta_0, \Delta_1 \in_r \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2$, and write out their registers explicitly (after purification):

$$\sum_{\Delta_{0},\Delta_{1}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}} \frac{1}{8} |\Delta_{0}\rangle |\Delta_{1}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\theta_{0},\theta_{1}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}} \frac{1}{8} \underbrace{|\theta_{0}\rangle |\theta_{1}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e^{\theta_{0} i\pi/4} |x_{0}\rangle + e^{\theta_{1} i\pi/4} |x_{1}\rangle)}_{\text{server}}$$
(49)

Then (49) is invariant under the following controlled-swap operations controlled by the server-side branch subscripts:

$$x_0$$
-branch: $|\Delta_0\rangle |\Delta_1\rangle |\theta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |x_0\rangle \rightarrow |\Delta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |\theta_0\rangle |\Delta_1\rangle |x_0\rangle$ (50)

$$x_1$$
-branch: $|\Delta_0\rangle |\Delta_1\rangle |\theta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |x_1\rangle \rightarrow |\theta_0\rangle |\Delta_1\rangle |\Delta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |x_1\rangle$ (51)

which means in (50) the client-side value of θ_1 is randomized by Δ_1 and in (51) the client-side value of θ_0 is randomied by Δ_0 .

What's more, we can also show this randomization operations takes an arbitrary basis-honest form to a basis-phase correspondence form.

⁹This treatment is slightly different from the usual notion of purification, where a classical register is purified by entangling it with the environment; here classical registers are replaced by quantum superpositions directly. However, we will see, the registers that hold these classical randomness, once initialized, will not be revised by any operation during the protocol including the final distinguisher; these registers are *read-only* once initialized. In this setting two purifications look completely the same.

 $^{^{10}}$ The formal theorems corresponding to Theorem 2.3 and Theorem 2.4 will also be described in this way.

2.10 Basis Norm Test (BNTest)

We have developed a set of tools for verifying the phases, which could verify the client and server's joint state is approximately in the form of a phase-honest state. Compare to the target state (12), what remains to be verified is the norm of each branch is close to each other.

Let's again start with the simple single-gadget case to explain the initial intuition. Suppose the client holds keys $K = (x_0, x_1)$ and the server-side state is in the form of

$$\alpha_0 |x_0\rangle + \alpha_1 |x_1\rangle \tag{52}$$

If the client wants to verify $\alpha_0 \approx \alpha_1$, the protocol used here is still the (RO-padded) Hadamard test:

Claim 2.5 (Informal). If the server could pass the Hadamard test with initial state in the form of (52), there has to be $\alpha_0 \approx \alpha_1$.

The difficulty is still in the multi-gadget case. Suppose the client holds L pairs of keys $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)}), i \in [L]$ and the server-side state is already verified to have the form:

$$\sum_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}\in\{0,1\}^L} \alpha_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}} \left| x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \right\rangle \tag{53}$$

where the coefficients are non-negative real numbers. The client wants to verify the state is close to

$$\sum_{b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\dots b^{(L)} \in \{0,1\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}} |x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \rangle \tag{54}$$

in linear time.

Note that here we assume the honest state is (54), while in Toy Protocol 3 the phases have already been added when BNTest is executed, which seem incompatible; in real protocol in the BNTest the client will first simply reveal all the phase information on these gadgets to allow the honest server to remove the phases.

Again, we will use the global combine-and-test method to achieve this goal. Informally, the *basis norm* test (BNTest) is as follows:

Toy Protocol 10. 1. The client chooses a random subset of index $I \subseteq [L]$;

- 2. The client instructs the server to combine the gadgets with index in I into a single gadget (using the lookup tables discussed in CoPhTest); for the gadgets with index outside I, the client instructs the server to make a standard basis measurement and check the results.
- 3. Both parties execute a Hadamard test on the combined gadget.

Informally we have the following claim that captures the power of basis norm test.

Claim 2.6. If a protocol of form (53) could pass the basis norm test with high probability, the state is close to (54).

Let's first compare the basis norm test with the collective phase test, and discuss its intuitions.

Comparison to the Collective Phase Test We note that there is an important difference of this test and the collective phase test constructed previously, even if both tests have the combine-and-test structure. In the collective phase test all the gadgets are combined together; while in the basis norm test the client samples a random subset of gadgets. The importance of this difference is illustrated by the following example, in which the combine-all test could not detect the deviation, while the combine-a-subset could detect.

Example 2.2. Consider the state

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0^{(1)}x_0^{(2)}\cdots x_0^{(L)}\rangle + |x_1^{(1)}x_1^{(2)}\cdots x_1^{(L)}\rangle)$$
(55)

We can see the state (55) is far from the target state (54). And we have:

- It passes the combine-all protocol (that is, choose I = [L] in Toy Protocol 10).
- It could not pass the test in Toy Protocol 10: intuitively, if the client chooses some subset *I* of all the indices, and instructs the server to make a standard basis measurement on the remaining registers, the state in registers with indices in *I* will also collapse and the server will not be able to pass the Hadamard test using the remaining state.

Thus we can see the random selection of I is necessary for the basis norm test. An intuition for the basis norm test is as follows. We note that, just before the Hadamard test step, the server-side state is expected to be in the form of

$$\alpha_{\vec{b}_0} | \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0} \rangle + \alpha_{\vec{b}_1} | \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1} \rangle, \quad \vec{b}_0, \vec{b}_1 \in \{0, 1\}^L$$
 (56)

where $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}$, $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}$ represent two branches of (53), and the randomness of \vec{b}_0 , \vec{b}_1 come from the random choice of I and the random collapsing in step 2 of Toy Protocol 10.

By Claim 2.5 intuitively we know

$$\alpha_{\vec{b}_0} \approx \alpha_{\vec{b}_0} \tag{57}$$

However we note (57) only holds on average. We further note the probability that \vec{b}_0, \vec{b}_1 appear are in turn determined by the values of $\alpha_{\vec{b}_0}$, $\alpha_{\vec{b}_1}$ themselves. What's more, each of these probabilities is only exponentially small, which leads to additional obstacles in the security proof. (A re-normalized state of an exponentially-small state does not necessarily follow the formal version of Claim 2.5 since the state might not even be efficiently-preparable.) Thus we need a careful analysis of the protocol that addresses these problems. Finally we could prove, the high passing probability of the BNTest implies:

$$\frac{1}{2^L} \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L, \vec{b}_1 \in \{0,1\}^L} |\alpha_{\vec{b}_0} - \alpha_{\vec{b}_1}|^2 \le O(1), \tag{58}$$

which could be understood as a suitable average version of (57). Then by linear algebra (58) implies

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in I0.11L} |\alpha_{\vec{b}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}}|^2 \le O(1)$$

which completes the proof.

2.11 Amplification to RSPV

We do not construct RSPV protocol directly; instead, we define an intermediate notion called *pre-RSPV*. We will use the techniques described so far to design a pre-RSPV protocol, and then use a repetition-based amplification procedure to get an RSPV protocol.

In more detail, our techniques so far have the following limitations, which do not fit into the RSPV notion, but are allowed in the pre-RSPV notion:

- As said in Section 2.6, the honest server does not necessarily win the test; what our protocol can verify is, if the server passes and wins with close-to-optimal probability, the output state should have the verifiability property we want.
- The protocol construction framework in Section 2.4 does not necessarily generate an output state; it only generates output state in the last case of Toy Protocol 3.

We formalize the notion of pre-RSPV in Section 4.5. Informally:

- In pre-RSPV in the beginning of the protocol the client will randomly choose a round type in {test, quiz, comp}.
- In the end of the protocol the client will output a $flag \in \{pass, fail\}$ and a $score \in \{win, lose, \bot\}$.

In all round types, a flag will be generated. The honest server will not lead to a fail flag (except with negligible probability). Thus if the client outputs fail as the flag, it directly shows the server is cheating. In quiz round, the client will possibly write win or lose as the score. (In the other round types the score is \(\pext{by default.}\)) The honest server should win with probability OPT conditioned on a win/lose score is generated.

In comp round, the client will get output keys and the server will get output states.

Then the amplification of pre-RSPV to RSPV is achieved in Section 13.1. This is achieved in the following way:

- 1. Run many rounds of pre-RSPV and the client calculates the total score (the number of win). The client outputs fail if any pre-RSPV subprotocol returns fail or the total score is significantly smaller than the expected value of honest behavior.
- 2. The client chooses a random round and if it's a comp round, use the output keys and output state of this round as the output keys and output state of the RSPV protocol. If it's not a comp round, go back to step 1.

3 Preliminaries

3.1 Basic Notations and Facts

We refer to [44] for basics of quantum computation. Here we clarify some notations that will be used in our works.

3.1.1 Quantum gates

We choose the elementary gate set to be {X, Y, Z, H, P, T, CNOT, Toffoli} (which is a typical choice). 11

3.1.2 Basic notations

Notation 3.1. We use [N] to denote set $\{1, 2 \cdots N\}$. Use [0, N] to denote set $\{0, 1 \cdots N\}$. When an algorithm iterates through all the elements in these sets it iterates from the smaller to the bigger.

Notation 3.2. A normalized vector is defined to be a vector with norm 1; a sub-normalized vector is defined to be a vector with norm ≤ 1 . A sub-normalized probability distribution is defined to be a non-negative real vector whose sum of coordinates is ≤ 1 .

Notation 3.3. We use bold font like K, Θ to denote registers. And we use normal font like K, Θ to denote values of the corresponding registers. For a register R, we use Domain(R) to denote the set of its valid values.

When we write equations on registers, for example, S = x, there are two possible meanings: (1) the subspace where the values of S is equal to the values of S, or (2) a statement which says the state that we are studying falls completely in the space where the values of S is equal to the values of S. The choice of meanings is determined by the context.

Notation 3.4. We use $SUM(\vec{e})$ to denote the sum of all the terms of \vec{e} . Note that in this work this notation is only applied on phase information and the addition is in \mathbb{Z}_8 .

Notation 3.5. We use Π to denote projections. We use the superscript to denote the registers that the projection applied on and the subscript to denote the space that it projects on. For example, $\Pi_0^{\mathbf{S}}$ projects onto the space that the register \mathbf{S} is in value 0.

We use \mathbb{I} to denote the identity. Thus $(\mathbb{I} - \Pi)$ is the complementary projection of Π .

 $^{^{11}\}mathrm{To}$ avoid ambiguity we note $\mathsf{P} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \\ & \mathbf{i} \end{bmatrix}.$

Notation 3.6. We use $|\cdot|$ to denote the norm of a state, length of a string, size of a set, and the number of random oracle queries of an operator (in the quantum random oracle model).

Notation 3.7. Use Π_E to denote the projection onto some space E. We call $|\Pi_E|\varphi\rangle|^2$ the probability that event E happens when the state of the system is described by $|\varphi\rangle$, or simply the probability that E happens. Note that we only require $|\varphi\rangle$ to be sub-normalized to make this notion well-defined.

Notation 3.8. Suppose A, B are two quantum operations. We use AB or $A \circ B$ to denote the composition (matrix multiplication when they are represented as matrices) of these two operators. (We make \circ explicit or implicit interchangeably.)

The fonts used in this paper for describing operations could be normal (like A, B, U), sans-serif (like H, X, or Prtl, Adv) or calligraphic (like \mathcal{P}). Typically sans-serif fonts are used for elementary gates and protocol execution steps, calligraphic fonts are used for abstract operations, and normal fonts are mainly used as intermediate symbols, but we do not put strict rule for their usage.

Notation 3.9. In cryptographic protocols there is often a parameter κ called security parameter. Then we say an operator parameterized by κ (denoted by $(O_{\kappa})_{\kappa \in \mathbb{N}}$, or O if we make the security parameter implicit), is efficient if there exists a polynomial time Turing machine that takes 1^{κ} as input and outputs the description of O_{κ} .

A state family $(|\varphi_{\kappa}\rangle)_{\kappa\in\mathbb{N}}$ is efficiently-preparable if there exists a efficient family of polynomial time operators (which could include projections) $(O_{\kappa})_{\kappa\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that $|\varphi_{\kappa}\rangle = O_{\kappa}|0\rangle$. Similarly in later proofs we make the security parameter implicit.

Negligible function $\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$ means a function that decreases to 0 faster than any polynomial when $\kappa \to +\infty$.

Notation 3.10. As seen in the introduction, in this work we need to work on many key pairs and phase pairs; we use superscript with parentheses to index them: for example, $K^{(1)}$, $K^{(2)}$, etc. Other types of information like the time step counter could also appear in the superscript position, but they do not have parentheses.

Notation 3.11. We use \in_r or \leftarrow_r to mean an element is randomly sampled from a domain.

3.1.3 Indistinguishability notations

The following indistinguishability notations are used in our work.

Notation 3.12. We write $|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} |\phi\rangle$ if $||\varphi\rangle - |\phi\rangle| \leq \epsilon$.

Note the \approx_{ϵ} notation could also be used for two real numbers.

Notation 3.13. Let \mathcal{F} be a set of operators. We write $|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon}^{ind:\mathcal{F}} |\phi\rangle$ if for any $\mathsf{Adv} \in \mathcal{F}$ that outputs a bit in a fixed register (denoted by S), there is

$$|\Pi_0^S \mathsf{Adv} | \varphi \rangle| \approx_{\epsilon} |\Pi_0^S \mathsf{Adv} | \phi \rangle|$$

Notation 3.14. The states and operators below are implicitly parameterized by the security parameter κ . We write $|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon}^{ind} |\phi\rangle$ if $|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon}^{ind:\mathcal{F}} |\phi\rangle$ where \mathcal{F} contains all the efficient operations on some registers (the choices of registers should be from the context).

3.1.4 Approximate invariance

Definition 3.1. If $O|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} |\varphi\rangle$, we say $|\varphi\rangle$ is ϵ -invariant under O.

3.1.5 CQ-states and purified joint states

In this work since the client and the random oracle are classical and the server is quantum, the overall states of all the parties are generally described by CQ-states. However, CQ-states could be unnatural to work on; for security proofs in this work, we will mainly work on their purifications. In more detail, we introduce the following (which is similar to [55]).

Notation 3.15. Consider a cq-state where the set of possible values for the classical part is \mathcal{C} , the classical register, denoted by C, is in value $c \in \mathcal{C}$ with probability p_c , and the quantum part is in state $|\varphi_c\rangle$ correspondingly. Then the overall cq-state is denoted as

$$\sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} p_c \left| c \right\rangle \left\langle c \right| \otimes \left| \varphi_c \right\rangle$$

Generally the corresponding purified state is defined to be

$$\sum_{c} \sqrt{p_c} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{C} \otimes |\varphi_c\rangle \underbrace{\otimes |c\rangle}_{\text{environment}}$$
(59)

In this work we consider its purified state to be

$$\sum_{c} \sqrt{p_c} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{C} \otimes |\varphi_c\rangle \tag{60}$$

In general these two purifications are not equivalent; but we could see they are equivalent under a specific class of operators:

Definition 3.2 (Read-only). We say an operator O operates on a register C in a read-only way if the elementary gates in O that are applied on C are solely CNOT and Toffoli, and C is only used as the control wire.

Fact 1. Define \mathcal{F} as the set of operators that operate on \mathbf{C} in a read-only way. Then (59) $\approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}}$ (60).

We also have the following fact.

Fact 2. Define \mathcal{F} as the set of operators that operate on \mathbf{C} in a read-only way. Then for any set of real values $(\alpha_c)_{c \in \mathcal{C}}$, $\sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{\mathbf{C}} \otimes |\varphi_c\rangle \approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{\mathbf{C}} \otimes e^{\alpha_c \mathrm{i}\pi} |\varphi_c\rangle$.

We introduce the following notion for simplicity of later discussions.

Notation 3.16. In the setting of Notation 3.15, for state (60), we call $\sqrt{p_c} |c\rangle \otimes |\varphi_c\rangle$ the component of $|\varphi\rangle$ when the register C is in value c.

Then we give the notion of a state does not depend on (or is independent to) the value of some registers, as follows.

Notation 3.17. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ does not depend on the value of register C if it can be written as

$$|\varphi\rangle = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{C} \otimes |\psi\rangle$$

3.1.6 Basic facts from linear algebra

The following facts from linear algebra will be used in the later proofs. These facts will be proved in Appendix A.

Fact 3. If $||\varphi\rangle|^2 + ||\phi\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{2}$, and $1 - \epsilon \le ||\varphi\rangle| + |\phi\rangle| \le 1$, then

$$|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} |\phi\rangle$$

The following two lemmas come from linear algebra and will be used in Section 11.

Fact 4. Suppose \vec{c} , \vec{d} are two vectors of non-negative real numbers of the same dimensions. Suppose there exists a vector $\vec{c'}$ such that each coordinate of it is no bigger than the corresponding coordinate of \vec{c} , and $\vec{c'} \approx_{\epsilon_1} \vec{d}$; and there exists a vector $\vec{d'}$ such that each coordinate of it is no bigger than the corresponding coordinate of \vec{d} , and $\vec{d'} \approx_{\epsilon_2} \vec{c}$. Then there is $\vec{c} \approx \sqrt{\epsilon_1^2 + \epsilon_2^2} \vec{d}$

Fact 5. If non-negative real numbers $(c_d)_{d \in D}$ (where D is the set of valid values of d) satisfy

$$\sum_{d \in D} |c_d|^2 \le 1$$

$$\frac{1}{|D|} \sum_{d_1 \in D} \sum_{d_2 \in D} |c_{d_1} - c_{d_2}|^2 \approx_{\epsilon} 0$$

where |D| is the size of set D. Then

$$\sum_{d \in D} |c_d - \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|}} c|^2 \approx_{\min\{4c, 4\epsilon/c + \frac{2}{D}\}} 0, \text{where } c := \sqrt{\sum_{d \in D} |c_d|^2}$$

The following lemma roughly says the normalization of the output of an efficiently preparable operator is also efficiently preparable. This lemma will be used in Section 13.

Fact 6. (The states and operators in this fact are implicitly parameterized by κ .) Suppose an efficient quantum operation O satisfies

$$O\left|0\right\rangle = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \left|c\right\rangle \otimes \left|\varphi_c\right\rangle$$

where C is a fixed set. Define $p_c = ||\varphi_c\rangle|^2$. Then for any $c \in C$, there exists an efficient quantum operation $\mathsf{Sim}^{O,c}$, a state $|aux\rangle$ such that

$$\sqrt{p_c} \mathrm{Sim}^{O,c} \ket{0} pprox_{\mathrm{negl}(\kappa)} \ket{\varphi_c} \otimes \ket{aux}$$

3.1.7 Basic facts from probability theory

Lemma 3.1 (Chernoff's bounds for streaming samples). Consider a stream of samples $(s_i)_{i \in [N]}$ that are sampled sequentially. Each s_i is sampled from $\{0,1\}$, and the probability of getting 1 when the previous samples are $s_{< i} = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_{i-1}$ is $p_{i,s_{< i}}$. Suppose there exists a constant p < 1 such that for each $i \in [N]$, each possible history of samples $s_{< i}$, there is $p_{i,s_{< i}} \leq p$. Then

$$\Pr[|\{i: s_i = 1\}| \ge (1+\delta)pN] \le e^{-\delta^2 N/4}$$

Corollary 3.2 (Chernoff's bounds for streaming samples, with noise). Similarly consider a stream of samples $(s_i)_{i \in [N]}$ and define $p_{i,s_{< i}}$ similarly. Suppose there exists a constant p < 1 such that for each $i \in [N]$, there exists a set of possible sample histories S_i , and:

- The total probability that the sample sequences in S_i appear is $\leq \epsilon$;
- For each sample history $s_{< i} \notin S_i$, there is $p_{i,s_{< i}} \leq p$.

Then

$$\Pr[|\{i: s_i = 1\}| \ge (1+\delta)pN] \le e^{-\delta^2 N/4} + N\epsilon$$

3.2 Noisy Trapdoor Claw-free Functions

We need to use the noisy trapdoor claw-free functions raised in [12]. Note that we do not need the adaptive hardcore-bit property. Let's review the definition of NTCF below.¹²

Definition 3.3 (NTCF). We define trapdoor claw-free function family NTCF with post-quantum security as follows. It is parameterized by security parameter κ and is defined to be a class of polynomial time algorithms as below. NTCF.KeyGen is a sampling algorithm. NTCF.Dec, NTCF.CHK are deterministic algorithms. NTCF.Eval is allowed to be a sampling algorithm. poly is a polynomial that determines the the range size.

$$\mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{KeyGen}(1^{\kappa}) \to (\mathsf{sk},\mathsf{pk}),$$

¹²Our formalization has a slightly different form from various existing works [12, 13]; our formalism is no stronger than existing formalisms.

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{NTCF.Eval}_{\mathrm{pk}} : \{0,1\} \times \{0,1\}^{\kappa} &\to \{0,1\}^{\mathsf{poly'}(\kappa)}, \\ \mathsf{NTCF.Dec}_{\mathrm{sk}} : \{0,1\} \times \{0,1\}^{\mathsf{poly'}(\kappa)} &\to \{0,1\}^{\kappa} \cup \{\bot\}, \\ \mathsf{NTCF.CHK}_{\mathrm{pk}} : \{0,1\} \times \{0,1\}^{\kappa} \times \{0,1\}^{\mathsf{poly'}(\kappa)} &\to \{\mathsf{true},\mathsf{false}\} \end{split}$$

And they satisfy the following properties:

- (Correctness)
 - (Noisy 2-to-1) For all possible (sk,pk) in the range of NTCF.KeyGen(1^{κ}) there exists a subnormalized probability distribution $(p_y)_{y \in \{0,1\}_{poly'(\kappa)}}$ that satisfies: for any y such that $p_y \neq 0$, $\forall b \in \{0,1\}$, there is NTCF.Dec_{sk} $(b,y) \neq \bot$, and

$$\mathsf{NTCF.Eval}_{\mathrm{pk}}(|+\rangle^{\otimes \kappa}) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{y: p_y \neq 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\mathsf{NTCF.Dec}_{\mathrm{sk}}(0,y)\rangle + |\mathsf{NTCF.Dec}_{\mathrm{sk}}(1,y)\rangle) \otimes \sqrt{p_y} \, |y\rangle$$

- (Correctness of CHK) For all possible (sk, pk) in the range of NTCF.KeyGen(1^{κ}), $\forall x \in \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}, \forall b \in \{0, 1\}$:

$$\mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{CHK}_{\mathrm{pk}}(b,x,y) = \mathsf{true} \Leftrightarrow \mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{Dec}_{\mathrm{sk}}(b,y) = x$$

• (Claw-free) For any BQP adversary Adv,

$$\Pr\begin{bmatrix} (\operatorname{sk}, \operatorname{pk}) \leftarrow \mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{KeyGen}(1^{\kappa}), \\ \mathsf{Adv}(\operatorname{pk}, 1^{\kappa}) \rightarrow (x_0, x_1, y) : \quad x_0 \neq \bot, x_1 \neq \bot, x_0 \neq x_1 \\ \mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{Dec}_{\operatorname{sk}}(0, y) = x_0, \mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{Dec}_{\operatorname{sk}}(1, y) = x_1 \end{bmatrix} \leq \operatorname{negl}(\kappa) \tag{61}$$

Then we have the following assumption about the existence of NTCF.

Assumption 1. There exists an efficient post-quantum NTCF family.

NTCF can be instantiated using the Learning-with-Errors assumption: [12]

Theorem 3.3 (Review of [13]). Assuming QLWE (post-quantum hardness of the Learing-with-Errors assumption) with suitable parameters, Assumption 1 holds.

And we further note that, based on the construction in [12, 13], assuming a suitable version of hardness of Ring-LWE, the running time of NTCF could be only $\tilde{O}(\kappa)$.

3.2.1 Evaluation of NTCF functions

A typical protocol for NTCF evaluation is as follows.

Protocol 1 (NTCF evaluation, review of subprotocols in [12]). Suppose the security parameter is κ .

- 1. The client runs NTCF. KeyGen (1^{κ}) and gets sk, pk. Send pk to the server.
- 2. The server evaluates $\mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{Eval}_{pk}(|+\rangle^{\otimes \kappa})$ and measures to get y and $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$ where $x_0 \neq x_1$, $\mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{CHK}_{pk}(0,x_0,y) = \mathsf{NTCF}.\mathsf{CHK}_{pk}(1,x_1,y) = \mathsf{true}.$ Send y back to the client.
- 3. The client uses sk to decrypt and gets NTCF. $Dec_{sk}(0,y) = x_0$, NTCF. $Dec_{sk}(1,y) = x_1$.

3.3 Random Oracle Model

In this work we will use the quantum random oracle model (QROM). We give a simple review here.

The random oracle model is an ideal cryptographic model for symmetric encryption schemes or hash functions. [38] In this model there is a global oracle that encodes a random function in $\{0,1\}^* \to \{0,1\}^{\infty}$. Security notions in this model are typically defined with respect to attackers that could only query the oracle for polynomial (or subexponential) times. In practice the random oracle is instantiated by a symmetric encryption scheme or hash function, and the security of the protocol can be conjectured heuristically by the random oracle methodology. Albeit there exist artificial uninstantiable constructions [15, 25], this methodology turns out to be very successful in practice [38]: it has been used extensively in cryptography, and becomes the foundation of many famous protocols [38, 30, 22, 19].

The quantum random oracle model is raised as the quantum analog of the classical random oracle model. [11] This model allows quantum access to the random oracle, which captures a natural analog of the random oracle model in quantum world. This model is also used in a series of works from post-quantum security of classical protocols [17, 39, 23] to design of quantum protocols [13, 16, 2].

Input and output length of the random oracle We do a cut-off on the input and output length of the random oracle to make its description finite. Parameterized by κ , we assume the maximal input length of the random oracle is $2^{10\kappa}$. Then we assume the maximal allowed output length for input x is the square of the length of x. These are sufficient for our work.

Description of the random oracle We consider the random oracle as a stand-alone party that holds a tuple of random strings. When the security parameter is κ , the content of the random oracle after the cut-off above could be expressed as a tuple $(H(x))_{x \in \{0,1\}^{10\kappa}}$ where each $H(x) \leftarrow_r \{0,1\}^{|x|^2}$ where |x| is the length of x. With this tuple-description, we could explicitly say the output value of the random oracle for input x is stored in register H(x). And the tuple of all the random oracle content registers is denoted by H.

Especially, we do not need on-the-fly simulation techniques of the random oracle like [52].

Register-oriented formalism of purified joint states in the quantum random oracle model Recall that output values of H are stored in a tuple of registers, whose purified state is:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{H})|}} \sum_{H \in \mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{H})} \underbrace{|H(1)\rangle |H(2)\rangle \cdots |H(d)\rangle \cdots |H(2^{\kappa})\rangle \cdots}_{\text{random oracle outputs}}$$

where H denotes the tuple of all the random oracle outputs, H(x) denotes the values of the x-th coordinates of this tuple, and Domain(H) denotes the set of all the possible values of H. Note this is compatible with the usual formalism of the random oracle.

One property of these random oracle registers is that initially they are all set to hold uniformly distributed random values. Thus a purified joint state that can be prepared in the quantum random oracle model should satisfy the following property (Recall Notation 3.16 for "component"):

Definition 3.4. We say a sub-normalized purified joint state is valid in the quantum random oracle model if the norm of any component when $\boldsymbol{H} = H$ is no more than $\frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{H})|}}$.

Fact 7. If a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is valid in the quantum random oracle model, then $O|\varphi\rangle$ is valid in the quantum random oracle model where O could contain any operation of the client and the server and random oracle queries.

Notations for multiple registers

Notation 3.18. We use H(D) as a simplified notation for the tuple of all the registers $H(x), x \in D$.

Notation 3.19. Additionally, we introduce the following notation to denote a subset of the domain: as an example, $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K||\cdots$ where K contains a tuple of keys, is defined to be the set of input entries in the following form: the first κ bits are arbitrary; then the remaining part has a prefix equal to one of the keys in K.

Remark In Notation 3.18 D is fixed. But in proofs later D might come out of the values of some registers D. But as long as D is read-only we could still use H(D) without problems, by interpreting "H(D) satisfies some properties" as "for each value D of D, H(D) satisfies some properties".

3.3.1 Blinded oracle

One tool that we need in this work is the *blinded oracle*. The blinded oracle replaces the output values on some entries of the original oracle by freshly new values.

Definition 3.5 (Blinded oracle). Suppose D is a subset of the input domain of the random oracle. We define the blinded oracle where entries in D are blinded as follows:

Denote this blinded oracle by \mathbf{H}^{blind} (which could be understood as a tuple of registers in the random oracle party), for each query input x, take the output value (or, more precisely here, the register in the random oracle party that stores the output value) to be:

- If $x \in D$, $\mathbf{H}^{blind}(x)$ is a new register that stores a freshly new random string (that is, after purification, a uniform superposition over all the possible outputs).
- If $x \notin D$, $\mathbf{H}^{blind}(x)$ is the same as $\mathbf{H}(x)$.

3.3.2 Freshly-new oracle and approximate freshly-new oracle by random padding

We need a way to say some part of the random oracle contains freshly new random strings. This will happen if this part of the random oracle is not queried. Following Notation 3.17, we can say the overall state does not depend on the values of registers H(D).

The following property will be very useful. Starting from an efficiently-preparable state, sampling a long enough padding could make the random oracle approximately freshly new on the salted inputs (which mean inputs with these paddings as prefixes):

Lemma 3.4. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle = O|0\rangle$ where O is a polynomial-time operator (implicitly parameterized by security parameter κ). Then a tuple of random paddings, stored in register **pads** that is read-only once initialized, is sampled as follows: **pads** has $poly(\kappa)$ sub-registers, and the value of each sub-register is sampled from $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}$ independently uniformly randomly. Thus the overall state is

$$\sum_{pads \in Domain(pads)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|Domain(pads)|}} \frac{|pads\rangle}{pads} \otimes |\varphi\rangle$$
(62)

Then there exists an efficiently preparable state $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ independent to $H(pads||\cdots)$ and

$$|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} (62)$$

We put a proof in Appendix A.

3.4 Lookup Tables and Phase Tables

In this work we will need to use some simple lookup table notations.

Let's first formalize the symmetric encryption scheme that we will use in this work.

Definition 3.6. We formally define Enc in the quantum random oracle model as follows:

$$\mathsf{Enc}_k(p; 1^\kappa) := (R, H(R||k) + p); (R', H(R'||k)), \quad R \leftarrow_r \{0, 1\}^\kappa, R' \leftarrow_r \{0, 1\}^\kappa \tag{63}$$

where the output length of H(R||k) is the same as length of p and the output length of H(R'||k) is κ .

Note that we sometimes need to use multi-key encryption; we simply use the concatenated key as the encryption key.

Then we introduce the notation for look up tables:

Definition 3.7 (Lookup tables). $\mathsf{LT}(x_1 \to r_1, x_2 \to r_2, \cdots x_D \to r_D; 1^{\kappa})$ is defined as the tuple

$$(\mathsf{Enc}_{x_1}(r_1; 1^{\kappa}), \mathsf{Enc}_{x_2}(r_2; 1^{\kappa}), \cdots, \mathsf{Enc}_{x_D}(r_D; 1^{\kappa})).$$

4 Quantum Computation Verification: Problem Set-up

4.1 Models of Protocol Formalizations

Parties The set-up of our protocol contains the following parties.

- Client (also called verifier);
- Server (considered as the attacker in the malicious setting);
- Random oracle:

As described in the introduction and Section 3.3.

- Transcript registers: holds the transcripts of the protocol. Both the client and the server could read all the transcript registers; both the client and the server use it to transmit messages by copying (bit-wise CNOT) their own registers into empty transcript registers; each of the transcript registers could only be written once and becomes read-only (for both the client and the server) after that.
- Environment.

States We use the following notations to describe the joint states of these parties.

- For describing the honest setting behavior we use the natural notation: for example, after one application of NTCF (Protocol 1) in the honest setting we say the client gets key pair (x_0, x_1) and the server gets state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$.
- To study the malicious setting we turn to use *purified joint states* of all the parties to describe the overall states. In this notation everything including the client side keys is purified to an entangled state. (Recall the purification is in the sense of Notation 3.15.)

Example 4.1 (Purified joint states after an evaluation of NTCF). After an application of NTCF, we say a client holds a key pair in register $K = (x_0, x_1)$. (Recall that we use bold font for registers.) Then the purified joint state in the malicious setting could be expanded into

$$\sum_{(x_0, x_1) \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{K})} \underbrace{\frac{|x_0\rangle}{\mathbf{x}_0}}_{\mathbf{K}(\text{client side})} |\varphi_{x_0, x_1}\rangle \tag{64}$$

where we explicitly write out the values of the client side register K, and the $|\varphi_{x_0,x_1}\rangle$ part contains states in all the other parts (all the other parties including the server, transcripts, environment, the random oracle, and also the registers of the client that are not x_0, x_1).

In the very beginning of our protocol, the client and server both are in all-zero states, and the randomness of the random oracle have been sampled out. When we describe this initial situation we simply use $|0\rangle$ and make the random oracle party implicit.

In general, if both parties execute a protocol Prtl where the inputs are keys in client-side register K, has parameter 1^{κ} and the initial state is a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ (for example, $|0\rangle$ described in the last paragraph), the final post-execution state $|\varphi'\rangle$ could be denoted as:

$$|arphi'
angle = \mathsf{Prtl}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(oldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\,|arphi
angle$$

Executions In general, protocols in our work have the following structure. In each time step, one of the followings happen:

• The server does some server-side operations. Here *server-side operations* contain operations that have full access to the registers in the server party, have read-only access to the transcript party, and could query the random oracle.

- The server sends back a response to the client. Denote this operation as Response, which copies a specific server-side register to a specific transcript register.
- The client does some client-side operations on its own registers. Similarly *client-side operations* are defined to be operations that have full access to the registers in the client party, have read-only access to the transcript party, and could query the random oracle.
- The client sends a message to the server. If the client sends the content of register K to the server, we use $\odot K$ to denote this operation. (For example, if the initial state is $|\varphi\rangle$, the state after this sending message operation is $|\varphi\rangle \odot K$.)

If AuxInf is an algorithm that takes client-side registers as its inputs, [AuxInf] denotes the output of this algorithm. Then for a protocol Prtl, we use [Prtl] to denote the tuple of for all the client-side messages generated by client-side operations in Prtl. Thus $|\varphi\rangle \odot$ [Prtl] denotes the state after the client sends out all of its messages to the server.

Outputs In the end of the protocol, the outputs are:

- The client outputs a flag ∈ {pass, fail} (into the transcript). The flag registers are denoted by symbol flag. The default value is pass.
- We will see, in some protocols the client could also output a score ∈ {win, lose, ⊥} (into the transcript).
 The score registers are denoted by symbol score. The default value of score registers is ⊥ and when the client writes a score into it the value becomes either win or lose.
- In the protocols designed in our work the client typically gets a tuple of keys or phases and the honest server gets some states.

There could be many subprotocol calls in our work and each subprotocol call could output its own flag or score. We use subscripts (for example, $flag_1$, $flag_2$, $score_1$, $score_2$) to distinguish these different registers. Then we use, for example, $\Pi_{pass}^{flag_1}$ to denote the projection onto the space that the value of $flag_1$ is pass. We omit the superscripts here when the register that Π_{pass} is applied on could be determined from the context: for example, when we write Π_{pass} Prtl $|\varphi\rangle$, Π_{pass} is applied onto the overall flag register of Prtl.

4.2 Quantum Computation Verification

In this subsection we formalize the quantum computation verification problem in our setting.

The following definition reviews the definition of quantum computation verification given in [1], with simple adaptation to our setting:

Definition 4.1 (Classical Verification of Quantum Computation, adapted from [1]). We say a protocol that takes (1) a quantum circuit C and a proposed output o, (2) a security parameter 1^{κ} as inputs, is a CVQC protocol with completeness c and soundness s against BQP adversaries in QROM if:

- (Completeness) For (C, o) such that $\Pr[C|0\rangle = o] \ge \frac{99}{100}$, the verifier accepts with probability $\ge c \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$.
- (Soundness) For any malicious BQP server that makes at most polynomial query to the random oracle, for (C, o) such that $\Pr[C | 0\rangle = o] \leq \frac{1}{100}$, the verifier rejects with probability $\geq 1 s \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$.
- (Efficiency) Honestly both parties run in time polynomial in the size of the inputs.

As said in the introduction, we construct a linear-time CVQC protocol. We repeat the main theorem here:

Theorem 4.1 (Repeat of Theorem 1.1 in Section 1). Assuming the existence of noisy trapdoor claw-free functions [12], there exists a single server CVQC protocol in QROM such that:

- The protocol has completeness $\frac{2}{3}$.
- For verifying a circuit of size |C|, the total time complexity is $O(poly(\kappa)|C|)$, where κ is the security parameter.
- The protocol has soundness $\frac{1}{3}$ against BQP adversaries in QROM.

4.3 Existing Gadget-assisted Verification Protocol

As reviewed in the introduction, to prove Theorem 4.1, we make use of an existing quantum computation verification protocol [26] where the server initially holds states

$$|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes |+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle$$
 (65)

where each of $\theta^{(1)} \cdots \theta^{(L)}$ is uniformly independently random from $\{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$, and is known by the client. We formalize it as a theorem.

Theorem 4.2 ([26]). There exists a quantum computation verification protocol such that, for any quantum circuit C, take L = O(|C|), initially the server holds (65) where $\theta^{(1)} \cdots \theta^{(L)}$ are all independently random from $\{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$ and known by the client, and:

- It has completeness $\frac{9}{10}$;
- It has soundness $\frac{1}{10}$;
- The time complexity is O(|C|).

Based on this protocol, what we need to do is to construct a protocol for remote preparation of gadgets (65). We formalize the notion of remote state preparation with verifiability (RSPV) for (65), as follows.

4.4 Our Notion of RSPV

We define our RSPV as follows. The target state, where the client holds phase tuple $\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}$, and server holds (65), could be written jointly as

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^L} \frac{1}{8^L} \underbrace{|\theta^{(1)}\rangle\langle\theta^{(1)}||\theta^{(2)}\rangle\langle\theta^{(2)}|\cdots|\theta^{(L)}\rangle\langle\theta^{(L)}|}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle\otimes|+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle\otimes\cdots\otimes|+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle}_{\text{server}}$$
(66)

The RSPV protocol for (66) takes a gadget number 1^L and a security parameter 1^{κ} as inputs.

Definition 4.2 (Correctness of RSPV). We say an RSPV for a target state defined in (66) has correctness in QROM if in the honest setting:

- The server could make the client outputs pass with probability $\geq \frac{9}{10} \text{negl}(\kappa)$;
- In the honest setting, conditioned on the client outputs pass, with probability $\geq 1 \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$ the joint state of the client and the server is (66).

To define the verifiability, we note the purified target state could be written as

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\dots7\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}} \underbrace{|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle\otimes|+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle\otimes\dots\otimes|+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle}_{\text{server}}$$
(67)

Definition 4.3 (Verifiability of RSPV). The operators in this definition are implicitly parameterized by the security parameter κ .

We say an RSPV protocol RSPV with target state (67) has verifiability in QROM if for any polynomial time adversary Adv, there exists a server-side operation Sim^{Adv} such that:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{RSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L,1^\kappa) \left| 0 \right\rangle \approx_{\frac{1}{5}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}} \left| \mathsf{Equation} \right. \left(67 \right) \right\rangle$$

where the distinguisher in the indistinguishability symbol could operate on the client-side registers¹³, the transcript and the server-side systems, only has read-only access to the client and the transcript, and is of polynomial time with polynomial random oracle queries.

We clarify that Sim in the definition above could query the random oracle, could write into the transcript registers and could disgard registers to the environment, and is not required to be in polynomial time. (It is desirable to have this property, but we do not aim at it in this work.)

¹³More naturally we can define the distinguisher to only has access to the $\theta^{(1)} \cdots \theta^{(L)}$ registers shown in (67) for the client-side access. But we do not put this condition here for simplicity, and this is fine: we could always assume in the end of the protocol RSPV the client disgards all the temporary registers (that are used during the protocol execution) into the environment, and only keeps the phase tuple registers in (67).

Remark We will make κ implicit in the remaining definitions and theorems and will not repeat it every time.

4.5 Pre-RSPV

Aiming at constructing the RSPV protocol, it will be very convenient to define a relaxed notion that captures low-level details arose from the construction. We will introduce the notion of *pre-RSPV*. We will see (1) it's easier to construct a pre-RSPV (compared to a direct construction of RSPV); (2) a repetition-based amplification of a pre-RSPV protocol leads to an RSPV protocol.

Compared to the RSPV protocol, pre-RSPV further relaxes the correctness and verifiability in the definition in the following way:

• It works under the following protocol design framework: in our protocol the client will secretly sample a round type in {test, quiz, comp} in the beginning, with some fixed probability. These round types are revealed in the end of the protocol but not during the protocol. We use type to denote the transcript register that holds the round type, Π^{type}_{comp} (for example) to denote the projection onto the space that type register has value comp, and Π_{comp} if there is no ambiguity on the register. (For example, when we write Π_{comp} preRSPV.)

Only in the comp round the correct target state is generated (in the honest setting). In all rounds the client will produce a flag of pass or fail; and only in the quiz round the client could additionally generate a score whose value is win or lose. They have the following difference: if the server behaves honestly, it will pass with probability $1 - \text{negl}(\kappa)$. However, an honest server does not always win. Instead, it win with probability OPT which is a fixed upper bound. Additionally, no malicious attacker could win with probability bigger than that. Thus when we construct the RSPV protocol from repetitions of a preRSPV protocol, once the client sees some subprotocol fail, it could output fail directly; however both parties have to repeat the protocol for many times so that the client can calculate the ratio of win and lose statistically.

• Correspondingly, we need to adapt the definition of verifiability to take the probability of generating a score of win in the quiz round into account.

Formally speaking, a pre-RSPV protocol is defined as follows. It takes a security parameter 1^{κ} and the output number 1^{L} as the inputs.

Definition 4.4 (Correctness of pre-RSPV). We say a pre-RSPV for the target state defined as Definition 4.2 has correctness in the quantum random oracle model if:

In the honest setting, a round type \in {test, quiz, comp} is sampled with fixed probabilities { $p_{\text{test}}, p_{\text{quiz}}, p_{\text{comp}}$ } and:

- In all round types, the probability that the client outputs pass is $\geq 1 \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$.
- In quiz round, the probability that the client outputs win as the score is \geq OPT negl(κ) where OPT is a constant.
- In comp round, with probability $\geq 1 \text{negl}(\kappa)$ the target state (66) is generated.

The constants p_{test} , p_{quiz} , p_{comp} and OPT will be explicit when we formalize the correctness property of our concrete pre-RSPV protocol.

Definition 4.5 (Verifiability of pre-RSPV). We say a protocol preRSPV is a pre-RSPV protocol for target state (67) in QROM with error tolerance (ϵ_1, ϵ_2) if:

For any polynomial time adversary Adv, any initial state $O|0\rangle$ where O is efficient, at least one of the following three cases is true:

• (Small passing probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \circ O |0\rangle|^2 \le 1 - \epsilon_1 \tag{68}$$

• (Small winning probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \circ O |0\rangle|^2 \le p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} - \epsilon_2)$$
 (69)

where OPT is the same as the constant in the correctness (Definition 4.4)

 \bullet (Verifiability) There exists a server-side operation $\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv},O}$ such that:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \circ O \left| 0 \right\rangle \approx_{\frac{1}{10}\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} \mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}, O} \left| \mathsf{Equation} \right. \left(67 \right) \right\rangle \tag{70}$$

where the distinguisher has read-only access to the client side registers and full access to the server-side registers and is polynomial time.

Additionally, for the amplification from pre-RSPV to RSPV, we also need to require the constant OPT is indeed optimal:

Definition 4.6 (Optimality of OPT in pre-RSPV). We say a protocol preRSPV has optimal winning probability OPT with error tolerance (ϵ_1, ϵ_2) if:

For any polynomial time adversary Adv, any initial state $O|0\rangle$ where O is efficient, at least one of the following two cases is true:

• (Small passing probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \circ O |0\rangle|^2 \le 1 - \epsilon_1 \tag{71}$$

• (Bounded winning probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \circ O|0\rangle|^2 \le p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} + \epsilon_2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa))$$
 (72)

5 Formalization of Our Pre-RSPV Protocol

In this subsection we formalize our construction of pre-RSPV protocol.

5.1 High Level Construction and AddPhaseWithHelper

As said in the introduction, we will use NTCF-based techniques to create gadgets in the form of key pair superpositions, and use lookup-table-tabled techniques to add phases to them. Let's give a notation for such form of gadgets.

Notation 5.1. For a key pair $K = (x_0, x_1)$, phase pair $\Theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1)$, define

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K,\Theta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e^{\theta_0 \mathrm{i} \pi/4} \left| x_0 \right\rangle + e^{\theta_1 \mathrm{i} \pi/4} \left| x_1 \right\rangle)$$

We call $\theta_1 - \theta_0$ the relative phase.

And define

$$\operatorname{gadget}(K) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$$

Now we formalize our pre-RSPV protocol below.

Overall Protocol This protocol is a pre-RSPV protocol with target state in the form of (66).

Protocol 2 (Pre-RSPV). Suppose the security parameter is κ . Output number is L.

1. (Generation of key-pair-superpositions) As discussed in Section 3.2, both parties run 2 + L blocks of NTCF evaluations in parallel.

In the end the server gets 2 + L key-pair-superpositions, and the client gets the corresponding key pairs. The client names these key pairs as follows:

- The first key pair is denoted as $K^{(helper)} = (x_0^{(helper)}, x_1^{(helper)}), x_0^{(helper)} \neq x_1^{(helper)}$.
- The remaining (1 + L) key pairs are denoted as $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$; for each $i \in [0,L]$, $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)}), x_0^{(i)} \neq x_1^{(i)}$.

The honest server holds

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(helper)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(0)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)}) \tag{73}$$

- 2. The client randomly chooses to run one of the following two with the server:
 - (Standard basis test) Both parties execute $StdBTest((K^{(i)})_{i \in \{helper\} \cup [0,L]})$.
 - (Verifiable state preparation)
 - (a) (State transformation with the helper gadget) For each $i \in [0, L]$, the client samples $\Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)}) \leftarrow_r \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2$. Denote $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0, L]}$. Both parties execute AddPhaseWithHelper($(K^{(helper)}, K), \Theta; 1^{\kappa}$), which consumes the helper

Both parties execute AddPhaseWithHelper($(K^{(helper)}, K), \Theta; 1^{\kappa})$, which consumes the helper gadget.

After this step the honest server's state is:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(0)},\Theta^{(0)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)},\Theta^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)},\Theta^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)},\Theta^{(L)})$$

- (b) The client randomly chooses to run one of the following five subprotocols with the server:
 - (Standard basis test) Both parties execute $\mathsf{StdBTest}(K)$.
 - (Collective phase test) Both parties execute $CoPhTest(K, \Theta; 1^{\kappa})$.
 - (Individual phase test) Both parties execute $InPhTest(K, \Theta; 1^{\kappa})$. This is considered as the quiz round and the client will possibly write win or lose in the score register.
 - (Basis norm test) Both parties execute $\mathsf{BNTest}((K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}, (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}; 1^{\kappa})$ on these states.
 - (Output states) The client reveals $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$ and the honest server could decode the gadgets and get the following state up to a global phase:

$$|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle\otimes|+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle\otimes\cdots\otimes|+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle$$

where $\theta^{(i)} = \theta_1^{(i)} - \theta_0^{(i)}$ for each $i \in [L]$. And the client could also calculate these phases from Θ . All the other client-side registers are disgarded. This is considered as the comp round.

The subprotocols used in this protocol are formalized below. We first formalize the standard basis test and the AddPhaseWithHelper step.

Standard basis test The StdBTest is formalized below. Note in this protocol we use D to denote the set of indices; when we use this protocol it could be $\{\text{helper}\} \cup [0, L]$ (as in the first usage in Protocol 2) or [0, L] (as in the first case in step 2.b in Protocol 2).

Protocol 3 (StdBTest). The client holds a tuple of key pairs $(K^{(i)})_{i \in D}$ where D is a set of indices. For each $i \in D$, the honest server holds state $\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)}, \cdots)$ for some phase pair omitted in " \cdots " (where the values of these phase pairs do not have influence in this protocol).

- 1. The client asks the server to measure all the gadgets in the standard basis. For each $i \in D$, the server measures $gadget(K^{(i)}, \cdots)$ and sends back the response $r^{(i)}$.
- 2. The client checks for each $i \in D$, $r^{(i)} \in K^{(i)}$.

Add phases under the helper gadget method Below we formalize the state transformation subprotocol, which guarantees the honest server could add phases to (73). This step will use the helper gadget method.

Protocol 4 (AddPhaseWithHelper). Suppose the security parameter is κ . Gadget number is controlled by L.

The client holds a tuple of key pairs $K^{(helper)} = (x_0^{(helper)}, x_1^{(helper)}), K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$ and a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, \Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)}).$ Honest server holds:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(helper)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(0)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)})$$

1. (Add phases) For each $i \in [0, L]$, the client prepares the following table and sends it to the server:

$$\mathsf{LT}(x_0^{(helper)}x_0^{(i)} \to \theta_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(helper)}x_0^{(i)} \to \theta_0^{(i)}, x_0^{(helper)}x_1^{(i)} \to \theta_1^{(i)}, x_1^{(helper)}x_1^{(i)} \to \theta_1^{(i)}; 1^\kappa)$$

The honest server should do the following mapping for each $i \in [0, L]$ to add the phases:

$$(|x_0^{(helper)}\rangle + |x_1^{(helper)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(i)}\rangle) \tag{75}$$

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{(helper)}\rangle + |x_1^{(helper)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(i)}\rangle |\theta_0^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(i)}\rangle |\theta_1^{(i)}\rangle)$$

$$(76)$$

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{(helper)}\rangle + |x_1^{(helper)}\rangle) \otimes (e^{\theta_0^{(i)}i\pi/4} |x_0^{(i)}\rangle |\theta_0^{(i)}\rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(i)}i\pi/4} |x_1^{(i)}\rangle |\theta_1^{(i)}\rangle)$$

$$(77)$$

$$\rightarrow (|x_0^{(helper)}\rangle + |x_1^{(helper)}\rangle) \otimes (e^{\theta_0^{(i)}i\pi/4} |x_0^{(i)}\rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(i)}i\pi/4} |x_1^{(i)}\rangle)$$

$$(78)$$

2. Both parties execute $\mathsf{HadamardTest}(K^{(helper)};1^\kappa)$ (formalized below) on the helper gadget.

An honest server holds the following state in the end:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(0)},\Theta^{(0)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)},\Theta^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)},\Theta^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)},\Theta^{(L)})$$

The Hadamard test with random oracle padding is defined as follows.

5.2 Subprotocols: Hadamard Tests and Gadget Combination

RO-padded Hadamard test The Hadamard tests used in our protocols are defined below. For this work, we need to define different versions of RO-padded Hadamard tests, which deal with the extra phases in different ways. In each of these tests, the client asks the server to add an extra random oracle paddings before the Hadamard operation. As discussed in the introduction and [55], this allows the client to control the server-side states in a way that the un-padded version could not give.

- (Unphased Hadamard test) $\mathsf{HadamardTest}(K;1^\kappa)$, where K is a key pair: this is the most basic form of Hadamard test used in our protocol. Here the phases are trivial: In this protocol the honest server is suppose to hold $\mathsf{gadget}(K)$ in the beginning. This test has only one-sided error in the sense that if the honest server could pass with probability 1 thus if the server fails the cheating behavior will be caught immediately. This version will be used in the $\mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}$ and the BNTest .
- (Phased Hadamard test) $\mathsf{HadamardTest}(K,\Theta;1^\kappa)$, where K is a key pair, Θ is a phase pair: in this version, the honest server is suppose to hold $\mathsf{gadget}(K,\Theta)$ in the beginning. The client will first reveal the relative phase to allow the server to dephase the gadget and run the unphased Hadamard test in the previous bullet. This version will be used in the CoPhTest.
- (Extra-phase-biased Hadamard test) HadamardTest($K, \Theta, \delta; 1^{\kappa}$), where K is a key pair, Θ is a phase pair, $\delta \in \{0, 4, 1\}$: similar to the previous bullet, the honest server is suppose to hold $gadget(K, \Theta)$. Different from the previous bullet, when the client reveals the phase, it adds an *extra-phase-bias* δ (δ itself is hidden from the server): suppose $\Theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1)$, it will reveal $\theta_1 \theta_0 \delta$. Then corresponding to different δ , the client will produce results in different ways:

- If $\delta = 0$, the behavior of the protocol is the same as the following protocol. The honest server will first de-phase the gadget as the last version and both parties do unphased Hadamard test on gadget(K).
- If $\delta = 4$, the dephasing will give $|x_0\rangle |x_1\rangle$ (up to a global phase, where $K = (x_0, x_1)$). Then the unphased Hadamard test on this state gives opposite pass/fail flag to $|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle$. Thus for this case the client will reverse the pass/fail from the $\delta = 0$ case.
- If $\delta = 1$: the dephasing will give $|x_0\rangle + e^{i\pi/4}|x_1\rangle$. Then the server will go through an unphased Hadamard test from this state (note that δ is hidden from the server so the server does not know the state description it holds). The client will use the equation deciding the pass/fail flag from the unphased version, but it will only record win or lose in this case.

The honest server could also lose in this test with some probability, and what we want to guarantee is the winning probability is not far from the optimal value.

This version will be used in the InPhTest.

Protocol 5 (HadamardTest($K; 1^{\kappa}$), unphased). Suppose the security parameter is κ . Client holds a pair of keys $K = (x_0, x_1)$, where the length of each key is |x|. Honest server should hold state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + |x_1\rangle)$.

- 1. The client samples pad $\leftarrow_r \{0,1\}^{\kappa}$. Send it to the server.
- 2. The server is suppose to use the padding to map the state into

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle\underbrace{|H(pad||x_0)\rangle}_{\kappa \ aubits} + |x_1\rangle |H(pad||x_1)\rangle)$$

and do Hadamard measurements on all the qubits above.

Suppose the measurement result is $d \in \{0,1\}^{|x|+\kappa}$. The server sends back d.

3. The client sets flag = fail if the last κ bits of d are all-zero.

Otherwise the client calculates

$$d \cdot (x_0 || H(pad || x_0)) + d \cdot (x_1 || H(pad || x_1)) \mod 2 \tag{79}$$

If (79) is 0, set flag = pass; if (79) is 1, set flag = fail.

Protocol 6 (HadamardTest $(K, \Theta; 1^{\kappa})$, phased). Suppose the security parameter is κ .

Client holds a pair of keys $K = (x_0, x_1), \Theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1)$.

Honest server should hold state $gadget(K, \Theta)$.

- 1. The client reveals the relative phase $\theta_1 \theta_0$ to the server. The server could de-phase and get the state gadget(K) up to a global phase.
- 2. Both parties run HadamardTest $(K; 1^{\kappa})$ on gadget(K).

Protocol 7 (HadamardTest $(K, \Theta, \delta; 1^{\kappa})$, the Hadamard test with extra phase bias). Suppose the security parameter is κ .

Client holds a pair of keys $K = (x_0, x_1)$, a pair of phases $\Theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1)$, and an extra phase bias $\delta \in \{0, 4, 1\}$.

Honest server should hold state $gadget(K, \Theta)$.

1. The client reveals $\theta_1 - \theta_0 - \delta$ to the server. The honest server could use it to transform $gadget(K, \Theta)$ to the following state up to a global phase:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|x_0\rangle + e^{\delta i\pi/4} |x_1\rangle) \tag{80}$$

- 2. Both parties execute the non-phase-bias Hadamard test HadamardTest(K; 1^{κ}) above, where the server uses (80). This subprotocol call returns a measurement result d (see (79)) to the client. The client sets flag = fail if the last κ bits of d are all-zero. Otherwise, depending on the value of δ , the client determines the output flag and score as follows:
 - If $\delta = 0$, the client sets flag = pass if (79) is 0 and flag = fail if (79) is 1.
 - If $\delta = 4$, the client sets flag = fail if (79) is 0 and flag = pass if (79) is 1.
 - If $\delta = 1$, the client sets score = win if (79) is 0 and <math>score = lose if (79) is 1.

The unspecified flag is pass and the unspecified score is \perp by default.

To formalize the collective phase test and basis norm test, we will use subprotocols for combining multiple gadgets into one single gadget. This is defined as follows.

Combine: subprotocols for collective phase tests and basis norm tests

Combine subprotocols combines multiple gadgets to a single gadget. These subprotocols will be used in CoPhTest and BNTest:

- In CoPhTest, the indices of gadgets to be combined are [0, L]. Correspondingly, $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0, L]}$, $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0, L]}$. The protocol is denoted by Combine $(K, \Theta; 1^{\kappa})$.
- In BNTest, Θ are taken to be all-zero, and the indices of gadgets to be combined are [L]. The protocol is denoted by $\mathsf{Combine}(\tilde{K}, I; 1^{\kappa})$, where $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$. Here I is a subset of [L].

Protocol 8 (Combine for CoPhTest). Suppose the security parameter is κ .

Client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}; K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$. Correspondingly it also holds a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}; \Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)})$. Each phase is in $\{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$.

Honest server should hold

$$\otimes_{i \in [0,L]} \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)},\Theta^{(i)})$$

1. For each $i \in [L]$:

The client samples different $r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)} \leftarrow \{0,1\}^{\kappa}$, prepares the table

$$\mathsf{LT}^{(i)} := \mathsf{LT}(x_0^{(0)} x_0^{(i)} \to r_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(0)} x_1^{(i)} \to r_0^{(i)}, x_0^{(0)} x_1^{(i)} \to r_1^{(i)}, x_1^{(0)} x_0^{(i)} \to r_1^{(i)}; 1^\kappa)$$

and sends the table to the server.

- 2. The client defines $K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)}, x_1^{(combined)})$, sets it to be $K^{(0)}$ in the beginning. And it defines $\Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0^{(combined)}, \theta_1^{(combined)})$, sets it to be $\Theta^{(0)}$ in the beginning. For each $i \in [L]$:
 - (a) If the server is honest, by this time it should hold $gadget(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$ and $gadget(K^{(i)}, \Theta^{(i)})$. The keys in $K^{(combined)}$ have prefix in $K^{(0)}$. It will combine these two gadgets into a single gadget by decrypting $LT^{(i)}$ and measures to get $r^{(i)} \in \{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}$. In more

detail, the following operations are applied by the honest server:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)}, \Theta^{(i)}) \tag{81}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{\theta_0^{(combined)} i \pi/4} |x_0^{(combined)}\rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(combined)} i \pi/4} |x_1^{(combined)}\rangle \right) \otimes \left(e^{\theta_0^{(i)} i \pi/4} |x_0^{(i)}\rangle + e^{\theta_1^{(i)} i \pi/4} |x_1^{(i)}\rangle$$
(82)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b^{(combined)}b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\}^2} e^{(\theta_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)} + \theta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)})i\pi/4} |x_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)}x_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}\rangle$$

$$(83)$$

(Decrypt
$$LT^{(i)}$$
 with $K^{(0)}$ (in the prefix of $K^{(combined)}$) and $K^{(i)}$): (84)

$$\rightarrow \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b^{(combined)}b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\}^2} e^{\left(\theta_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)} + \theta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}\right)i\pi/4} \left| x_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)} x_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)} \right\rangle \left| r_{b^{(combined)} + b^{(i)}}^{(i)} \right\rangle$$

$$(85)$$

$$\rightarrow measure \ and \ get \ r^{(i)} \in \{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}:$$
 (86)

$$(r^{(i)} = r_0^{(i)}) : e^{(\theta_0^{(combined)} + \theta_0^{(i)})i\pi/4} |x_0^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}\rangle + e^{(\theta_1^{(combined)} + \theta_1^{(i)})i\pi/4} |x_1^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}\rangle$$
(87)

$$(r^{(i)} = r_1^{(i)}) : e^{(\theta_0^{(combined)} + \theta_1^{(i)})i\pi/4} |x_0^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}\rangle + e^{(\theta_1^{(combined)} + \theta_0^{(i)})i\pi/4} |x_1^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}\rangle$$
(88)

(89)

The server sends back $r^{(i)}$ to the client.

- (b) The client checks the server's response $r^{(i)}$ is in $\{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}$ and stores
 - If $r^{(i)} = r_0^{(i)}$:

$$K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}),$$

$$\Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0^{(combined)} + \theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(combined)} + \theta_1^{(i)})$$

• If $r^{(i)} = r_1^{(i)}$:

$$K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}, x_1^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}), \label{eq:K_combined}$$

$$\Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0^{(combined)} + \theta_1^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(combined)} + \theta_0^{(i)})$$

Correspondingly the honest server's state is $gadget(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$.

In the end all these gadgets are combined together; the client holds $K^{(combined)}$, $\Theta^{(combined)}$ and the server holds $\operatorname{\mathsf{gadget}}(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$.

Protocol 9 (Combine for BNTest). Suppose the security parameter is κ . I is a tuple of indices $i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{|I|}$ which is a subset of [L] arranged in increasing order.

Client holds a tuple of key pairs $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}; K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$. Honest server should hold

$$\otimes_{i \in [L]} \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)})$$

1. For each $i \in i_2, i_3 \cdots i_{|I|}$:

The client samples different $r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)} \leftarrow \{0,1\}^{\kappa}$, prepares the table

$$\mathsf{LT}^{(i)} := \mathsf{LT}(x_0^{(i_1)} x_0^{(i)} \to r_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i_1)} x_1^{(i)} \to r_0^{(i)}, x_0^{(i_1)} x_1^{(i)} \to r_1^{(i)}, x_1^{(i_1)} x_0^{(i)} \to r_1^{(i)}; 1^\kappa)$$

and sends the table to the server.

- 2. The client defines $K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)}, x_1^{(combined)})$, sets it to be $K^{(i_1)}$ in the beginning. For each $i \in i_2, i_3 \cdots i_{|I|}$:
 - (a) If the server is honest, by this time it should hold $gadget(K^{(combined)})$ and $gadget(K^{(i)})$. The keys in $K^{(combined)}$ have prefix in $K^{(i_1)}$. It will combine these two gadgets into a single gadget by decrypting $LT^{(i)}$ and measures to get $r^{(i)} \in \{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}$. In more detail, the following operations are applied by the honest server:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(combined)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)}) \tag{90}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (|x_0^{(combined)}\rangle + |x_1^{(combined)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(i)}\rangle)$$

$$\tag{91}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (|x_0^{(combined)}\rangle + |x_1^{(combined)}\rangle) \otimes (|x_0^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(i)}\rangle)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b^{(combined)}b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\}^2} |x_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)}x_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}\rangle$$

$$(91)$$

(Decrypt
$$LT^{(i)}$$
 with $K^{(i_1)}$ (in the prefix of $K^{(combined)}$) and $K^{(i)}$): (93)

$$\rightarrow \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b^{(combined)}b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\}^2} |x_{b^{(combined)}}^{(combined)}x_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}\rangle |r_{b^{(combined)}+b^{(i)}}^{(i)}\rangle$$

$$(94)$$

$$\rightarrow measure \ and \ get \ r^{(i)} \in \{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}:$$
 (95)

$$(r^{(i)} = r_0^{(i)}) : |x_0^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}\rangle$$
 (96)

$$(r^{(i)} = r_1^{(i)}) : |x_0^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}\rangle + |x_1^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}\rangle$$
 (97)

(98)

The server sends back $r^{(i)}$ to the client.

(b) The client checks the server's response $r^{(i)}$ is in $\{r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)}\}$ and stores

• If
$$r^{(i)} = r_0^{(i)}$$
:
$$K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)} x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(combined)} x_1^{(i)}).$$

• If
$$r^{(i)}=r_1^{(i)}$$
:
$$K^{(combined)}=(x_0^{(combined)}x_1^{(i)},x_1^{(combined)}x_0^{(i)}),$$

Correspondingly, the honest server's state is $gadget(K^{(combined)})$.

In the end both parties combine the gadgets with indices in I into a single gadget, the client holds $K^{(combined)}$ and the server holds $gadget(K^{(combined)})$. The gadgets with indices outside I remain unchanged.

5.3 Sub-tests

Collective Phase Test The collective phase test is formalized as follows. The input gadgets are indexed by [0, L]. The client first runs Combine to combine all these 1 + L gadgets into a single gadget. Then one of the following two is randomly selected:

- A standard basis test of the combined keys;
- As the main step of this test, both parties do an (RO-padded) Hadamard test on the combined gadget.

Protocol 10 (CoPhTest). Suppose the security parameter is κ and the gadget number is controlled by L. Client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$.

Honest server holds:

$$\otimes_{i \in [0,L]} \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(i)},\Theta^{(i)})$$

- 1. Both parties run $\mathsf{Combine}(K, \Theta; 1^\kappa)$. The client gets $K^{(combined)}$ and $\Theta^{(combined)}$ and the server gets $\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$.
- 2. The client chooses to run one of the following two randomly, and the honest server could use $gadget(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$ to pass the tests:
 - $\mathsf{StdBTest}(K^{(combined)})$.
 - HadamardTest($K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}$).

Individual Phase Test The individual phase test is defined as follows.

Protocol 11 (InPhTest). Suppose the security parameter is κ and the gadget number is L. Client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$. Honest server holds:

$$\bigotimes_{i \in [0,L]} \operatorname{\mathsf{gadget}}(K^{(i)},\Theta^{(i)})$$

This protocol will only use the first gadget, which corresponds to $gadget(K^{(0)}, \Theta^{(0)})$.

- 1. With probability $\frac{1}{3}$ each, the client executes the following with the server without telling the server which is the case:
 - Both parties execute HadamardTest $(K^{(0)}, \Theta^{(0)}, 0; 1^{\kappa});$
 - Both parties execute HadamardTest $(K^{(0)}, \Theta^{(0)}, 4; 1^{\kappa})$;
 - Both parties execute HadamardTest $(K^{(0)}, \Theta^{(0)}, 1; 1^{\kappa})$; Note "win" or "lose" are recorded as the score corresponding to the client's checking result.

Basis Norm Test Finally we formalize the basis norm test as follows. The input gadgets are indexed by 1 to L. The client selects a random subset of index I from [L], which represents the indices of the gadgets that will be used for the combine-and-test process; then it uses Combine to combine these gadgets into a single gadget. Then:

- 1. For the gadgets outside I, the client will ask the server to measure them in the standard basis.
- 2. For the combined part, one of the following two is randomly selected:
 - A standard basis test on the combined gadget.
 - As the main step of this test, both parties execute a Hadamard test on this combined gadget.

Note that the main body of BNTest is on the gadgets without phases $(gadget(K^{(\cdots)}))$. But when we use the BNTest in Protocol 2 the phases are already added. Thus we first formalize a version of BNTest that additionally takes a tuple of phase information as parameters that does the following: it simply reveals the phases and allows the server to de-phase the gadgets and then calls the main body of BNTest.

Protocol 12 (BNTest starting from gadgets with phases). Suppose the security parameter is κ and the gadget number is L.

Client holds a tuple of key pairs $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$ and a tuple of phase pairs $(\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$. Honest server holds:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)}, \Theta^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)}, \Theta^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)}, \Theta^{(L)}) \tag{99}$$

1. The client reveals $\Theta^{(1)}, \Theta^{(2)} \cdots \Theta^{(L)}$ and the server could remove the phases from (99) and get

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)})$$

2. Both parties execute $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K}^{(i)};1^{\kappa})$ defined below.

Protocol 13 (BNTest). Suppose the security parameter is κ and the gadget number is L.

Client holds a tuple of key pairs $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$.

Honest server holds:

$$\mathsf{gadget}(K^{(1)}) \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(2)}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathsf{gadget}(K^{(L)}) \tag{100}$$

- 1. The client samples a random subset of index $I \subseteq [L]$.
 - Both parties execute Combine $(K, I; 1^{\kappa})$. This combines the gadgets with superscripts in I into a single gadget. The client gets $K^{(combined)}$ and the server gets $gadget(K^{(combined)})$. The gadgets with superscripts in [L] I do not change.
- 2. The client asks the server to measure all the gadgets excluding $gadget(K^{(combined)})$ in the standard basis and send back the results (denoted as $rp^{(j)}$ for each $j \in [L] I$). The client checks $rp^{(j)} \in K^{(j)}$ for each $j \in [L] I$, and rejects if it's not satisfied.
- 3. The client chooses one of the following two randomly:
 - The client asks the server to measure $K^{(combined)}$ in the computational basis and send back the result. The client checks the server's response is within $K^{(combined)}$.
 - $\bullet \ \ Both \ parties \ execute \ \mathsf{HadamardTest}(K^{(combined)}; 1^\kappa) \ \ on \ the \ combined \ gadget.$

So far we have completed the formalization of our pre-RSPV protocol. Below we give its correctness, efficiency and verifiability, which corresponds to Definition 4.4, 4.5.

5.4 Properties of Our preRSPV Protocol

Protocol 2 has the following properties.

Round type probability The round type is chosen from (test, quiz, comp) with probability $(\frac{4}{5}, \frac{1}{10}, \frac{1}{10})$ correspondingly. Denote them as $p_{\mathsf{test}}, p_{\mathsf{quiz}}, p_{\mathsf{comp}}$.

Correctness The protocol in the honest settings prepares the target state

$$|+_{\theta^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes |+_{\theta^{(2)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |+_{\theta^{(L)}}\rangle$$

in the comp round. The client gets $\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in_r\{0,1\cdots7\}^L$. This is as required in Definition 4.4.

Winning Probability The winning probability in the quiz round in the honest setting is

OPT =
$$\frac{1}{3} \left| \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} e^{i\pi/4} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{3} \cos^2(\pi/8) = 0.28451779686 \cdots$$

where the first 1/3 comes from the fact that in the extra-biased Hadamard test, if the extra phase bias $\delta \in \{0,4\}$ the protocol does not generate win/lose output.

Efficiency The complexity of both parties is $O(poly(\kappa)|C|)$.

Optimality of OPT

Theorem 5.1. OPT is optimal with error tolerance $(10^{-2000}, 10^{-220})$ (as formalized in Definition 4.6).

For the verifiability we have:

Verifiability

Theorem 5.2. Protocol 2 has verifiability with error tolerance $(10^{-2000}, 10^{-200})$ (as formalized in Definition 4.5).

We prove Theorem 5.1 and 5.2 in Section 12.

6 Basic Notions and Analysis of Key-Pair Preparation and Standard Basis Test

In this section we develop tools for analyzing the part of Protocol 2 before the verifiable state preparation step.

- First, in Section 6.1 we give symbols for registers that appear in the protocols. Then we get a clearer set-up for later proofs.
- Then in Section 6.2 we will give some basic notions for characterizing the state's properties. They include the *efficiently preparable*, *key checkable* and *claw-free* properties, which are basically reviews or re-formalizations of existing notions; and we define the *strong-claw-free* to characterize the uncorrelated claw-freeness of multiple key pairs. These notions will also be the basis of later proofs.
- Then in Section 6.3 we analyze the first step of Protocol 2, the parallel application of NTCF. We will show the output state of this step satisfies the properties above.
- Then in Section 6.4 we give the notion of basis-honest form, which means the server holds exactly one key from each key pair that the client holds. We also define the branch of basis-honest form formally, which will be useful in later proofs.
- In Section 6.5 we analyze the properties of standard basis test (StdBTest). We will show the ability of passing the standard basis test with high probability implies the state is approximately isometric to a basis-honest form via a server-side isometry.
- Finally in Section 6.6 we prove some lemmas that will be used in later proofs.

Note that we will introduce the Setup to organize the properties of a state family.

6.1 Symbols for Different Registers

By the time of the completion of step 1 in Protocol 2, the registers include:

• The client-side key registers: denoted by $\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})} = (\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{x}_1^{(\text{helper})}), \boldsymbol{K} = (\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, \ \boldsymbol{K}^{(i)} = (\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(i)}, \boldsymbol{x}_1^{(i)}).$

When the security parameter is κ , the size of each $\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(i)}$ register is κ .

For each $i \in \{\text{helper}, [0, L]\}$, define $\text{Domain}(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})$ as $\{(x_0, x_1) : x_0 \in \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}, x_1 \in \{0, 1\}^{\kappa}, x_0 \neq x_1\}$. As a convention, we use $\tilde{\mathbf{K}}$ to denote $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$.

- The transcript registers hold the server's response in the first step, which is denoted by $y^{(\text{helper})}y^{(0)}\cdots y^{(L)}$ in the protocol; denote the corresponding registers by $\boldsymbol{Y}=(\boldsymbol{Y}^{(\text{helper})},\boldsymbol{Y}^{(0)},\boldsymbol{Y}^{(1)},\cdots \boldsymbol{Y}^{(L)}).$
- The client-side phase registers: although these phases are not sampled and used in the protocol until the step (a) of the verifiable state preparation step, we could assume the client has already sampled them out in advance. These information is stored in registers $\mathbf{\Theta} = (\mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$. $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)} = (\mathbf{\theta}_0^{(i)}, \mathbf{\theta}_1^{(i)})$. The domain of each $\mathbf{\theta}$ register is $\{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$.

- The server's registers. In general these registers are denoted by symbol S; and we note there are many different registers appeared in different steps of the protocol. We will use superscripts to refer to these different registers. Especially, denote the registers that holds the $gadget(K^{(i)})$ in (73) in the honest setting as $S_{bsh}^{(i)}$. Denote $S_{bsh} = (S_{bsh}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$.
- The random oracle registers that store the random oracle outputs for each input. The symbols are as used in Section 3.3.

6.2 Basic Notions on Joint States

We give the following basic notions for characterizing the properties of a state.

Definition 6.1 (Efficiently preparable states, repeated). We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is efficiently-preparable if there exists a polynomial time operator (which could include projections) O such that $|\varphi\rangle = O|0\rangle$.

Definition 6.2 (Key-checkable). Suppose \boldsymbol{x} is a client-side register that holds a key. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is key-checkable for \boldsymbol{x} if there exists an efficient server-side operation¹⁴ that implements $\Pi_{=\boldsymbol{x}}^{\boldsymbol{S}}$ on $|\varphi\rangle$ where \boldsymbol{S} is an arbitrary server-side register, $\Pi_{=\boldsymbol{x}}^{\boldsymbol{S}}$ denotes the projection onto the space that the content of \boldsymbol{S} is equal to the content of \boldsymbol{x} .

Suppose the client holds a tuple of keys in registers K. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is key-checkable for K if for any single key register x within K, $|\varphi\rangle$ is key-checkable for x.

Then we review the notion of claw-freeness.

Definition 6.3 (Claw-free [12]). Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K = (x_0, x_1)$. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is claw-free for K against adversary family \mathcal{F} if for any adversary $\mathsf{Adv} \in \mathcal{F}$, for an arbitrary server-side register S,

$$|\Pi_{=\boldsymbol{x}_0||\boldsymbol{x}_1}^{\boldsymbol{S}}\mathsf{Adv}\,|\varphi\rangle\,|\leq \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

where $\Pi_{=\mathbf{x}_0||\mathbf{x}_1}^{\mathbf{S}}$ is a projection onto the subspace that the content of \mathbf{S} is equal to the content of $\mathbf{x}_0||\mathbf{x}_1$. We omit \mathcal{F} when it is taken to be the set of polynomial time server-side operations.

And we further generalize it to the multi key pair setting:

Definition 6.4 (Strongly claw-free). Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs in register $(\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}$ where $\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)}=(\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(i)},\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(i)})$. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is strongly-claw-free for any key pair in $(\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}$ if for any $i\in D$, $|\varphi\rangle\odot((\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}-\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})$ is claw-free for $\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)}$, where $|\varphi\rangle\odot((\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}-\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})$ means, starting from $|\varphi\rangle$, the client sends all the keys except the *i*-th key pair to the server.

6.3 Analysis of the Key-pair Superposition Preparation Step

We have the following theorem which characterizes the properties of output states from the first step of Protocol 2 (a parallel NTCF evaluation).

Theorem 6.1. For any polynomial time adversary Adv, denote the output state of the first step of Protocol 2 as $|\varphi^1\rangle$. Then registers described in Section 6.1 are initialized, and $|\varphi^1\rangle$ is:

- efficiently preparable;
- key checkable for both $K^{(helper)}$ and K;
- strongly-claw-free for any key pair in $(\mathbf{K}^{(helper)}, \mathbf{K})$.

Note that we will interchangeably use $(\mathbf{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \mathbf{K})$ or $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in \{\text{helper}, [0, L]\}}$ to denote this tuple of 2 + L output key pairs.

 $^{^{14}}$ In general this server-side operation is implemented with the help of transcript registers (which are the Y registers).

Proof. The efficiently preparable property comes from the efficiency of Adv and the protocol; the key-checkable property comes from the correctness of NTCF. We only need to prove the strong claw-freeness.

If this is not true, there will be an index $i \in (\text{helper}) \cup [0, L]$ such that an efficient operation V can output both keys in $K^{(i)}$ given the other keys. Then we can construct an adversary that breaks the claw-free property of NTCF as follows:

- 1. Instead of interacting with the client, the server simulates all the other NTCF evaluations on its own excluding the *i*-th evaluation. In the simulated state the server has access to $((K^{(\text{helper})}, K) - K^{(i)})$ since the client-side key registers for this part are simulated. Denote the simulated state as $|\varphi\rangle$.
- 2. Then by the assumption V applied on $|\varphi\rangle \odot ((\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}) \boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})$ 15 outputs both keys in $\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)}$. This contradicts the claw-free property of NTCF.

Now we are ready to formalize a set-up that abstracts the property of the output state of the first step of Protocol 2. In the remaining proofs we could only refer to this set-up instead of applying Theorem 6.1 again and again.

Set-up 1. We use Setup 1 to denote the set of states that satisfy:

- The parties are as described in Section 4.1.
- The registers are as described in Section 6.1.
- The state is efficiently preparable;
- The state is key checkable for each key in $(\mathbf{K}^{(helper)}, \mathbf{K})$:
- The state is strongly-claw-free for each key pair in $(K^{(helper)}, K)$.

Basis-honest Form

We will define the basis-honest form as below. Recall that in the honest setting, the client holds a tuple of keys, and the server holds superpositions of keys. Correspondingly, in the malicious setting, if the server holds keys in superpositions (which are possibly entangled with some auxiliary registers since it's malicious), we call this form the basis-honest form.

Let's first introduce a convenient notation, the key vector.

Notation 6.1 (Key vector and subscript vector). Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$, $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)}), i \in [L].$ For subscript vector $\vec{b} \in \{0, 1\}^L,$ denote

$$\vec{x}_{\vec{b}} := x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$$

where $b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}$ are coordinates of \vec{b} , as the key vector of \tilde{K} under subscript vector \vec{b} . If the superscripts of keys start from 0, the subscript vector will be $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, and the key vector is defined correspondingly as $x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}x_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$.

Definition 6.5 (Basis-honest form). Below we define the basis-honest form of a tuple of key pairs K (or \tilde{K}), and the basis-honest form of a single key pair. For the first two bullets we use the register setup in Setup 1.

• Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs in registers K, and correspondingly the server holds register S_{bsh} . We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in a basis-honest form of K if it has the form

$$|\varphi\rangle = \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{K})} \underbrace{|K\rangle}_{\text{client-side } \mathbf{K}} \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\text{server-side } \mathbf{S}_{bsh} \text{ remaining registers}} |\varphi_{K,\vec{b}}\rangle$$
(101)

We define $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(K)}^{S_{bsh}}$, or simply $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(K)}$, as the projection onto the subspace that the content of S_{bsh} is a valid key vector of K.

¹⁵Here we slightly abuse the notation: we use the ⊙ notation on the simulated state to mean that the simulated client side registers are copied to the transcript registers.

- Correspondingly, for key tuple $\tilde{K} = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$, the basis-honest form is defined to be the state where the server holds a key vector of \tilde{K} . $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\tilde{K})}$ is define similarly.
- For this bullet we consider a general notion that is not necessarily under Setup 1. Suppose the client holds a key pair $K = (x_0, x_1)$ while honestly the server holds a key in K in register S_{bsh} . Define the basis-honest form of K to be the states in the form of

$$|\varphi\rangle = \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} \underbrace{|K\rangle}_{\text{client-side } K} \otimes \sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \underbrace{|x_b\rangle}_{\text{server-side } S_{bsh} \text{ remaining registers}} \underbrace{|\varphi_{K,b}\rangle}_{\text{(102)}}$$

And we use $\Pi_{\text{basihonest}(K)}^{S_{bsh}}$ to denote the projection onto the space that S_{bsh} holds a valid key in K, and we could omit the register superscript when there is no ambiguity.

Definition 6.6 (Approximate basis-honest form). If $|(\mathbb{I} - \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K})})|\varphi\rangle| \leq \epsilon$, we say $|\varphi\rangle$ is in an ϵ -basis-honest form of \mathbf{K} .

Definition 6.7 (Branch of a basis-honest form). Suppose $|\varphi\rangle$ is in a basis-honest form of a key pair K as shown in (102). For each $b \in \{0,1\}$, we call

$$\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} \underbrace{|K\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|x_b\rangle}_{S_{bsh}} |\varphi_{K,b}\rangle$$

the x_b -branch of this state.

Suppose $|\varphi\rangle$ is in a basis-honest form of a tuple of key pair K as shown in (101). For each $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, we call

$$\sum_{K \in \operatorname{Domain}(K)} \underbrace{|K\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S_{hoh}} |\varphi_{K,\vec{b}}\rangle$$

the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch of this state.

Note when we replace $\mathbf{K} = (\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ by $\tilde{\mathbf{K}} = (\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$ or $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in \{\text{helper},[0,L]\}}$, the definition could be adapted correspondingly.

6.5 StdBTest Implies Approximate Basis-honest Form

Below we analyze the implications of the standard basis test. We have the following lemma, which allows us to analyze the structure of a state on the server side assuming it can pass the standard basis test:

Theorem 6.2. Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs in register $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}$, where D is a set of indices in Setup 1. Suppose an efficient adversary Adv, operated on a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$, could pass StdBTest $((\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D})$ with probability p. Then there exists an efficient server-side operation O such that $O|\varphi\rangle$ is in a $\sqrt{1-p}$ -basis-honest form of $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i\in D}$.

Proof. Run the adversary's operation but do not do the final measurement. Swap the response register and $(S_{bsh}^{(i)})_{i \in D}$ (See Definition 6.5). The fact that it passes the standard basis test with failure probability 1-p implies the state on subspace $\mathbb{I} - \Pi_{\text{basishonest}((K_{(i)})_{i \in D})}$ has norm at most $\sqrt{1-p}$.

6.6 Useful Lemmas

6.6.1 Collapsing property

One useful lemma is the collapsing property, which is used in different forms in many previous works [41, 33]. Intuitively it says if the initial state is claw-free for a key pair then the superposition of two branches is indistinguishable to the mixture of two branches.

Lemma 6.3. Suppose a subnormalized state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 1, and is in the basis-honest form of $K^{(0)}$. Then for any efficient server-side operation O that output a single bit in a register S:

$$|\Pi_0^{\boldsymbol{S}}O\left|\varphi\right\rangle|^2 \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\Pi_0^{\boldsymbol{S}}O\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}\left|\varphi\right\rangle|^2 + |\Pi_0^{\boldsymbol{S}}O\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}\left|\varphi\right\rangle|^2$$

Look-up table encryptions do not affect claw-freeness

Then we give a lemma that formalizes the following intuition. If a basis-honest form state is claw-free for $K^{(i)}$, if we only consider one branch, for example, $x_0^{(i)}$ -branch, since the server already knows the value of $x_0^{(i)}$, it won't be able to predict $x_1^{(i)}$ by claw-freeness. This is still true even if the server additionally gets polynomial number of ciphertexts encrypted under $x_1^{(i)}$. Formally, we have the following lemma, which will be useful later.

Lemma 6.4. Suppose a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 1 and is in a basis-honest form of $K^{(i)}$ with only the $x_b^{(i)}$ -branch, for some $i \in \{helper\} \cup [0, L], b \in \{0, 1\}$. $N = poly(\kappa)$. $(p_{pre}^{(t)})_{t \in [N]}$ is a tuple of strings in $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}$, $(p_{post}^{(i)})_{t\in[N]}$ is a tuple of strings in $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}\cup\{\emptyset\}$. Define AuxInf as the following algorithm that generates a tuple of salted hash values of $x_{1-h}^{(i)}$:

$$\forall t \in [N] : sample \ R^{(t)} \leftarrow_r \{0,1\}^{\kappa}, \ output \ (R^{(t)}, H(R^{(t)}||p_{pre}^{(t)}||x_{1-b}^{(t)}), H(R^{(t)}||x_{1-b}^{(t)}||p_{post}^{(t)}))$$

Then $|\varphi\rangle \odot [AuxInf]$ is claw-free for K.

Finally we can show, if some key is unpredictable, the blinded oracle where these entries are blinded looks the same as the original oracle:

Lemma 6.5. Suppose a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 1 and is in a basis-honest form of $\mathbf{K}^{(i)}$ with only the $x_b^{(i)}$ -branch, for some $b \in \{0,1\}$. suppose H' is the blinded oracle where $\cdots ||x_{1-b}^{(i)}|| \cdots$ are blinded, where "..." represents arbitrary strings of a fixed length. For any efficient adversary Adv, denote Adv' as the operation that each query in Adv is replaced by a query to H'. Then

$$\mathsf{Adv} \ket{\varphi} \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{Adv}' \ket{\varphi}$$

We put the proof in Appendix B.

Rigidity of basis-honest form with strong-claw-free condition

We show a useful lemma that will be used for multiple times in later proofs. It says, if a state is in a basis-honest form with good security properties, if the adversary transforms it to another basis-honest form, each of the outcome branch should only come from the corresponding input branch:

Lemma 6.6. Consider a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 1. Then for any efficient server-side operation D there is

$$\Pi_{basishonest(\mathbf{K})}D\Pi_{basishonest(\mathbf{K})} |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}}^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}} D\Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}}^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}} |\varphi\rangle$$
(103)

where $\Pi_{\vec{x}\vec{r}}^{S_{bsh}}$ denotes the projection onto $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch (Definition 6.7).

Proof. $\forall i \in [0, L]$ define:

$$|\varphi^{i}\rangle = \sum_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(i)}\in\{0,1\}^{1+i}} \Pi_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(i)}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} D\Pi_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(i)}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\varphi\rangle$$

where $\Pi_{b^{(0)}b^{(1)}...b^{(i)}}$ denotes the projection onto the space that the values of $S_{bsh}^{(0)}S_{bsh}^{(1)}\cdots S_{bsh}^{(i)}$ are equal to the values of $m{x}_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} m{x}_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots m{x}_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}$. Additionally define

$$|\varphi^{-1}\rangle = \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K})} D \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K})} |\varphi\rangle$$

To prove (151) we only need to prove:

$$\forall i \in [0, L], |\varphi^i\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\varphi^{i-1}\rangle \tag{104}$$

The observation is, although $|\varphi^{i-1}\rangle$, $|\varphi^i\rangle$ are written as linear sums, there exists an efficient operation that exactly prepares this state from $|\varphi\rangle$. Recall $|\varphi\rangle$ has the form shown in (101). Let's give an operation that transforms it to $|\varphi^i\rangle$.

Initialize server-side auxiliary registers $A^{(0)}A^{(1)}\cdots A^{(i)}$, and define the following operations:

- Define $\mathsf{COPY}_{0\sim i}$ as the operation that copies (bit-wise CNOT) the contents of $S_{bsh}^{(0)}S_{bsh}^{(1)}\cdots S_{bsh}^{(i)}$ to registers $A^{(0)}A^{(1)}\cdots A^{(i)}$. Define COPY_i as the operator that only copies $S_{bsh}^{(i)}$ to $A^{(i)}$.
- Define $\Pi_{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(0)} \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(i)} = \mathbf{A}^{(0)} \mathbf{A}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{A}^{(i)}$ as the operator that projects onto the space that the values of $\mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(0)} \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}$ are equal to $\mathbf{A}^{(0)} \mathbf{A}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{A}^{(i)}$. Define $\Pi_{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(i)} = \mathbf{A}^{(i)}}$ as the operator that projects onto the space that $\mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}$ is equal to $\mathbf{A}^{(i)}$.

Then:

$$|\varphi^{i}\rangle = \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}\mathsf{COPY}_{0\sim i} \circ \Pi_{\boldsymbol{S}_{1.1}^{(0)},\boldsymbol{S}_{1.1}^{(1)},\cdots \boldsymbol{S}_{1.1}^{(i)} = \boldsymbol{A}^{(0)}\boldsymbol{A}^{(1)}...\boldsymbol{A}^{(i)}}D \circ \mathsf{COPY}_{0\sim i} \circ \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\varphi\rangle$$

Similarly

$$|\varphi^{i-1}\rangle = \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}\mathsf{COPY}_{0\sim i-1} \circ \Pi_{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsb}^{(0)}\boldsymbol{S}_{bsb}^{(1)}\cdots\boldsymbol{S}_{bsb}^{(i-1)} = \boldsymbol{A}^{(0)}\boldsymbol{A}^{(1)}\cdots\boldsymbol{A}^{(i-1)}D} \circ \mathsf{COPY}_{0\sim i-1} \circ \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\varphi\rangle$$

Define $\mathcal{P} = \mathsf{COPY}_{0 \sim i-1} \circ \Pi_{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(0)} \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{S}_{bsh}^{(i-1)} = \mathbf{A}^{(0)} \mathbf{A}^{(1)} \cdots \mathbf{A}^{(i-1)}} D \circ \mathsf{COPY}_{0 \sim i-1}$. Then (104) is reduced to proving

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \mathcal{P}\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \mathsf{COPY}_i \circ \Pi_{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)} = \boldsymbol{A}^{(i)}} \circ \mathcal{P} \circ \mathsf{COPY}_i \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\varphi\rangle$$

$$\tag{105}$$

Denote $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}}$ as the operator that projects onto the $\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(i)}$ -branch of the basis-honest form. Then the left hand side of (105) is

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \mathcal{P} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \left| \varphi \right\rangle = \sum_{b,b' \in \{0,1\}^2} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b'}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \mathcal{P} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \left| \varphi \right\rangle$$

and the right hand side of (105) is

$$\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \mathcal{P} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \left| \varphi \right\rangle$$

then (105) is further reduced to

$$\sum_{b,b' \in \{0,1\}^2, b \neq b'} \prod_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b'}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \circ \mathcal{P} \circ \prod_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b'}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(i)}} \prod_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0 \tag{106}$$

which holds by the claw-free property of $|\varphi\rangle$.

7 The Helper Gadget Method

In this section we analyze the helper gadget method and how it affects the security properties of Protocol 2. We have discussed the helper gadget method briefly in the introduction; below (in Section 7.1) we will review it and discuss its formal analysis. The formal lemma behind the helper gadget method is given and proved in Section 7.2, based on the notion of *blinded oracle* and several basic lemmas on RO-padded Hadamard test. Then in Section 7.3 we analyze the implications of the helper gadget method in preRSPV (Protocol 2).

7.1 Overview

As discussed in the introduction, in the helper gadget method we design protocols that go as follows:

- 1. Encode a mapping onto a helper gadget;
- 2. Do a Hadamard test (Protocol 7) on the helper gadget. This destroys the helper gadget.

The helper gadget is used as a "switch" that controls whether the adversary could make use of the mapping. With the helper gadget, the honest server could implement the mapping; the problem is how to characterize the adversaries' view, assuming it wants to pass the Hadamard test with high probability.

An intuitive discussion on Hadamard test We need to formalize the intuition that

K is a key pair, and the initial state is claw-free for K. If the server wants to pass the RO-padded Hadamard test for K, it loses the keys after the test.

As [55] pointed out, passing the RO-padded Hadamard test implies the server could not do powerful things about K from the post-test state. However the lemmas given in [55] are not suitable for our purpose here. Here we give a lemma that captures the properties of RO-padded Hadamard test in terms of blinded oracle (Section 3.3). Our analysis of the RO-padded Hadamard test could also be of independent interest elsewhere.

Suppose the Hadamard test is on key pair $K^{\text{(helper)}}$ and initial state $|\varphi\rangle$. Suppose the post-test state is $|\varphi'\rangle$. To formalize the intuition above, we consider a *blinded oracle H'* where the entries in the form of $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{\text{(helper)}}||\cdots$ are blinded. Then we will show, informally, if the test passes with high probability:

Starting from $|\varphi'\rangle$, for any efficient adversary, querying H and querying H' should end up with similar states.

The formal statement goes roughly as follows. For any efficient operator D on the post-test state, define D' as the blinded version of D where all the random oracle queries in D are replaced by queries to H', there is

$$D'|\varphi'\rangle \approx D|\varphi'\rangle \tag{107}$$

How is (107) related to the intuition above? If the server could still predict a key in K from the post-test state, it can query the oracle with this key and make two sides of (107) quite different. Thus (107) describes (and strengthens) the intuition above.

This statement gives what we want from the helper gadget method: the ciphertexts within our lookup tables (which encrypt the phases) are encrypted under $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots$; and after applying this lemma, we only need to analyze a blinded oracle where this form of entries are blinded, which means the phase information encrypted under these lookup tables will become secret again.

The formal theorem is given below in Theorem 7.1.

7.2 Analysis of Helper Gadget Method and RO-padded Hadamard Test

7.2.1 Helper gadget method

We first formalize the set-up of the theorem as follows. We note in this subsection we do not follow the register symbols in Section 6.1; specifically, K will be used to denote a key pair, to make our lemmas more general.

Set-up 2. Suppose the parties are formalized in Section 4.1. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K = (x_0, x_1)$. Define $SETUP^2(K)$ as the set of purified joint states that are

- efficiently preparable;
- key checkable for **K**;
- \bullet claw-free for K.

In addition, a transcript register \mathbf{d} is initialized, whose length is equal to the length of keys in \mathbf{K} plus κ (security parameter).

Theorem 7.1. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K^{(helper)}$. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle \in SETUP^2(K^{(helper)})$ is in the ϵ -basis-honest form of $K^{(helper)}$. For any polynomial time adversary Adv, denote the post-execution state of the RO-padded Hadamard test as

$$|arphi'
angle = \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(oldsymbol{K}^{(helper)};1^{\kappa})\,|arphi
angle$$

Then at least one of the following two is true:

• (Small passing probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi'\rangle|^2 \le 1-p$$

• (RO hiding) Suppose H' is the blinded oracle where the entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(helper)}||\cdots$ are blinded. For any efficient operation D, suppose D' is the blinded version of D where all the oracle queries are replaced by queries to H'. Then

$$D'|\varphi'\rangle \approx_{8\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D|\varphi'\rangle \tag{108}$$

To prove this theorem, we need to analyze the RO-padded Hadamard test. We first prove some basic lemmas on this test. Note these lemmas will also be independently useful in later proofs.

7.2.2 Analysis of RO-padded Hadamard test

We first introduce the following notations which explicitly describe the passing/failing and winning/losing conditions of these Hadamard test. Below we will use these notations to describe the output of Hadamard test.

Notation 7.1. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K = (x_0, x_1)$. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle \in \text{SETUP}^2(K)$. Recall that in HadamardTest the client first sample a random padding in $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}$, denote the register storing it as pad. Define the following operators on system d (introduced in SETUP²):

• $\Pi_{(79)=0}^{d}$ denotes the projection onto the space that the values of client side registers x_0, x_1 , the transcript registers d, pad, and the random oracle registers satisfy: the result of calculation of (79) is 0:

$$d \cdot (x_0||\underbrace{H(pad||x_0)}_{\kappa \text{ bits}}) + d \cdot (x_1||H(pad||x_1)) = 0$$

- $\Pi_{(79)=1}^d$ is defined similarly.
- $\Pi_{=0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }d}$ is the projection onto the space that the last κ bits of d is all zero. $\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }d}$ is defined as its complement. Note this is one of the client's checking in HadamardTest.

The following lemma studies the output property of HadamardTest on a single branch:

Lemma 7.2. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K = (x_0, x_1)$. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle \in SETUP^2(K)$ and is in the basis-honest form of K with only x_0 branch. Then for any efficient adversary Adv there is

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\textit{\textbf{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last\ \kappa\ bits\ of\ \textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{\textbf{K}}};1^{\kappa})\ |\varphi\rangle\ | \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last\ \kappa\ bits\ of\ \textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{\textbf{K}}};1^{\kappa})\ |\varphi\rangle\ |$$

$$|\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\textit{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{K}};1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi\rangle \, | \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{K}};1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi\rangle \, |$$

Then we have the following corollary, which studies the relations of two branches if a state could pass the HadamardTest:

Corollary 7.3. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $\mathbf{K} = (\mathbf{x}_0, \mathbf{x}_1)$. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle \in SETUP^2(\mathbf{K})$ and is in an ϵ -basis-honest form of \mathbf{K} . Denote the \mathbf{x}_0 -branch as $|\varphi_0\rangle$ and \mathbf{x}_1 -branch as $|\varphi_1\rangle$. If an efficient adversary Adv could make the client output pass in the Hadamard test (Protocol 5) from initial state $|\varphi\rangle$ with probability $\geq 1 - p$, then

$$\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{0} \rangle$$

$$\approx \sqrt{2(p+2\epsilon) + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{1} \rangle$$

$$(109)$$

 $\Pi_{=0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ d} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}; 1^{\kappa}) \ |\varphi_0\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0,$

$$\Pi_{=0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ d} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}; 1^{\kappa}) \ | \varphi_1 \rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0 \tag{110}$$

$$\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{0} \rangle$$

$$\approx_{\sqrt{p+\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} - \Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{1} \rangle$$
(111)

These lemmas are proved in Appendix C.

7.2.3 Proof of Theorem 7.1

Now we give the proof of Theorem 7.1 with this lemma.

Proof of Theorem 7.1. Suppose $|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi'\rangle|^2 \geq 1-p$. Denote the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(\text{helper})}$ -branch of $|\varphi\rangle$ as $|\varphi_0\rangle$ and $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(\text{helper})}$ -branch of $|\varphi\rangle$ as $|\varphi_1\rangle$. Then $|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})})} |\varphi\rangle = |\varphi_0\rangle + |\varphi_1\rangle$. Define the corresponding output term:

$$|arphi_0'
angle = \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(oldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})};1^{\kappa})\,|arphi_0
angle$$

$$|\varphi_1'\rangle = \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})}; 1^\kappa) \, |\varphi_1\rangle$$

Then

$$|\varphi'\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} |\varphi_0'\rangle + |\varphi_1'\rangle$$
 (112)

We will blind the oracle in two steps.

1. Define \mathbf{H}^{mid} as the blinded oracle where the entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||x_0^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots$ are blinded. Define D^{mid} as the adversary where all the random oracle queries in D are replaced by queries to H^{mid} . Our goal is to prove

$$D^{mid} \left| \varphi' \right\rangle \approx_{4\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D \left| \varphi' \right\rangle \tag{113}$$

The reason is as follows.

We will first analyze the effect of replacing D by D^{mid} on $|\varphi_1'\rangle$. Intuitively $|\varphi_1\rangle$ is the $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(\text{helper})}$ -branch, the server could not predict $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(\text{helper})}$ by claw-freeness thus the blinding operation on $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(\text{helper})}$ -related entries will not be detected. Formally speaking, the following is implied by Lemma 6.5:

$$D^{mid} \left| \varphi_1' \right\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D \left| \varphi_1' \right\rangle \tag{114}$$

Then since the d register, after generated in the Hadamard test, is read-only, both sides of (114) are still close to each other if a projection on a subset of possible values of d is applied. Concretely:

$$D^{mid}\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_{1}'\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_{1}'\rangle, \tag{115}$$

$$D^{mid}\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_{1}'\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_{1}'\rangle \tag{116}$$

Now we use properties of the Hadamard test to argue about the $|\varphi_0\rangle$ branch. By Corollary 7.3 we have

$$\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{2(p+2\epsilon)} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}} |\varphi_1'\rangle$$
(117)

$$\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+\epsilon}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} -\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_1'\rangle \tag{118}$$

which together with (115) (116) implies

$$D^{mid}\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{2(p+2\epsilon)}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle, \tag{119}$$

$$D^{mid}\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} |\varphi_0'\rangle$$
(120)

which together with (110) implies

$$D^{mid} \left| \varphi_0' \right\rangle \approx_{2.5\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \sqrt{p+\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D \left| \varphi_0' \right\rangle \tag{121}$$

which together with (114)(112) implies (113).

2. Now we hide the $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(\text{helper})}$ part using similar techniques. Consider \boldsymbol{H}' as the blinded oracle of \boldsymbol{H}^{mid} where the entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||x_1^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots$ are blinded. Then \boldsymbol{H}' could also be seen as a blinded version of \boldsymbol{H} where $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots$ are blinded. Correspondingly, D' is defined to be: in D^{mid} all the queries to \boldsymbol{H}^{mid} are replaced by queries to \boldsymbol{H}' . Then D' is also the blinded version of D where all the queries to \boldsymbol{H} are replaced by queries to \boldsymbol{H}' . Our goal is to prove

$$D'|\varphi'\rangle \approx_{4\sqrt{p+2\epsilon}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D^{mid}|\varphi'\rangle \tag{122}$$

Here we will start with the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(\text{helper})}$ branch of $|\varphi'\rangle$. By Lemma 6.5 there is

$$D' |\varphi_0'\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D^{mid} |\varphi_0'\rangle \tag{123}$$

Then arguments (115)-(121) hold after all the appearances of D in them are replaced by D', $|\varphi'_0\rangle$ are replaced by $|\varphi'_1\rangle$ and $|\varphi'_1\rangle$ are replaced by $|\varphi'_0\rangle$. Thus we get

$$D^{mid} \left| \varphi_1' \right\rangle \approx_{2.5\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \sqrt{p+\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} D' \left| \varphi_1' \right\rangle \tag{124}$$

Combining it with (123) completes the proof of (122).

Now combining (113)(122) completes the proof.

7.3 Helper Gadget Method in preRSPV

Now we return to the preRSPV protocol and see how the helper gadget method is used to argue about the security.

We will consider the post-execution state after the AddPhaseWithHelper protocol. Denote this post-execution state as $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$. Denote the remaining steps after AddPhaseWithHelper completes as $\mathsf{preRSPV}_{\geq 2.b}$. Denote the part of adversary in Adv for $\mathsf{preRSPV}_{\geq 2.b}$ as $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$. We will use Theorem 7.1 to show $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$ and the blinded version of $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$, when applied on $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$, is approximately close to each other.

Theorem 7.4. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 1 and is in an ϵ -basis-honest form for K. For any polynomial-time adversary Adv, suppose the state after the AddPhaseWithHelper step is $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$:

$$|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle = \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{2.a}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i \in (helper) \cup [0,L]}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi\rangle$$

where $Adv_{2.a}$ is the part of adversary in Adv in the AddPhaseWithHelper step. Suppose

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle|^2 \ge 1 - p. \tag{125}$$

Use \mathbf{H}' to denote the blinded version of \mathbf{H} where the entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(helper)}||\cdots$ are blinded. Denote $\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}$ as the adversary where all the oracle queries in $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$ are replaced by queries to \mathbf{H}' . Then we have

$$\operatorname{preRSPV}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}^{\geq 1.b}}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \approx_{8\sqrt{p+2\epsilon}+\operatorname{negl}(\kappa)} \operatorname{preRSPV}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}^{blind}}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \tag{126}$$

The difference of this theorem from Theorem 7.1 is the client might send additional messages to the server. Notice that the client-side messages in $\mathsf{preRSPV}_{\geq 2.b}$ will not take $K^{(\text{helper})}$ as inputs, we are able to reduce this theorem to Theorem 7.1 by constructing an adversary that simulates these messages.

Proof of Theorem 7.4. Note that in each step of preRSPV_{$\geq 2.b$}, the client's messages are output of some algorithms which take $(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i\in[0,L]}$ and $\mathbf{\Theta}$ as inputs, and $\mathbf{K}^{(\text{helper})}$ is not used any more. Consider an adversary (Adv_{$\geq 2.b$}) that violates (126). We can construct an adversary for breaking Theorem 7.1 as follows:

0. The initial state is

$$|\varphi\rangle\odot(\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in[0,L]}\odot\Theta\odot[\![\text{AddPhaseWithHelper}_1((\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in(\text{helper})\cup[0,L]},\Theta;1^{\kappa})]\!]$$
 (127)

where AddPhaseWithHelper₁ is the first step in AddPhaseWithHelper (where the client sends lookup tables that encode the phases).

By Lemma 6.4 we know (127) is claw-free for $\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}$.

- 1. The adversary executes $\mathsf{HadamardTest}(\pmb{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})};1^\kappa)$ with the client. It runs the code of $\mathsf{Adv}_{2.a}$ in this step.
- 2. The adversary simulates all the client side messages in $\mathsf{preRSPV}_{\geq 2.b}$ using $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ and Θ . Run $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$ with the simulated messages.

(127) satisfies the conditions required in Theorem 7.1. Since (125) holds we know the first case in Theorem 7.1 is not true. Then the violation of (126) implies a violation of the second case in Theorem 7.1, where D, D' in Theorem 7.1 translate to:

- D corresponds to $Adv_{\geq 2,b}$ run on simulated messages.
- D' corresponds to $\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}$ run on simulated messages.

This completes the proof.

Implication for later proofs The implication of Theorem 7.4 is, in the protocol analysis later, we can first use this theorem to replace the adversary by an adversary that only queries the blinded oracle. Especially, the phase information used in AddPhaseWithHelper is encrypted under the helper gadget keys, blinding this part of the oracle implies the secrecy of phase information in later steps.

7.4 Set-up for the Output State of AddPhaseWithHelper

In this section we formalize a set-up that captures the basic properties of the output states of AddPhaseWithHelper. In the later proofs when we need to further analyze the output state of AddPhaseWithHelper we could simply refer to this set-up.

Set-up 3. Setup 3 is defined as the set of states that could be expressed as

$$\mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(helper)},\boldsymbol{K}),\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi^1\rangle\,,\tag{128}$$

where Adv is efficient, $|\varphi^1\rangle$ is in Setup 1.

Accompanied with Setup 3, we introduce the following symbols for registers and describe the property of states in Setup 3:

Notation 7.2. We introduce the following notations that describe the transcript registers initialized in the first step of AddPhaseWithHelper:

The client-side messages in the first step of AddPhaseWithHelper contain ciphertexts that encrypt $\theta_b^{(i)}$ under $x_{b^{(\text{helper})}}^{(\text{helper})}||x_b^{(i)}|$ for each $i \in [0, L], b \in \{0, 1\}, b^{(\text{helper})} \in \{0, 1\}$. In the protocol it is denoted as

$$x_{b^{\text{(helper)}}}^{\text{(helper)}}||x_b^{(i)} \rightarrow \theta_b^{(i)} \tag{129}$$

Recall in Definition 3.7, 3.6, the ciphertext part of (129) is defined as

$$R_{b(\text{helper})\ b}^{(i)}, H(R_{b(\text{helper})\ b}^{(i)}||x_{b(\text{helper})}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{b}^{(i)}) + \theta_{b}^{(i)}$$
 (130)

where $R_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}$ is uniformly sampled from $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}$.

Denote the transcript registers that store (130) during the protocol by $\mathbf{R}_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}$, $\mathbf{ct}_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}$ correspondingly. Then related registers for (130) are:

$$\underbrace{\boldsymbol{x}_{b^{(\text{helper})}}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(i)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{b}^{(i)}}_{\text{client}}, \underbrace{\boldsymbol{H}(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})}}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{b}^{(i)})}_{\text{chient}}, \underbrace{\boldsymbol{R}_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}, \boldsymbol{ct}_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}}_{\text{transcript}}$$
(131)

and there is (recall Notation 3.3):

$$ct_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)} = H(R_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{\text{(helper)}}}^{\text{(helper)}}||x_{b}^{(i)}) + \theta_{b}^{(i)}$$

$$(132)$$

In summary, for any state in Setup 3, for any $i \in [0, L]$, $b \in \{0, 1\}$, $b^{\text{(helper)}} \in \{0, 1\}$, there are registers shown in (131) and their values satisfy (132).

We also introduce the following blinded oracle that accompanies Setup 3:

Notation 7.3. Under Setup 3, define H' as the blinded oracle where entries in the form of $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots$ are blinded. Define \mathcal{F}_{blind} as the set of server-side operators that could only query this blinded oracle.

8 Analysis of AddPhaseWithHelper

Starting from this section, we will move towards the security proof by analyzing each subprotocol. As described in the introduction, we will prove the joint state of the client and the server remain indistinguishable under a series of randomization operators.

In this section, we will focus on what the AddPhaseWithHelper protocol itself could tell us. The analysis will be based on the structure of phase tables.

Recall that each row of the phase tables used in this protocol has the following structure:

$$x_{b\text{(helper)}}^{\text{(helper)}}||x_b^{(i)} \to \theta_b^{(i)}; \quad i \in [0, L], b^{\text{(helper)}}, b \in \{0, 1\}$$

$$\tag{133}$$

Intuitively, the theorems that we prove in this section is based on the following intuition: if the server does not hold $x_b^{(i)}$, it could not decrypt (133), thus $\theta_b^{(i)}$ remains secure. (Recall by the claw-freeness the server does not know \boldsymbol{x}_b on the $\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}$ -branch, and $\boldsymbol{\theta}_b^{(i)}$ is the client-side register that stores the corresponding phase information.) Furthermore, for each $\vec{b} = b^{(0)}b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(L)} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, on the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch, the server holds $x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}x_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots x_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$ but does not know $x_{1-b^{(0)}}^{(0)}x_{1-b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots x_{1-b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$. Thus intuitively:

On the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch, the server-side state should not depend on the values of $\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(0)}}^{(0)} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$.

In this section we build the bridge between this intuition and the protocol as follows.

- In Section 8.1 we define the *basis-phase correspondence form*, which characterizes the states that perfectly satisfy the intuition above.
- In Section 8.2 we construct a randomization operator \mathcal{R}_1 , which transforms a general basis-honest form to a basis-phase-correspondence form.
- In Section 8.3 we show the output states of AddPhaseWithHelper are approximately invariant under \mathcal{R}_1 .
- Finally in Section 8.4 we formalize a new setup for the outcome of \mathcal{R}_1 , which will be used in later analysis.

8.1 Basis-phase Correspondence Form

As discussed in the technical overview, we define the basis-phase correspondence form as follows.

Definition 8.1. Assume the parties are as in Section 4.1 and the registers are as in Section 6.1. We say a state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in a basis-phase correspondence form if there exists states $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\vec{\theta}}\rangle$ for each $K \in \text{Domain}(K)$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, $\vec{\theta} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^{1+L}$ such that

$$|\varphi\rangle = \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\text{server-side register } S_{bob}} \otimes |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}}}\rangle$$

Recall $\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}}$ denotes $\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$.

8.2 Randomization operator \mathcal{R}_1

In this subsection we define the randomization operator \mathcal{R}_1 .

8.2.1 Intuitive discussion

Example 8.1. First we can recall that an intuitive introduction of the \mathcal{R}_1 operator is given in Example 2.1. Considering the x_0 -branch in the example, if we omit the unused registers, Equation (50) in the example becomes

$$|\Delta_1\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |x_0\rangle \to |\theta_1\rangle |\Delta_1\rangle |x_0\rangle$$
 (134)

Under Setup 3, considering the $x_0^{(0)}$ -branch as an example, (134) becomes

$$|\Delta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle \underbrace{|\theta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}} \underbrace{|x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{server-side register } \boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} \rightarrow |\theta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle |\Delta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle |x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle$$

$$(135)$$

We will see \mathcal{R}_1 is defined to be this type of operations applied on each possible superscript in [0, L] and each possible subscript in $\{0, 1\}$.

8.2.2 Formal definition

To formalize this operator, let's define an operator that operates on a $x_{1-b}^{(i)}$ branch of a basis-honest state, and randomizes the phase information register $\theta_b^{(i)}$ by swapping it with a completely new random value $\Delta_b^{(i)}$:

Definition 8.2. Recall in Setup 3 the client holds a tuple of key pairs in register $\boldsymbol{K}=(\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)})_{i\in[0,L]},$ $\boldsymbol{K}^{(i)}=(\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(i)})_{b\in\{0,1\}}.$ And the client additionally holds a tuple of phase pairs in register $\boldsymbol{\Theta}=(\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(i)})_{i\in[0,L]},$ $\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(i)}=(\boldsymbol{\theta}_b^{(i)})_{b\in\{0,1\}},$ $\boldsymbol{\theta}_b^{(i)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}.$ For a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$, expand the basis-honest part:

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K})} | \varphi \rangle = \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{K})} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{\Theta})} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\text{server-side register } \mathbf{S}_{bsh}} | \vec{x}_{b} \rangle$$

$$(136)$$

For any $i \in [0, L], b \in \{0, 1\}$, define SWAP_{1-b,b}⁽ⁱ⁾ as follows. First initialize randomness register $\Delta_b^{(i)}$ to hold uniformly distributed value $\in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$. Then SWAP_{1-b,b}⁽ⁱ⁾ is the following control-swap operation that acts nontrivially on the $\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}$ branch of (136) and swaps the value of $\boldsymbol{\theta}_b^{(i)}$ with the value of $\Delta_b^{(i)}$:

$$\underbrace{|\Delta_{b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\Delta_{b}^{(i)}} |K\rangle |\cdots, \underbrace{\theta_{b}^{(i)}, \cdots\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|\cdots x_{1-b}^{(i)} \cdots\rangle}_{\text{server-side register } \mathbf{S}_{bsh}} \qquad (K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0, L]}, K^{(i)} = (x_{b}^{(i)})_{b \in \{0, 1\}})$$
(137)

$$\xrightarrow{\operatorname{SWAP}_{1-b,b}^{(i)}} |\theta_b^{(i)}\rangle \left| K \right\rangle \left| \cdots, \Delta_b^{(i)}, \cdots \right\rangle \otimes \left| \cdots x_{1-b}^{(i)} \cdots \right\rangle \tag{138}$$

The operator acts as identity on the other branch and outside $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(K)}$.

Then the randomization operator \mathcal{R}_1 is to apply $\mathsf{SWAP}_{1-b}^{(i)}$ for all the possible i, b:

Definition 8.3. Consider the same register set-up as Definition 8.2. Additionally introduce registers $\Delta_b^{(i)}$, $i \in [0, L], b \in \{0, 1\}$, which are initialized to hold the state

$$|\$_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^{2(L+1)}}} \sum_{\forall i \in [0,L], \forall b \in \{0,1\}: \Delta_b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |(\underline{\Delta_b^{(i)}})_{i \in [0,L], b \in \{0,1\}}\rangle$$

Define randomization operator \mathcal{R}_1 as

$$\circ_{\forall i \in [0,L], \forall b \in \{0,1\}} \mathsf{SWAP}_{1-b,b}^{(i)}$$

Note that (1) for each i, b the SWAP operator uses freshly new randomness; (2) \circ denote the operator composition; since these SWAP operators commute with each other the order of applying these SWAP operators does not matter; (3) when we say "randomizing a state $|\varphi\rangle$ with \mathcal{R}_1 ", we mean applying \mathcal{R}_1 on $|\$_1\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle$.

We will show:

- Applying \mathcal{R}_1 to the output of AddPhaseWithHelper keeps the state indistinguishable;
- Applying \mathcal{R}_1 takes the state to a class of states that satisfy specific properties.

8.2.3 Preparation for the proof: ReviseRO Operator

We note there is an important missing factor in Example 2.1 and discussions around (134)(135). In the outcome from the real protocol (characterized by Setup 3), the server also has access to the ciphertexts in the messages of AddPhaseWithHelper. Taking this into consideration, the left hand side of (135) should be replaced by

$$\underbrace{|\Delta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{randomness for }\mathcal{R}_{1}}\underbrace{|H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(0)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{1}^{(0)})\rangle}_{H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{0}^{(i)})}\underbrace{|H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(0)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{1}^{(0)})}_{\theta_{1}^{(0)}}\underbrace{|H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(0)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},1}^{(0)}||x_{1}^{(0)})}_{\text{server-side }S_{bsh}^{(0)}}$$

$$(139)$$

Taking these ciphertexts into consideration, the swapping operator in \mathcal{R}_1 does not keep the state invariant, since after the swapping the random oracle content, $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ register, and the \boldsymbol{ct} register does not necessarily satisfy Equation (132) given in Setup 3. To address this problem, we note that what we want is only the state remains indistinguishable under \mathcal{F}_{blind} . This allows us to first introduce a ReviseRO operator that erases the content of the random oracle registers in (139). After the application of ReviseRO, \mathcal{R}_1 will keep the state approximately invariant.

Definition 8.4 (ReviseRO). Under Setup 3, for each $i \in [0, L], b^{(\text{helper})} \in \{0, 1\}, b \in \{0, 1\},$ the ReviseRO $_{b^{(\text{helper})}, b}^{(i)}$ operator is defined as follows. Here we omit the client-side key registers and some other registers that are not directly used in ReviseRO $_{b^{(\text{helper})}, b}^{(i)}$ (for example, $\boldsymbol{R}_{b^{(\text{helper})}, b}^{(i)}$; it is only used to index the random oracle registers).

$$\underbrace{|H(R_{b^{(\text{lelper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})}}^{(\text{helper})}||x_{b}^{(i)})\rangle}_{H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b}^{(i)}) + \theta_{b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{b}^{(i)}} \underbrace{|H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b}^{(i)}) + \theta_{b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{ct}_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}}$$
(140)

$$\frac{\mathbb{E}_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}}{H(R_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{\text{(helper)}}}^{(helper)}||x_{b}^{(i)})} \underbrace{|\theta_{b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\theta_{b}^{(i)}} \underbrace{|H(R_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(helper)}||x_{b}^{(i)}) + \theta_{b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{ct_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}} \tag{141}$$

Then define ReviseRO to be the following operation:

- 1. For each $i \in [0, L], b^{\text{(helper)}} \in \{0, 1\}, b \in \{0, 1\}$:
 - (a) Apply $\mathsf{ReviseRO}_{b^{(\mathrm{helper})},b}^{(i)}$.
 - (b) Apply Hadamard gates on each bit of RO register $H(R_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{\text{(helper)}}}^{\text{(helper)}}||x_{b}^{(i)})$.

The second step above is to re-create uniformly random coins for the random oracle, and thus preserve the validity of the state in the random oracle model (Definition 3.4). Since this step only applies on the blinded part of H and the registers are expected to be in state $|0\rangle$ (as shown in (141)) and thus are not entangled with other parts of the states, this step will not have observable influence for operations in \mathcal{F}_{blind} .

Fact 8. Suppose $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 3. Then ReviseRO $|\varphi\rangle \approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}_{blind}} |\varphi\rangle$ where \mathcal{F}_{blind} is defined in Setup 3.

Proof. Recall that operators in \mathcal{F}_{blind} only have read-only access to existing transcripts and could not query the blinded part of H. Following the definition of ReviseRO completes the proof.

8.3 Phase Table Structure Implies Approximate Invariance Under Randomization of \mathcal{R}_1

The following theorem says the application of \mathcal{R}_1 keeps the state approximately invariant.

Theorem 8.1. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$ is in Setup 3. Then

$$\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{ReviseRO} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$$
 (142)

8.3.1 Linear algebra fact that connects state form to approximate-invariance of operator

To prove this theorem, we give the following linear algebra fact that says, if the state is close to a specific form, it is approximate-invariant under a randomization operator.

Fact 9. Suppose $|\varphi\rangle$ satisfies:

$$|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\theta\rangle \otimes |\psi\rangle$$
 (143)

Then

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \sum_{\Delta \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} |\Delta\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle$$

is 2ϵ -invariant under the following operator:

$$|\Delta\rangle |\theta\rangle \to |\theta\rangle |\Delta\rangle$$
 (144)

8.3.2 Proof of Theorem 8.1

Proof. Unrolling the definition of \mathcal{R}_1 , we only need to prove, for all $i \in [0, L]$, $b \in \{0, 1\}$:

$$\mathsf{SWAP}_{1-b,b}^{(i)}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{8}}\sum_{\Delta_b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \underbrace{|\Delta_b^{(i)}\rangle}_{\mathbf{\Delta}_b^{(i)}} \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \tag{145}$$

Denote the $\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}$ branch of $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$ as $|\varphi^{2.a}_{(i),1-b}\rangle$. Since SWAP_{1-b,b}⁽ⁱ⁾ only operates nontrivially on $|\varphi^{2.a}_{(i),1-b}\rangle$, (145) is further reduced to proving

$$\mathsf{SWAP}_{1-b,b}^{(i)}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{8}}\sum_{\Delta_b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\Delta_0^{(i)}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\varphi_{(i),1-b}^{2.a}\rangle) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\varphi_{(i),1-b}^{2.a}\rangle \tag{146}$$

Recall the definition of $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$ in Setup 3:

$$|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle = \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})},\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi^{1}\rangle$$

where $|\varphi^1\rangle$ is in Setup 1. Applying Lemma 6.6 we get

$$|\varphi_{(i),1-b}^{2.a}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})},\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa}) |\varphi_{(i),1-b}^{1}\rangle$$
 (147)

where we use $|\varphi^1_{(i),1-b}\rangle$ to denote the $\boldsymbol{x}^{(i)}_{1-b}$ -branch of $|\varphi^1\rangle$. To prove it, we are going to use Fact 9, a linear algebra fact that is proved previously for the preparation of this proof. We need to show $|\varphi^{2,a}_{(i),1-b}\rangle$ is close to a state that satisfies the condition of Fact 9 (that is, does not depend on $\theta_b^{(i)}$). This is by replacing state and operations in (147) by states and operators that does not depend on the values of $\boldsymbol{\theta}_{h}^{(i)}$ step by step:

1. Suppose the random paddings used within the AddPhaseWithHelper are sampled and stored in client-side register **R**. Since $|\varphi_{(i),1-b}^1\rangle$ is efficiently-preparable, by Lemma 3.4:

$$\exists |\tilde{\varphi}_{(i),1-b}^{1}\rangle \text{ independent of } \boldsymbol{H}(R||\cdots) : |\tilde{\varphi}_{(i),1-b}^{1}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\varphi_{(i),1-b}^{1}\rangle \tag{148}$$

2. Define Adv' as the adversary that compared to Adv, all the queries to H are replaced by H^{mid} where \mathbf{H}^{mid} is a blinded oracle where entries in the form of $\{0,1\}^{2\kappa}||x_b^{(i)}||$ are blinded. (Recall the key length of the helper gadget is also κ .) Intuitively, recall we are studying the $x_{1-b}^{(i)}$ -branch thus $x_b^{(i)}$ is not predictable by the server. Formally, by Lemma 6.5 we have

$$\mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{(i)}^{1}|_{1-b} \rangle \tag{149}$$

$$\approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}'}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathsf{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_{(i), 1-b}^{1} \rangle \tag{150}$$

3. Combining (148)(150) above we have

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}_{(i),1-b}\rangle := \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv'}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})},\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}^{1}_{(i),1-b}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\varphi^{2.a}_{(i),1-b}\rangle$$

and by its definition it is independent to random oracle output register $H(R|\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||x_h^{(i)})$. Recall the encryptions of $\theta_b^{(i)}$ in the client-side messages of AddPhaseWithHelper have the form

$$ct_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)} = h + \theta_b^{(i)}, h = H(R_{b^{(\text{helper})},b}^{(i)}||x_{b^{(\text{helper})}}^{(\text{helper})}||x_b^{(i)})$$

Thus after the application of ReviseRO_{b(helper),b} on $|\tilde{\varphi}_{(i),1-b}^{2.a}\rangle$ the overall state could be written as

$$\sum_{\substack{\theta_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}}} \sum_{h \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \underbrace{|\theta_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)}\rangle |ct_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\substack{\theta_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)} \in t_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)}}} \underbrace{|\psi_{ct_{b(\text{helper}),b}^{(i)}\rangle}_{\substack{b(\text{helper}),b}}}_{\text{other parts}}$$

That is, the rightmost term does not depend on the value of register $\theta_{b^{\text{(helper)}},b}^{(i)}$ (but could depend on the transcript register $ct_{h^{\text{(helper)}}h}^{(i)}$). Now the condition for applying Fact 9 is satisfied. This completes the proof of (146).

This completes the proof of (145) and completes the whole proof.

8.4 New Set-up

Now we are going to formalize a new setup that captures the properties of states after the randomization of \mathcal{R}_1 .

Set-up 4. Define Setup 4 as the set of states that could be written as

$$\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}|\varphi\rangle), |\varphi\rangle \text{ is in Setup 3.}$$

Since there have been lots of nesting in the definition, let's give a recap of the properties of states in Setup 4.

In Setup 4 the client holds a tuple of key pairs in register $\mathbf{K} = (\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, \ \mathbf{K}^{(i)} = (\mathbf{x}_b^{(i)})_{b \in \{0,1\}}$. And the client additionally holds a tuple of phase pairs in register $\mathbf{\Theta} = (\mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, \ \mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)} = (\mathbf{\theta}_b^{(i)})_{b \in \{0,1\}}, \ \mathbf{\theta}_b^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}.$ \mathbf{H}' is defined to be the blinded oracle where entries in the form of $\{0,1\}^{\kappa} ||\mathbf{K}^{(\text{helper})}|| \cdots$ are blinded, which covers the target registers of ReviseRO. \mathcal{F}_{blind} is defined to be the set of server-side operators that could only query this blinded oracle.

A state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4 satisfies:

- It is key checkable for each key pair in K by an operator in \mathcal{F}_{blind} ;
- It is strongly-claw-free for each key pair in K against efficient operators in \mathcal{F}_{blind} ;
- For each possible value Θ of registers Θ , the corresponding component of $|\varphi\rangle$ has norm $\frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathrm{Domain}(\Theta)|}}$.
- For any $i \in [0, L], b \in \{0, 1\}$, the $\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}$ -branch of $|\varphi\rangle$ does not depend on the value of $\boldsymbol{\theta}_b^{(i)}$.

8.4.1 Subtlety: states in Setup 4 are not obviously efficiently-preparable, and how to deal with it

We note that since the operator ReviseRO is introduced in the definition of Setup 4 the state is not obviously efficiently-preparable. But generally the lemmas that are proved with efficient-preparable property still holds for states in Setup 4 against adversary in \mathcal{F}_{blind} . The reason is ReviseRO is not observable by \mathcal{F}_{blind} , and \mathcal{R}_1 keeps the state approximately invariant by Theorem 8.1.

We list the following lemmas that will be used in later proofs.

Lemma 8.2 (Analog of Lemma 6.6). Consider a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4. Suppose $|\varphi'\rangle = \operatorname{Prtl}^{\mathsf{Adv}} |\varphi\rangle$ where the protocol Prtl and adversary Adv are both efficient and do not query the blinded part of H. Suppose $|\varphi'\rangle$ satisfies all the conditions in Setup 1 except the third bullet.

Use $\Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}}^{S_{bsh}}$ to denote the projection onto $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch (Definition 6.7). Then for any efficient server-side operation $D \in \mathcal{F}_{blind}$ there is

$$\Pi_{basishonest(\mathbf{K})} D\Pi_{basishonest(\mathbf{K})} |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}}^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}} D\Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}}^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}} |\varphi\rangle$$
(151)

The two lemmas below are analog of Lemma 7.2 and Corollary 7.3, and we use K' to replace K in these lemmas since the symbol K is occupied by the key tuple appeared in the protocol.

Lemma 8.3 (Analog of Lemma 7.2). Consider a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4. Suppose $|\varphi'\rangle = \operatorname{Prtl}^{\operatorname{Adv}_0} |\varphi\rangle$ where the protocol Prtl and adversary Adv_0 are both efficient and do not query the blinded part of H. Then suppose the client holds a key pair in register $\mathbf{K}' = (\mathbf{x}'_0, \mathbf{x}'_1)$, and $|\varphi'\rangle$ satisfies all the conditions in $\operatorname{SETUP}^2(\mathbf{K}')$ except the first bullet, and is in the basis-honest form of \mathbf{K}' with only \mathbf{x}'_0 branch. Then for any efficient adversary $\operatorname{Adv} \in \mathcal{F}_{blind}$ there is

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\textit{\textbf{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{K}}';1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi'\rangle\,| \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{K}}';1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi'\rangle\,|$$

$$|\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\textit{\textbf{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{\textbf{K}}}';1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi'\rangle\,| \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\textit{last }\kappa \textit{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{\textbf{K}}}';1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi'\rangle\,|$$

Corollary 8.4 (Analog of Corollary 7.3). Consider a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4. Suppose $|\varphi'\rangle = \operatorname{Prtl}^{\operatorname{Adv_0}} |\varphi\rangle$ where the protocol Prtl and adversary $\operatorname{Adv_0}$ are both efficient and do not query the blinded part of H. Then suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K' = (x'_0, x'_1)$, and $|\varphi'\rangle$ satisfies all the conditions in $\operatorname{SETUP}^2(K')$ except the first bullet, and is in an ϵ -basis-honest form of K'. Denote the

 \mathbf{x}_0' -branch as $|\varphi_0'\rangle$ and \mathbf{x}_1' -branch as $|\varphi_1'\rangle$. If an efficient adversary $\mathsf{Adv} \in \mathcal{F}_{blind}$ could make the client output pass in the Hadamard test (Protocol 5) from initial state $|\varphi'\rangle$ with probability $\geq 1-p$, then

$$\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}';1^{\kappa}) \ |\varphi_0'\rangle \\ \approx_{\sqrt{2(p+2\epsilon)+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}} \Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}';1^{\kappa}) \ |\varphi_1'\rangle$$
 (152)

$$\begin{split} &\Pi^{last \; \kappa \; bits \; of \; \boldsymbol{d}}_{=0} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}'; 1^{\kappa}) \, | \varphi_0' \rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0, \\ &\Pi^{last \; \kappa \; bits \; of \; \boldsymbol{d}}_{=0} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}'; 1^{\kappa}) \, | \varphi_1' \rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0 \end{split} \tag{153}$$

$$\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}'; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_0' \rangle$$

$$\approx \sqrt{p+\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) - \Pi_{(79)=1}^{\mathbf{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{last \ \kappa \ bits \ of \ \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}'; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi_1' \rangle$$
(154)

We put their proofs in Appendix D.

9 Analysis of Collective Phase Test (CoPhTest)

In this section, we will analyze the implication of collective phase test.

Before going to the protocol analysis, in Section 9.1 we will define a series of notions including the pre-phase-honest form, and the phase-honest form. Then in Section 9.2, we will define a new randomization operator \mathcal{R}_2 .

- Following the definition, we will show this operator will transform a state in Setup 4 (a basis-honest form with a specific property) to a pre-phase-honest form.
- In Section 9.3 we will show if an efficient adversary could pass the collective phase test from a state in Setup 4, the overall state could be further randomized under \mathcal{R}_2 .

9.1 Pre-phase-honest Form and Phase-honest Form

Let's assume the Setup 4 and assume the state is in a basis-honest form for K. We say this state is a pre-phase-honest form or a phase-honest form if it is a basis-honest form and has additional structure related to the phase information in Θ . Recall by Definition 6.7 and Notation 3.16 the basis-honest form could be written as a linear sum of different branches, and each branch could be written as the sum of different components based on different values of Θ register.

For preparation, let's first define the honest joint phase of a branch:

Definition 9.1 (Honest joint phase). Suppose the client holds a tuple of key pairs $K = (K^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$ and a tuple of phase pairs $\Theta = (\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}, \Theta^{(i)} = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)})$. For subscript vector $\vec{b} = b^{(0)}b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, we call SUM($\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}}$) = $\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} + \theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} + \theta_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} + \cdots + \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$ the honest joint phase for $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch when the value of Θ is Θ .

Then informally:

- A pre-phase honest form satisfies: if $SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_1}) = SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_2})$, then the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}$ branch is the same as the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_2}$ branch, excluding the registers that are necessarily different (which is the server-side key vector register S_{bsh} and the client side phase register Θ). But we do not restrict the phases of states with different $SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})$.
- A state in the phase-honest form means the branch $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ has phase $SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})$ besides the requirement in pre-phase-honest form.

Definition 9.2 (Pre-phase-honest form). We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4 is in the pre-phase honest form if there exists a family of states $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},sum}\rangle$ for each $K \in \text{Domain}(K)$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, $sum \in \{0,1\cdots7\}$ such that $|\varphi\rangle$ could be written as

$$\underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle}_{\text{server-side } S_{bsb}} \tag{155}$$

Definition 9.3 (Phase-honest form). We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4 is in the pre-phase honest form if there exists a family of states $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},-}\rangle$ for each $K \in \text{Domain}(K)$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$ such that $|\varphi\rangle$ could be written as

$$\underbrace{\sum_{\substack{K \in \text{Domain}(K) \\ \text{client}}} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes (e^{\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\text{i}\pi/4} |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},+}\rangle + e^{-\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\text{i}\pi/4} |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},-}\rangle)}_{\text{server-side } S_{beb}}$$
(156)

As expected, in the formal definition we need to take the complex-conjugate term into consideration.

9.2 Randomization Operator \mathcal{R}_2

Let's start to define the randomization operator that randomizes a basis-honest form in Setup 4 to a prephase-honest form. To do that, we will define an operator $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$ operated on the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch, for $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$.

Definition 9.4. Consider a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4 and a basis-honest form of K:

$$|\varphi\rangle = \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\text{server-side } S_{hsh}}$$

Define the operator $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$ controlled on a specific branch indexed by $\vec{b} = b^{(0)}b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}$, with randomness $\Delta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\Delta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$:

$$\underbrace{\left|\Delta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\Delta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\right\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}} \underbrace{\left|\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\right\rangle}_{\text{client-side registers }\boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}} \underbrace{\left|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\right\rangle}_{\text{server-side }\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \tag{157}$$

$$\frac{\stackrel{\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}}{\longrightarrow} |\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \rangle |(\sum_{i \in [0,L]} \theta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)} - \sum_{i \in [L]} \Delta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}) \Delta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \Delta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \rangle |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}{\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)} \theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}} \tag{158}$$

and acts as identity on the other branches and outside $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(K)}$.

This means:

- This operator only operates on the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch of the state, and randomizes the $\theta_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\theta_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$ information stored on the client side with randomness Δ . Recall that in the preRSPV protocol $\theta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}$ could be decrypted with keys in $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$. Thus this operator aims at randomizing the phases that *could* be decrypted by the server's keys, which is different from the operator \mathcal{R}_1 .
- The randomization is done in a way that for each branch, the honest joint phase (Definition 9.1) of this branch remains the same.

Then define the overall randomization operator for the collective phase test as the composition of $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$ for each \vec{b} , with suitable choice of randomness:

Definition 9.5 (\mathcal{R}_2) . For each $i \in [L]$, $b \in \{0,1\}$, initialize register $\Delta_b^{(i)}$ to store a uniform superposition of $\{0,1\cdots7\}$. Overall these registers are initialized to hold the state

$$|\$_{2}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^{2L}}} \sum_{\forall b \in \{0,1\}, i \in [L]: \Delta_{b}^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |(\Delta_{b}^{(i)})_{i \in [L], b \in \{0,1\}}\rangle$$

$$(159)$$

Define \mathcal{R}_2 as

$$\mathcal{R}_2 = \circ_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$$

which operates on a state in Setup 4 together with $|\$_2\rangle$.

We have the following theorems about \mathcal{R}_2 .

Theorem 9.1. On state $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4, \mathcal{R}_2 could be efficiently implemented with access to the transcript registers, S_{bsh} and registers of $|\$_2\rangle$.

Proof. \mathcal{R}_2 can be implemented through the following operations.

- 1. Use the key-checkable operators to calculate the subscript vector for keys in \boldsymbol{S}_{bsh} .
- 2. For the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch, controlled by the subscript vector \vec{b} , apply operator $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$.
- 3. Redo the first step to erase the temporary register that stores the subscripts.

Theorem 9.2. If $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 4 and is in a basis-honest form, $\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle)$ is in a pre-phase-honest form.

Proof. By the definition of pre-phase-honest form we can study the structure of each branch separately. For $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, denote the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch of $|\varphi\rangle$ as

$$|\varphi_{\vec{b}}\rangle = \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\Theta,\vec{b}}\rangle$$

where we make the client-side key registers implicit and make the phase registers explicit. By the condition that $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 4, we know $|\varphi_{\vec{b}}\rangle$ does not depend on the values of registers $\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(1)}}^{(1)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1-b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$. Thus we could write $|\varphi_{\vec{b}}\rangle$ as:

$$|\varphi_{\vec{b}}\rangle = \sum_{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta_{b}^{(0)},\theta_{b}^{(1)},\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}}\rangle$$

By direct calculation, after the application of $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$ it becomes (note that in the calculation below we omit some unused registers)

$$\begin{array}{l} \operatorname{Add}_{\vec{b}}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes|\varphi_{\vec{b}}\rangle) & (160) \\ = \sum_{\forall i\in[L]:\Delta_{b}^{(i)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\forall i\in[0,L]:\theta_{b}^{(i)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}} \underbrace{|\theta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\Delta_{b}^{(0)}\Delta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\Delta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|(\sum_{i\in[0,L]}\theta_{b}^{(i)}-\sum_{i\in[L]}\Delta_{b}^{(i)})\Delta_{b}^{(i)})\Delta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\Delta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{i\in[0,L]} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\Delta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\delta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|(\sum_{i\in[0,L]}\theta_{b}^{(i)}-\sum_{i\in[L]}\Delta_{b}^{(i)})\Delta_{b}^{(1)}\Delta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\Delta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}} \underbrace{|\phi_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\delta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)}\cdots\theta_{b}^{(L)}}$$

which has the form required in the pre-phase-honest form if we define

$$|\varphi_{\vec{b},sum}\rangle = \sum_{\forall i \in [0,L]: \theta_{b}^{(i)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}, \sum_{i \in 0,L]} \theta_{b}^{(i)} = sum} |\theta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b}^{(L)}\rangle \, |\varphi_{\vec{b},\theta_{b}^{(0)}\theta_{b}^{(1)} \cdots \theta_{b}^{(L)}}\rangle$$

9.3 CoPhTest Implies Approximate Invariance Under Randomization of \mathcal{R}_2

Now we give the following theorem, which says the ability of passing CoPhTest implies approximate invariance of the initial state under \mathcal{R}_2 .

Theorem 9.3. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 4 and is in ϵ_0 -basis-honest form. Suppose Adv is an efficient adversary that could make the client output pass in the collective phase test with probability $\geq 1 - \epsilon_1$ from initial state $|\varphi\rangle$. Then there is

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle) \approx_{(12\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \epsilon_0 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa))} |\$_2\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle \tag{163}$$

9.3.1 A linear algebra lemma that connects state structure with randomization

Before giving the formal proof, we give a linear algebra lemma that connects the structure of states implies approximate invariance of an operation.

Fact 10. Suppose $C = \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{1+N}$. Suppose $|\varphi\rangle$, $|\phi\rangle$ satisfy, there exist states $|\varphi_{c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N}\rangle$, $|\phi_{sum}\rangle$ for each $c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N \in C$, sum $\in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$ such that

$$|\varphi\rangle = \sum_{c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\in\mathcal{C}} |c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N}\rangle$$

$$|\phi\rangle = \sum_{c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\in\mathcal{C}} |c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\rangle \otimes |\phi_{SUM(c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N)}\rangle$$

$$|\varphi\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} |\phi\rangle$$

Then

$$\sum_{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \cdots \Delta_N \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^N} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^N}} |\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \cdots \Delta_N\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle$$

is 2ϵ -invariant under the following operator:

$$|\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \cdots \Delta_N\rangle |c_0 c_1 c_2 \cdots c_N\rangle \to |c_1 c_2 \cdots c_N\rangle |(\sum_{i \in [0,N]} c_i - \sum_{i \in [N]} \Delta_i)\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \cdots \Delta_N\rangle$$
(164)

Also as a preparation, we generalize Notation 3.17 a little bit:

Notation 9.1. We say a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ does not depend on the value of register C for the same f(C) if it can be written as

$$|\varphi\rangle = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \underbrace{|c\rangle}_{C} \otimes |\psi_{f(c)}\rangle$$

9.3.2 Proof of Theorem 9.3

Proof. Let's use $|\varphi'\rangle$ to denote the output state of running CoPhTest on $|\varphi\rangle$ against Adv:

$$|\varphi'\rangle = \mathsf{CoPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(K, \Theta; 1^{\kappa}) |\varphi\rangle$$

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{Dass}} |\varphi'\rangle|^2 > 1 - \epsilon_1 \tag{165}$$

The first step in the CoPhTest protocol is a call to the Combine protocol. This protocol combines (1 + L) gadgets into one single gadget. Denote the output state after this step as $|\varphi^{mid}\rangle$:

$$|\varphi^{mid}\rangle := \mathsf{Calc}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}) \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket) \tag{166}$$

where

• [Combine] is the client-side messages in this step; recall that in this step the client samples $(r_0^{(i)}, r_1^{(i)})$ for each $i \in [L]$ and prepares many look-up tables that encodes these r-values.

- Adv₁ is the adversary's operation in this step;
- Response is the operation that the server sends back a response (which is the output of Adv_1);
- $Calc(K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)})$ is the client-side operation that calculates $K^{(combined)}, \Theta^{(combined)}$ based on the server's response.

Let's first define some notations. In the passing space, suppose the server's measurement outcome (in other words, the output of Adv_1 above) is

$$r_{h^{(1)}}^{(1)}r_{h^{(2)}}^{(2)}\cdots r_{h^{(L)}}^{(L)}, b^{(1)}\cdots b^{(L)} \in \{0,1\}^{L}$$

$$(167)$$

Recall the key vector notation in Notation 6.1, when the key tuple is $K = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]} \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{K})$ and the phase tuple is $\Theta = (\theta_0^{(i)}, \theta_1^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]} \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{\Theta})$, the final $K^{(combined)}$ could be denoted as

$$K^{(combined)} = (\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1})$$

where

$$\vec{b}_0 = 0b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}, \vec{b}_1 = 1(1-b^{(1)})(1-b^{(2)})\cdots (1-b^{(L)})$$
(168)

Below we will use

$$\vec{b}_0 + \vec{b}_1 = \vec{1} \text{ (or } \vec{b}_1 = \vec{1} - \vec{b}_0)$$

to denote \vec{b}_0, \vec{b}_1 that satisfy (168), and use $0||\{0,1\}^L, 1||\{0,1\}^L$ to denote the domain of \vec{b}_0, \vec{b}_1 above. Correspondingly, the combined phases are

$$\Theta^{(combined)} = (\theta_0^{(combined)}, \theta_1^{(combined)}) = (\sum_{i \in [0,L]} \theta_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)}, \sum_{i \in [0,L]} \theta_{1-b^{(i)}}^{(i)})$$

Recall the notation of honest joint phase in Definition 9.1, this could be written as

$$\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)} = (\mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_0}), \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_1}))$$

Now we analyze the protocol. Starting from $|\varphi^{mid}\rangle$, with 1/2 probability both parties will do a standard basis test on $K^{(combined)}$. By (165) the passing probability of this step should be $\geq 1 - 2\epsilon_1$, by Theorem 6.2 we can expand the state $|\varphi^{mid}\rangle$ based on the combined keys:

$$\exists \text{ efficient server-side } O : |\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle := O|\varphi^{mid}\rangle, |\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle \text{ is } 1.5\sqrt{\epsilon_1}\text{-basis-honest for } \boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}$$

$$\tag{169}$$

We can assume the server-side register that holds one combined key is still S_{bsh} . Then we could expand the basis-honest part of $|\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle$ as follows:

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} | \tilde{\varphi}^{mid} \rangle = \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{K})} | K \rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{\Theta})} | \Theta \rangle$$

$$\otimes \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in 0 | |\{0,1\}^L, \vec{b}_1 \in 1 | |\{0,1\}^L: \vec{b}_0 + \vec{b}_1 = \vec{1}} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}\rangle}_{K^{(combined)}} \underbrace{|\mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_0}), \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_1})\rangle}_{\mathbf{\Theta}^{(combined)}} \otimes \underbrace{|r_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} r_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots r_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle}_{\mathrm{transcript}} \\ \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{\vec{b} \in (\vec{b}_0, \vec{b}_1)} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S_{beb}}$$

To show (163), we will first show:

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle) \approx_{11\epsilon_{1}^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle \tag{170}$$

Note that in the above expansion of $\Pi^{S_{bsh}}_{\text{basishonest}(K^{(combined)})} | \tilde{\varphi}^{mid} \rangle$ we are considering the basis-honest form for the combined key, and there are only two branches corresponding to two keys in $\mathbf{K}^{(combined)}$. Denote the two branches as $|\tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid}\rangle$, $|\tilde{\varphi}_1^{mid}\rangle$:

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid}\rangle = \sum_{K \in \mathrm{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes$$

$$\sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L, \vec{b}_1 \in 1 || \{0,1\}^L : \vec{b}_0 + \vec{b}_1 = \vec{1}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1} \rangle \left| \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_0}), \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_1}) \right\rangle \otimes |r_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} r_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots r_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)} \rangle \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0} \rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,\vec{b}_0} \rangle$$

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_1^{mid}\rangle = \sum_{K \in \operatorname{Domain}(\boldsymbol{K})} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \operatorname{Domain}(\boldsymbol{\Theta})} |\Theta\rangle \otimes$$

$$\sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L, \vec{b}_1 \in 1 || \{0,1\}^L : \vec{b}_0 + \vec{b}_1 = \vec{1}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}\rangle \left| \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_0}), \mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}_1}) \right\rangle \otimes |r_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)} r_{b^{(2)}}^{(2)} \cdots r_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}\rangle \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,\vec{b}_1}\rangle$$

Thus $\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}|\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle=|\tilde{\varphi}_{0}^{mid}\rangle+|\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{mid}\rangle.$

Then (170) is further reduced to proving:

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{0}^{mid}\rangle) \approx_{5\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{0}^{mid}\rangle \tag{171}$$

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{mid}\rangle) \approx_{5\epsilon_{1}^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_{2}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{mid}\rangle \tag{172}$$

Without loss of generality we prove (171). We first make use of the fact that the state and the adversary can also pass the Hadamard test (the other choice of the client in CoPhTest). By (165) the passing probability of Hadamard test is $\geq 1 - 2\epsilon_1$. By Lemma 6.4 we know $|\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle$ is claw-free for $\mathbf{K}^{(combined)}$. Then together with (169) by Corollary 7.3 there is:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) | \tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid} \rangle \tag{173}$$

$$\approx_{2.5\epsilon_{1}^{1/4}+\mathrm{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\mathrm{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)},\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)};\boldsymbol{1}^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{mid}\rangle \, . \tag{174}$$

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) | \tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid} \rangle \tag{175}$$

$$\approx_{2\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} - \Pi_{\mathsf{fail}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}_1^{mid}\rangle \, . \tag{176}$$

Applying Fact 10 (with details in the box below) we know:

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid}\rangle) \tag{177}$$

$$\approx_{2.5\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) |\tilde{\varphi}_1^{mid}\rangle. \tag{178}$$

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)},\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)};1^\kappa) \, |\tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid}\rangle) \tag{179}$$

$$\approx_{2\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} - |\$_2\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{fail}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) |\tilde{\varphi}_1^{mid}\rangle. \tag{180}$$

Proof of (178):

Recall (166). By Lemma 6.6 we have

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_0^{mid}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} \Pi_{\vec{x}_0^{(combined)}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} \circ O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1 \circ \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} (|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket) \ \, (181)$$

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{mid}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b}_{1} \in 1 || \{0,1\}^{L}} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_{1}}}^{S_{bsh}} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{1}^{(combined)}}^{S_{bsh}} \circ O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{1} \circ \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_{1}}}^{S_{bsh}} (|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket) \ \, (182)$$

Then substituting (181)(182) into (173)(174) we get

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)},\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)};1^{\kappa}) \tag{183}$$

$$\sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L} \Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}_0}^{(combined)}} \cap S^{bsh}_{\boldsymbol{v}_0^{(combined)}} \circ O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1 \circ \Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}_0}^{(combine]}} (|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)$$

(184)

$$\approx_{2.5\epsilon_{1}^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) \tag{185}$$

$$\sum_{\vec{b}_1 \in 1 || \{0,1\}^L} \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} \Pi_{\vec{x}_1^{(combined)}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} \circ O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1 \circ \Pi_{\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_1}}^{\vec{S}_{bsh}} \big(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket \big)$$

(186)

Recall that after the Combine process there will be a series of transcript registers that stores the server's response (167). Its subscripts $b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}$ determine the value of $\mathbf{K}^{(combine)}$. Then we can decompose (183)-(186) into a series of approximation relation for each $b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\cdots b^{(L)}\in\{0,1\}^L$ by Fact ??. Then notice $\Pi^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}}_{\mathbf{x}_0^{(combined)}}$ in (184) is non-zero if and only if the last L bits of \vec{b}_0 is equal to the subscripts of r-registers and $\Pi^{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}}_{\mathbf{x}_0^{(combined)}}$ in (186) is non-zero if and only if the last L bits of \vec{b}_1 is equal to $\vec{1}$ minus the subscripts of r-registers. Thus the decomposed approximate equation is as follows:

There exists a set of non-negative real values $t_{\vec{b}}$ for each $\vec{b} \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L$ such that, $\sum_{\vec{b} \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L} t_{\vec{b}} \le 2.5\epsilon_1^{1/4}$, and for all $\vec{b} \in 0 || \{0,1\}^L$,

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}} \big(\pmb{K}^{(combined)}, \pmb{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa} \big) \\ \Pi_{\pmb{x}_{\overline{b}}}^{\pmb{S}_{bsh}} O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{1} \Pi_{\pmb{x}_{\overline{b}}}^{\pmb{S}_{bsh}} \big(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket \big) \\ \approx_{t_{\overline{b}} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}} \big(\pmb{K}^{(combined)}, \pmb{\Theta}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa} \big) \\ \Pi_{\pmb{x}_{1-\overline{b}}}^{\pmb{S}_{bsh}} O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{1} \Pi_{\pmb{x}_{1-\overline{b}}}^{\pmb{S}_{bsh}} \big(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket \big). \end{split} \tag{188}$$

Expanding the operation of $\mathsf{HadamardTest}(\pmb{K}^{(combined)}, \pmb{\Theta}^{(combined)})$ we get

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) \\ \Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\overline{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{1}\Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\overline{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket \odot (\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(combined)} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(combined)}))$$

$$\tag{189}$$

 $\approx_{t_{\overline{b}} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \circ O^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa})$

$$\Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{1}-\vec{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{1}\Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{1}-\vec{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket \odot (\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(combined)} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(combined)}))$$

$$\tag{190}$$

and by the condition that $|\varphi\rangle$ in Setup 4 and the defining equation of the combined phases we know

(190) does not depend on the values of registers
$$\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(1)}}^{(1)}, \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(L)}}^{(L)}$$
 for the same $(\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)} + \sum_{i \in [L]} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{b^{(i)}}^{(i)})$.

(191)

Thus applying Fact 10 we get, for each $\vec{b} \in 0 || \{0, 1\}^L$,

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes (189)) \tag{192}$$

$$\approx_{t_r + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes (190)$$
 (193)

summing up for all the possible \vec{b} , substituting (181)(182) completes the proof of (178).

Summing (178)(180) implies (171). Similarly we prove (172). Thus we complete the proof of (170).

Then we port (170) to $|\varphi\rangle$. Recall $|\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle$ is defined by

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^{mid}\rangle := O \circ \mathsf{Calc} \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)$$

Note that Calc, the client-side calculation of combined keys and combined phases, commute with O and \mathcal{R}_2 . (Note \mathcal{R}_2 preserves the combined phases on each branch.) Thus we can omit it and get

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)) \approx_{11\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket) \ \ (194)$$

Starting from (194), apply the inverse of $O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1$, we have

$$\mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1}\mathsf{Response}^{-1} \circ O^{-1}(\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket))) \approx_{11\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket$$

$$\tag{195}$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1} \mathsf{Response}^{-1} \circ O^{-1}(\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} |\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)))$$

$$\tag{196}$$

$$\approx_{12\epsilon_1^{1/4} + \epsilon_0 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle \odot [\![\mathsf{Combine}]\!]$$
 (197)

Applying Theorem 6.6 we get

$$\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}\mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1}\mathsf{Response}^{-1}\circ O^{-1}(\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle\otimes O\circ\mathsf{Response}\circ\mathsf{Adv}_1(\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}|\varphi\rangle\odot[\![\mathsf{Combine}]\!])))$$

(198)

$$\approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} \mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1} \mathsf{Response}^{-1} \circ O^{-1}(\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(\Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} |\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)))$$

(199)

$$= \mathcal{R}_2 \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}^-} (\mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1} \mathsf{Response}^{-1} \circ O^{-1}(|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1(\Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}^-} |\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)))$$

(200)

$$\approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathcal{R}_2 \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} (\mathsf{Adv}_1^{-1} \mathsf{Response}^{-1} \circ O^{-1} (|\$_2\rangle \otimes O \circ \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}_1 (\Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} |\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine} \rrbracket)))$$

$$(201)$$

where (199)-(200) is because \mathcal{R}_2 applying only on the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch state could be seen as a local operator $\mathsf{Add}_{\vec{b}}$ applying on the Θ registers, and thus commutes with operations Adv , $\mathsf{Response}$, O.

(198)-(201) together with (196) implies

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle\otimes|\varphi\rangle\odot[\![\mathsf{Combine}]\!])\approx_{12\epsilon_1^{1/4}+\epsilon_0+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}|\$_2\rangle\otimes|\varphi\rangle\odot[\![\mathsf{Combine}]\!]$$

which completes the proof.

10 Analysis of the Individual Phase Test (InPhTest)

In this section we analyze the implication of the individual phase test (InPhTest).

- 1. In Section 10.1 we will give two linear algebra lemmas which are the basis for later proofs.
- 2. In Section 10.2 we show the optimal winning probability of InPhTest is OPT. Recall that the OPT is defined to be $\frac{1}{3}\cos^2(\pi/8)$ in Section 5.
- 3. In Section 10.3 we construct a randomization operator \mathcal{P} . We will show \mathcal{P} transforms a pre-phase-honest form to a phase-honest form.
- 4. In Section 10.4 we show InPhTest implies approximate invariance of a state (under Setup 4) under $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$.

We give a brief review and overview of our analysis of the InPhTest. Recall that in the InPhTest the client-side inputs are values of registers $\mathbf{K}^{(0)}, \mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)}$. Note that different values of $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)}$ corresponds to different server-side states. In more detail, when the value of $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)}$ is $(\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)})$, the malicious server's state, assuming it's in Setup 4 and basis-honest form of $\mathbf{K}^{(0)}$, could be expressed as (where we omit the client-side registers):

$$|x_0^{(0)}\rangle |\varphi_{0,\theta_0^{(0)}}\rangle + |x_1^{(0)}\rangle |\varphi_{1,\theta_1^{(0)}}\rangle$$

Then InPhTest aims at testing the following property on $|\varphi_{0,\theta_0^{(0)}}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{1,\theta_1^{(0)}}\rangle$: there exist states $|\varphi_{0,+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{0,-}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{1,+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{1,-}\rangle$ such that, up to a server-side isometry,

for each
$$\theta_0, \theta_1, b \in \{0, 1\}, |\varphi_{b,\theta_b}\rangle \approx e^{\theta_b^{(0)} i \pi/4} |\varphi_{b,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_b^{(0)} i \pi/4} |\varphi_{b,-}\rangle.$$
 (202)

The first term corresponds to the honest state case and the second term corresponds to the complex-conjugated honest state case. Then starting from (202), we can show the state is approximate invariant under \mathcal{P} and thus close to a phase-honest form.

The analysis towards proving (202) roughly goes as follows. In InPhTest (Protocol 11) both parties execute the Hadamard test with an extra phase bias. One of three choices of extra phase bias $\delta \in \{0, 1, 4\}$ is chosen randomly, which corresponds to two cases:

• $\delta \in \{0,4\}$: the server is required to make the client output pass in these two tests.

Considering the $\delta = 0$ case first. Suppose the adversary's operation maps $|\varphi_{0,\theta}\rangle$ to $|\varphi'_{0,\theta}\rangle$ and maps $|\varphi_{1,\theta}\rangle$ to $|\varphi'_{1,\theta}\rangle$. (Here θ in $|\varphi_{0,\theta}\rangle$ stands for $\theta_0^{(0)}$ and θ in $|\varphi_{1,\theta}\rangle$ stands for $\theta_1^{(0)}$.) Then use Π_0 to denote the projection onto the passing conditions (that is, $\Pi^d_{(79)=0}\Pi^{\text{last }\kappa}_{\neq 0}$ bits of d in Notation 7.1). Then the server could pass the $\delta = 0$ case implies

for each
$$\theta$$
, $\Pi_0 | \varphi'_{0 \theta} \rangle \approx \Pi_0 | \varphi'_{1 \theta} \rangle$ (203)

Then in the $\delta = 4$ case the passing and failing conditions are (almost) opposite to each other, we can show

for each
$$\theta$$
, $\Pi_0 | \varphi'_{0 \theta} \rangle \approx -\Pi_0 | \varphi'_{1 \theta + 4} \rangle$ (204)

(Recall that in the extra-phase-biased Hadamard test the adversary does not know δ directly, it only knows $\theta_1^{(0)} - \theta_0^{(0)} - \delta$; thus if we fix the transcript and make δ varies from 0 to 4 the client-side phase changes by 4 too.)

• $\delta = 1$: the server is expected to make the client output win to the score register with sufficiently high probability. As before we fix the transcript and the adversary's operation is applied on a suitable superposition of $|\varphi_{0,\theta}\rangle$ and $|\varphi_{1,\theta+1}\rangle$. Then could calculate the winning probability and get

the winning probability is the sum of
$$|\Pi_0|\varphi'_{0,\theta}\rangle + \Pi_0|\varphi'_{1,\theta+1}\rangle|^2$$
 for each θ (205)

Then:

- The optimality of OPT comes from bounding (205) under the conditions (203)(204) (and necessary properties on their norms). This is done in Section 10.2.
- When (205) is close to OPT, with this property together with (203)(204) we can prove these states satisfy some relations, which allow us to derive (202). This is done in Section 10.4.

10.1 Linear Algebra Lemmas for Self-testing of State Sequences

In this subsection we prove two lemmas by linear algebra. These lemmas will be used in the analysis of InPhTest.

First, we have the following lemma which leads to the optimality of OPT for winning probability:

Lemma 10.1. Suppose $|\phi_{0,0}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,1}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,2}\rangle$, \cdots , $|\phi_{0,7}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,0}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,1}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,2}\rangle$, \cdots , $|\phi_{1,7}\rangle$ satisfy the following for $\epsilon < 0.001$:

- There exist two non-negative real number A_0, A_1 such that $\forall i \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, \frac{1}{8}A_0 \epsilon \leq ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle|^2 \leq \frac{1}{8}A_0, \frac{1}{8}A_1 \epsilon \leq ||\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \leq \frac{1}{8}A_1, A_0 + A_1 \leq \frac{1}{2}.$
- $\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle |\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$
- $\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle + |\phi_{1,i+4}\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$

Then

$$\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle + |\phi_{1,i+1}\rangle|^2 \le \cos^2(\pi/8) + 11\sqrt{\epsilon}$$
(206)

We also have the inverse version of this lemma, which characterize the self-testing property of InPhTest. In more detail, if the left hand side of (206) is close-to-optimal, then these states should have a specific form, which is given in the following lemma.

Lemma 10.2. Suppose $|\phi_{0,0}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,1}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,2}\rangle$, \cdots , $|\phi_{0,7}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,0}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,1}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,2}\rangle$, \cdots , $|\phi_{1,7}\rangle$ satisfy the following for $\epsilon < 10^{-5}$:

- There exist two non-negative real number A_0, A_1 such that $\forall i \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, \frac{1}{8}A_0 \epsilon \le ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{8}A_0, \frac{1}{8}A_1 \epsilon \le ||\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{8}A_1, A_0 + A_1 \le \frac{1}{2}.$
- $\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle |\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$
- $\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle + |\phi_{1,i+4}\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$
- $\sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i-1}\rangle + |\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \ge \cos^2(\pi/8) \epsilon$

Then define

$$|\phi_{0,+}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,i}\rangle$$
 (207)

$$|\phi_{0,-}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,i}\rangle$$
 (208)

$$|\phi_{1,+}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\phi_{1,i}\rangle$$
 (209)

$$|\phi_{1,-}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{ii\pi/4} |\phi_{1,i}\rangle$$
 (210)

there is

$$\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{i \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\phi_{b,i}\rangle - (e^{i \cdot i\pi/4} |\phi_{b,+}\rangle + e^{-i \cdot i\pi/4} |\phi_{b,-}\rangle)|^2 \le 640\epsilon^{1/4}$$

The proofs of Lemma 10.1 and 10.2 are given in Appendix E.

10.2 Optimality of OPT in InPhTest

In this section we prove the optimality of winning probability in the individual phase test.

Theorem 10.3 (Optimality of OPT in InPhTest). Assume a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 4 and is in ϵ_0 -basis-honest form for $\mathbf{K}^{(0)}$. Then for any $\epsilon_1 < 10^{-5} - 2\epsilon_0$, any efficient adversary Adv, at least one of the following two is true:

• (Small passing probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(oldsymbol{K},oldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|arphi
angle\,|^2\leq 1-\epsilon_1$$

• (Small winning probability)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\left|\varphi\right\rangle|^{2} \leq OPT + 10(\epsilon_{1}+\epsilon_{0})^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Proof. Expand $|\varphi\rangle$ on the basis-honest form of $K^{(0)}$:

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} | \varphi \rangle = \sum_{\substack{K \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{K}) \\ \text{client}}} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\boldsymbol{\Theta} \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{\Theta})} |\boldsymbol{\Theta}\rangle \otimes \sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \underbrace{|x_b^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} \otimes |\varphi_{K,\boldsymbol{\Theta},b}\rangle$$

Define $|\varphi_0\rangle$, $|\varphi_1\rangle$ as the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}$, $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(0)}$ branches:

$$|\varphi_0\rangle = \sum_{K \in \mathrm{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_0^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,0}\rangle$$

$$|\varphi_1\rangle = \sum_{K \in \mathrm{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\mathbf{\Theta})} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_1^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,1}\rangle \,.$$

Then $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K}^{(0)})} |\varphi\rangle = |\varphi_0\rangle + |\varphi_1\rangle.$

Define $|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle$ as the component of $|\varphi_{0}\rangle$ where the $\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}$ register is in value θ_{0} and $\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)}$ register is in value θ_{1} :

$$|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle = \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta: \boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)} = \theta_{0}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} = \theta_{1}} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,0}\rangle$$
(211)

Similarly define the $|\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle$:

$$|\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle = \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta: \boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)} = \theta_{0}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} = \theta_{1}} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_{1}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,1}\rangle$$
(212)

Then we have

$$\left|\varphi_{0}\right\rangle = \sum_{\theta_{0},\theta_{1}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}}\left|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\right\rangle,\left|\varphi_{1}\right\rangle = \sum_{\theta_{0},\theta_{1}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}}\left|\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\right\rangle$$

Suppose

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\pmb{K},\pmb{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi\rangle\,|^2 > 1 - \epsilon_1 \tag{213}$$

Let's calculate the probability of winning, which happens in the $\delta = 1$ case in the extra-phase-bias Hadamard test (Protocol 7).

$$|\Pi_{\text{win}} \text{InPhTest}^{\text{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) | \varphi \rangle |^2$$
 (214)

$$\approx_{2\epsilon_0} |\Pi_{\text{win}} \text{InPhTest}^{\text{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |\varphi\rangle|^2$$
(215)

$$= \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\Pi_{\mathsf{win}} \mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^\kappa) (|\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle)|^2 \tag{216}$$

$$=\sum_{\theta_0\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}\sum_{\theta_1\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}\frac{1}{3}|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)},\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(0)},1;1^\kappa)(|\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle+|\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle)|^2 \tag{217}$$

$$= \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} \frac{1}{3} |\Pi^{\boldsymbol{d}}_{(79)=0} \Pi^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}}_{\neq 0} \text{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)};1^{\kappa})$$

$$(|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle) \odot (\theta_{1} - \theta_{0} - 1)|^{2}$$

$$(218)$$

Recall $\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}}$, $\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\boldsymbol{d}}$, $\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa}$ bits of \boldsymbol{d} are defined when we define the set-up of Hadamard test (Setup 2, Notation 7.1). In (218) we write explicitly the operations in which the client sends the relative phase with extra phase bias to the server, runs the protocol and projects onto the winning space.

Then we consider the $\delta = 0$ and $\delta = 4$ case in the HadamardTest($K^{(0)}, \Theta^{(0)}, \delta$) subprotocol. By (213) the passing probability for these two cases should both be $\geq 1 - 3\epsilon_1$. We can do a similar calculation as (214)-(218) and get:

• When $\delta = 0$, $|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(0)}, 0; 1^{\kappa}) \circ |\varphi\rangle|^2 \ge 1 - 3\epsilon_1$. Recall the passing space is $\Pi^{\boldsymbol{d}}_{(79)=0}\Pi^{\mathsf{last}}_{\neq 0} \stackrel{\kappa}{\to} \text{bits of } \boldsymbol{d}$. By Corollary 7.3:

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_{1} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \frac{1}{3} |\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \mathbf{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\mathbf{K}^{(0)}; 1^{\kappa}) (|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle - |\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle) \odot (\theta_{1} - \theta_{0})|^{2}$$

$$\tag{219}$$

$$\leq 6\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{220}$$

• When $\delta = 4$, the passing space is $\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\boldsymbol{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}}$ and $\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}}$ is in the failing space. Thus

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_{1} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \frac{1}{3} |\Pi^{d}_{(79)=0} \Pi^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } d}_{\neq 0} \text{HadamardTest}^{\text{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)}; 1^{\kappa}) (|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle) \odot (\theta_{1} - \theta_{0} - 4)|^{2}$$

$$\tag{221}$$

$$\leq 3\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0}$$
 (222)

Define

$$|\varphi_{b,\theta_{0},\theta_{1},\alpha}'\rangle = \prod_{(79)=0}^{d} \prod_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }d} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)};1^{\kappa})(|\varphi_{b,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle \odot \alpha) \tag{223}$$

Recall its subscripts correspond to the values of $\Theta^{(0)}$ register and the transcript $\alpha \ (= \theta_1 - \theta_0 - \delta)$ of a specific branch

Then define $|\psi'_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle$ as the part of state in $|\varphi'_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle$ excluding the registers $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)},\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}$. That is,

$$|\varphi'_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle = \underbrace{|\theta_0\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}} \underbrace{|\theta_1\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}} \otimes |\psi'_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle \tag{224}$$

By the basis-phase correpondance property described in Setup 4 we know $|\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle$ is the same for different θ_1 and $|\psi'_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle$ is the same for different θ_0 . Thus we could introduce the following notation for these two states, where these unnecessary parameters are omitted:

$$|\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\cdot,\alpha}\rangle, |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_1,\alpha}\rangle$$
 (225)

Then we can continue to calculate from (218):

$$= \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} \frac{1}{3} ||\psi'_{0, \theta_0, \cdot, \theta_1 - \theta_0 - 1}\rangle + |\psi'_{1, \cdot, \theta_1, \theta_1 - \theta_0 - 1}\rangle|^2$$
(227)

$$= \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} \frac{1}{3} ||\psi'_{0, \theta_0, \cdot, \alpha}\rangle + |\psi'_{1, \cdot, \theta_0 + 1 + \alpha, \alpha}\rangle|^2$$
(228)

We will make use of Lemma 10.1 to bound the expression above. For the conditions to apply this lemma, we know:

$$(220) \Rightarrow \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\cdot,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle - |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle|^2 \le 6\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$(229)$$

$$(222) \Rightarrow \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\cdot,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0-4}\rangle|^2 \le 3\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0}$$
(230)

Finally by Lemma 7.2 we can argue about the norms of these states:

$$\forall b \in \{0,1\}, \theta_0, \theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^2, \alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}, ||\psi_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\alpha}'\rangle|^2 \leq \frac{1}{2}||\varphi_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle|^2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \leq \frac{1}{128}||\varphi_b\rangle|^2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{231}$$

which together with (229)(230) allows us to apply Lemma 10.1 as follows. Define

$$|\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle = \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\cdot,\alpha}\rangle, \qquad (232)$$

$$|\psi'_{1,\theta_0}\rangle = \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_0+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle \tag{233}$$

Then (229)(230)(231) translate to

$$\sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\psi_{0,\theta_0}'\rangle - |\psi_{1,\theta_0}'\rangle|^2 \le 6\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$
(234)

$$\sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle + |\psi'_{1,\theta_0+4}\rangle|^2 \le 6\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{235}$$

$$\forall b \in \{0, 1\}, \theta_0 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, ||\psi'_{b, \theta_0}\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{16} ||\varphi_b\rangle|^2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$
 (236)

then we get

$$(228)$$
 (237)

$$= \frac{1}{3} \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} ||\psi'_{0, \theta_0}\rangle + |\psi'_{1, \theta_0 + 1}\rangle|^2$$
 (238)

(apply Lemma 10.1)
$$\leq \text{OPT} + 10(\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_0)^{1/4} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$$
 (239)

Substituting (214)(215) completes the proof.

10.3 Randomization Operator \mathcal{P} for InPhTest

We will define the randomization operator \mathcal{P} for the InPhTest. Different from \mathcal{R}_1 , \mathcal{R}_2 , this operator will be a projection operator and will not use additional randomness. Let's first give an intuitive discussion, and formalize it in Definition 10.1.

10.3.1 Intuitive discussion

Let's first consider the honest setting. The joint state of client side phase registers and the server-side state could be jointly written as

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{2}} \frac{1}{8} \underbrace{|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}} \underbrace{|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)}} \otimes \underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e^{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)} i\pi/4} |x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle + e^{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} i\pi/4} |x_{1}^{(0)}\rangle)}_{\text{server}}$$
(240)

which is equal to the sum of two branches:

$$\left(\sum_{\theta_{0}^{(0)},\theta_{1}^{(0)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}}\frac{1}{8}\underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}e^{\theta_{0}^{(0)}\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\left|\theta_{0}^{(0)}\right\rangle\left|\theta_{1}^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{\mathrm{client}}\otimes\underbrace{\left|x_{0}^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{\mathrm{server}}\right) + \left(\sum_{\theta_{0}^{(0)},\theta_{1}^{(0)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}}\frac{1}{8}\underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left|\theta_{0}^{(0)}\right\rangle e^{\theta_{1}^{(0)}\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\left|\theta_{1}^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{\mathrm{client}}\otimes\underbrace{\left|x_{1}^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{\mathrm{server}}\right)$$

$$(241)$$

We will define two sub-operators $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,+}$ that operate on the two branches correspondingly. $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ operates nontrivially only on the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}$ -branch (the first term of (241)) while $\mathcal{P}_{1,+}$ operates nontrivially only on the $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(0)}$ -branch (the second term of (241)). Without loss of generality, let's show the design of $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$. As before, we will also see the honest input state is indeed invariant under this operator.

First note the first term of (241) could be seen as the following state on $\theta_0^{(0)}$ register tensoring other registers:

$$\sum_{\theta_0^{(0)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} e^{\theta_0^{(0)} i\pi/4} |\theta_0^{(0)}\rangle$$
 (242)

Introduce an indicator register $indic_+$ which hold false value by default. Recall that $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,+}$ are projections; we will use this indicator register to record whether these projections are successful (which means, if these projections are applied on honest inputs, the projections will always be successful, and this register will be flipped to true deterministically). Then $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ applied on (242) goes as follows:

Equation (242)
$$\otimes \underbrace{|\mathsf{false}\rangle}_{indic_{+}}$$
 (243)

(Control phase gate that adds phase
$$e^{-\theta_0^{(0)}i\pi/4}$$
 on $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}$ register when it has value $\theta_0^{(0)}$) (244)

$$\rightarrow \sum_{\theta_0^{(0)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} |\theta_0^{(0)}\rangle \quad \text{(Note that it is } = |+\rangle |+\rangle |+\rangle)$$

$$(245)$$

 $(\mathsf{H}^{\otimes 3}, \text{ followed by a projection measurement on } \{|0\rangle\langle 0|, \mathbb{I} - |0\rangle\langle 0|\}; \text{ use true to indicate } |0\rangle\langle 0| \text{ and false otherwise})$ (246)

$$\rightarrow |0\rangle |0\rangle \otimes \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic} \tag{247}$$

$$\rightarrow$$
Equation (242) \otimes |true \rangle (249)

Besides $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,+}$, we also need to define $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,-}$, as follows. As discussed in Section 2.1, in the malicious setting there is no way so far to rule out the *complex conjugate attack*. Correspondingly, we define the sub-operators $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,-}$ that fix the complex conjugate of the honest state, which is

$$\sum_{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2} \frac{1}{8} \underbrace{|\theta_0^{(0)}\rangle |\theta_1^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e^{-\theta_0^{(0)} i\pi/4} |x_0^{(0)}\rangle + e^{-\theta_1^{(0)} i\pi/4} |x_1^{(0)}\rangle)}_{\text{server}}$$
(250)

The construction is similar to (243)-(249) with the following differences:

- Compared to (244) the phase is changed to $e^{\theta_0^{(0)}i\pi/4}$.
- The measurement results are stored in a different indicator register denoted by *indic_*.

Importantly, our construction of $\mathcal{P}_{b,+}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{b,-}$, $b \in \{0,1\}$ have the following properties, which can be verified by a direct calculation:

- When $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,+}$ are applied on (250), the outcome value in the indicator register $indic_+$ is deterministically false. When they are applied on (240) $indic_+$ is deterministically true.
- When $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$, $\mathcal{P}_{1,-}$ is applied on (240), the outcome value in the indicator register $indic_{-}$ is deterministically false. When they are applied on (250) $indic_{-}$ is deterministically true.

Finally define \mathcal{P} to be the sequential application of each of these four suboperators with suitable projections. (The constructions guarantee that the order of these suboperators does not really matter as long as the initial state is in some specific form). And the outcome of the indicator registers will indicate whether the server-side state has honest phases or conjugated phases.

Below we give the formal definitions.

10.3.2 Formalization

Definition 10.1. Consider the register setup in Section 6.1. Explicitly, we can assume a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ where the operators will act nontrivially on is in the basis-honest form of key pair $K^{(0)}$ (since our operators will act as identity on spaces outside this form):

$$|\varphi\rangle = \underbrace{\sum_{K^{(0)} \in \text{Domain}(K^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta^{(0)} \in \text{Domain}(\Theta^{(0)})} |\Theta^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} |x_b^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{K,\Theta,b}\rangle}_{b \circ b}$$

First define some intermediate operators that will be used in our construction.

• Define the control-phase operator that controlled on the $x_h^{(0)}$ -branch, adds a phase determined by $\theta_h^{(0)}$:

$$\mathsf{CPhase}_{b}(+) : \underbrace{|(x_{0}^{(0)}, x_{1}^{(0)})\rangle}_{\pmb{K}^{(0)}} \underbrace{|\theta_{b}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\pmb{\theta}_{b}^{(0)}} \underbrace{|x_{b}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\pmb{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} \rightarrow |(x_{0}^{(0)}, x_{1}^{(0)})\rangle \, e^{\theta_{b}^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \, |\theta_{b}^{(0)}\rangle \, |x_{b}^{(0)}\rangle$$

$$\mathsf{CPhase}_b(-): |(x_0^{(0)}, x_1^{(0)})\rangle |\theta_b^{(0)}\rangle |x_b^{(0)}\rangle \rightarrow |(x_0^{(0)}, x_1^{(0)})\rangle e^{-\theta_b^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} |\theta_b^{(0)}\rangle |x_b^{(0)}\rangle$$

- Define $M_{\theta_b^{(0)},indic}$ as the control-flip operator that flip the state of indic when $\theta_b^{(0)}$ register is in all-zero state.
- We use $\mathsf{H}_{\theta_b^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3}$ to denote the bit-wise Hadamard on client-side register $\theta_b^{(0)}$.

Initialize single-bit registers $indic_+$, $indic_-$ to hold false by default. Define suboperators as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} &= \mathsf{CPhase}_0(+) \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}, indic_+} \, \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{CPhase}_0(-) \\ \mathcal{P}_{0,-} &= \mathsf{CPhase}_0(-) \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}, indic_-} \, \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{CPhase}_0(+) \\ \mathcal{P}_{1,+} &= \mathsf{CPhase}_1(+) \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}, indic_+} \, \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{CPhase}_1(-) \\ \mathcal{P}_{1,-} &= \mathsf{CPhase}_1(-) \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}, indic_-} \, \mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3} \, \mathsf{CPhase}_1(+) \end{split}$$

Finally the overall randomization operator is:

$$\mathcal{P} = (\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}(\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}}\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} + \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}}\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}}) + \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}(\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}}\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} + \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}}))\mathcal{P}_{1,-}\mathcal{P}_{1,+}\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$$

Recall $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}$ is the projection onto the $\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(0)}$ -branch of the basis-honest part.

We add some comments for understanding this definition. First note $\mathcal{P}_{1,-}\mathcal{P}_{1,+}\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ are all defined to be unitary operators here and projections happen in (251). Note multiplication of commuting projectors is equivalent to logical and summation of orthogonal projectors is equivalent to logical or. If we focus on each single term of (251), and ignore the possible interference between different $\mathcal{P}_{b,\pm}$, this construction is the same as what we intuitively discussed in Section 10.3.1. In the next subsubsection we will formally analyze how the honest state, or its complex conjugate, evolves under this operator.

10.3.3 \mathcal{P} behaves well on states with honest phases or its complex conjugates

As discussed in the beginning of Section 10, we aim at testing (202). Here we first prove the form of states shown in the right hand side of (202) do behave well under \mathcal{P} . In more detail, \mathcal{P} will revise the indicator registers $indic_+$, $indic_-$; if the phase is $e^{\theta_b^{(0)}i\pi/4}$ as shown in the first term in (202) the $indic_+$ register will be flipped to true, and if the phase is $e^{-\theta_b^{(0)}i\pi/4}$ as shown in the second term in (202) the $indic_-$ register will be flipped to true. In addition, when the initial state is in the form of (202), \mathcal{P} behaves as a unitary; thus $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$ maps the state to the original state, which is similar to the case where $\mathcal{R}_1, \mathcal{R}_2$ are applied on corresponding honest states.

Below we formalize this discussion as a lemma.

Lemma 10.4. Suppose the register setup is the same as Section 6.1, especially, the client holds key pair $\mathbf{K}^{(0)} = (\mathbf{x}_0^{(0)}, \mathbf{x}_1^{(0)})$ and the corresponding phase pair $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)} = (\mathbf{\theta}_0^{(0)}, \mathbf{\theta}_1^{(0)})$. Suppose the purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ satisfies: for each $b \in \{0, 1\}, K^{(0)} \in Domain(\mathbf{K}^{(0)})$ there exist states $|\varphi_{K^{(0)},b,+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{K^{(0)},b,-}\rangle$ such that:

$$|\varphi\rangle = \underbrace{\sum_{K^{(0)} \in Domain(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta^{(0)} \in Domain(\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(0)})} |\Theta^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \underbrace{|x_b^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} \otimes \left(e^{\theta_b^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left| \varphi_{K^{(0)},b,+} \right\rangle + e^{-\theta_b^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left| \varphi_{K^{(0)},b,-} \right\rangle\right)}_{\text{client}}$$

Then $\mathcal{P}|\varphi\rangle$ is the linear sum of the following states:

$$\sum_{K^{(0)} \in Domain(\mathbf{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_{+}} |\mathsf{false}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{2}} \underbrace{|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}\rangle |\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(0)}} \otimes \underbrace{|x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{S}^{(0)}} \otimes e^{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}i\pi/4} |\varphi_{K^{(0)}, 0, +}\rangle \quad (252)$$

$$\sum_{K^{(0)} \in Domain(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\mathsf{false}\rangle \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \otimes \sum_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{2}} |\theta_{0}^{(0)}\rangle |\theta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |x_{0}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes e^{-\theta_{0}^{(0)} \mathsf{i}\pi/4} |\varphi_{K^{(0)}, 0, -}\rangle \quad (253)$$

$$\sum_{K^{(0)} \in Domain(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{indic}_+} |\mathsf{false}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^2} |\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}\rangle \, |\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |x_1^{(0)}\rangle \otimes e^{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1^{(0)}\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \, |\varphi_{K^{(0)},1,+}\rangle$$

$$\sum_{K^{(0)} \in Domain(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |\mathsf{false}\rangle \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \otimes \sum_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^{2}} |\theta_{0}^{(0)}\rangle \, |\theta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes |x_{1}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes e^{-\theta_{1}^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \, |\varphi_{K^{(0)}, 1, -}\rangle$$

And

$$\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}\left|\varphi\right\rangle = \left|\varphi\right\rangle \tag{254}$$

Proof. The proof is by a direct calculation as discussed before this theorem. Without loss of generality we calculate on the $x_0^{(0)}$ branch. Then we only need to prove

$$(\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_+}\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_-} + \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_+}\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_-})\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+} \sum_{K^{(0)} \in \mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})} |K^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta^{(0)} \in \mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{(0)})} |\Theta^{(0)}\rangle \otimes (\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_-})\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,$$

$$|x_0^{(0)}\rangle \otimes (e^{\theta_0^{(0)}i\pi/4} |\varphi_{K^{(0)},0,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_0^{(0)}i\pi/4} |\varphi_{K^{(0)},0,-}\rangle)$$
(255)

$$=(252) + (253)$$
 (256)

which is further reduced to

$$\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+} | \mathsf{false} \rangle | \mathsf{false} \rangle e^{\theta_0^{(0)} \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \sum_{\substack{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^2}} |\theta_0^{(0)}\rangle |\theta_1^{(0)}\rangle$$
 (257)

$$\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+} | \text{false} \rangle | \text{false} \rangle e^{\theta_0^{(0)} i \pi/4} \sum_{\substack{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2 \\ \theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2}} |\theta_0^{(0)} \rangle |\theta_1^{(0)} \rangle$$

$$= \underbrace{|\text{true} \rangle}_{indic_+} | \text{false} \rangle e^{\theta_0^{(0)} i \pi/4} \sum_{\substack{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2 \\ \theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2}} |\theta_0^{(0)} \rangle |\theta_1^{(0)} \rangle$$
(258)

$$\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+} | \text{false} \rangle | \text{false} \rangle e^{-\theta_0^{(0)} i \pi/4} \sum_{\substack{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2 \\ \theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2}} |\theta_0^{(0)} \rangle |\theta_1^{(0)} \rangle$$

$$= | \text{false} \rangle \underbrace{|\text{true} \rangle}_{indic} e^{-\theta_0^{(0)} i \pi/4} \sum_{\substack{\theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2 \\ \theta_0^{(0)}, \theta_1^{(0)} \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}^2}} |\theta_0^{(0)} \rangle |\theta_1^{(0)} \rangle$$
(259)

$$=|\mathsf{false}\rangle \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_{-}} e^{-\theta_{0}^{(0)}i\pi/4} \sum_{\theta_{0}^{(0)},\theta_{1}^{(0)} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}} |\theta_{0}^{(0)}\rangle |\theta_{1}^{(0)}\rangle$$
(260)

which are true by direct calculations as (243)-(249). (As an example, in (257) the application of $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ maps the state to (258), and then $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ will keep the state invariant since the first Hadamard transform in $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ maps the $\theta_0^{(0)}$ register to $|110\rangle$ on which M operator acts as identity.)

Then the projections in the definition of \mathcal{P} acts as identity thus (254) follows.

10.3.4 \mathcal{P} projects a pre-phase-honest form to a phase-honest form

The restriction so far is, we are only focusing on a single pair of phases $\Theta^{(0)}$, which are the phases got tested in InPhTest. \mathcal{P} only operates on a single phase pair, but we want to argue about the overall property of the whole state—that is, the overall state should be in the phase-honest form (Definition 9.3). The next lemma says, when the input state is a pre-phase-honest form, the output of \mathcal{P} will be a phase-honest form:

Lemma 10.5. Suppose the register setup is the same as Section 6.1, especially, the client holds a tuple of key pairs $\mathbf{K} = (\mathbf{K}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $\mathbf{K}^{(i)} = (\mathbf{x}_0^{(i)}, \mathbf{x}_1^{(i)})$, and a tuple of phase pairs $\mathbf{\Theta} = (\mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)})_{i \in [0,L]}$, $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(i)} = (\mathbf{\theta}_0^{(i)}, \mathbf{\theta}_1^{(i)})$. Suppose a purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in the pre-phase-honest form. Then there exist states $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},-}\rangle$, (for each $K \in Domain(\mathbf{K})$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$) such that:

$$\mathcal{P}\ket{\varphi}$$
 (261)

$$= \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_{+}} |\mathsf{false}\rangle \sum_{K \in Domain(\mathbf{K})} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in Domain(\mathbf{\Theta})} |\Theta\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\mathbf{S}_{bsh}} \otimes e^{SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\pi i/4} |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},+}\rangle \tag{262}$$

$$+ \left| \mathsf{false} \right\rangle \underbrace{\left| \mathsf{true} \right\rangle}_{indic_{-}} \sum_{K \in Domain(\boldsymbol{K})} \left| K \right\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in Domain(\boldsymbol{\Theta})} \left| \Theta \right\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \left| \vec{x}_{\vec{b}} \right\rangle \otimes e^{-SUM(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\pi \mathbf{i}/4} \left| \varphi_{K,\vec{b},-} \right\rangle \tag{263}$$

Proof. Since $|\varphi\rangle$ is in a pre-phase-honest form, we can assume there exist states $|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},sum}\rangle$ (for each $K \in \text{Domain}(K)$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$, $sum \in \{0,1\cdots7\}$) such that $|\varphi\rangle$ has the form

$$\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S_{bob}} \otimes |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle$$
(264)

Without loss of generality consider $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{1+L}$ whose first bit is 0. Then from the definition of \mathcal{P} we have two terms to calculate. Let's first calculate $\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{indic_+}\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{indic_-}\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}\Pi_{x_{\vec{b}}}^{S_{bsh}}|\varphi\rangle$. First we know:

$$\begin{split} &\Pi_{\text{true}}^{\text{intele}+}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{\text{bsh}}}^{\text{bol}}|\varphi\rangle & (265) \\ =& \text{CPhase}_{0}(+)\mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3}\Pi_{\text{true}}^{\text{indic}+}\mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)},\text{indic}_{+}}^{\otimes 3}\mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3}\mathsf{CPhase}_{0}(-)\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|E\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}^{\otimes 3}\rangle}_{S_{bsh}} & (266) \\ =& \text{CPhase}_{0}(+)\mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3}\Pi_{\text{true}}^{\text{indic}+}\mathsf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)},\text{indic}_{+}}^{\otimes 3}\mathsf{H}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\otimes 3}\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|E\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes e^{-\theta_{0}^{(0)}\pi\mathrm{i}/4}}_{S_{bsh}}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& \text{CPhase}_{0}(+)\underbrace{|\text{true}\rangle}_{\text{indic}_{+}}|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-\alpha\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-(\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)})\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-(\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)})\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-(\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)})\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|K\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-(\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)})\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{K\in\text{Domain}(K)}|E\rangle\otimes\sum_{\Theta\in\text{Domain}(\Theta)}|\Theta\rangle\otimes\underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle\otimes \frac{1}{8}}_{S_{bsh}}\sum_{\alpha\in\{0,1\cdots7\}}e^{-(\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)})\pi\mathrm{i}/4}|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\alpha-\theta_{0}^{(0)}+\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})}\rangle \\ =& |\text{true}\rangle|\text{false}\rangle\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes\sum_{E}|\Phi\rangle\otimes$$

$$= \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{india} |\mathsf{false}\rangle \sum_{K \in \mathrm{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S} \otimes e^{\mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\beta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\beta\pi\mathrm{i}/4} \, |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\beta}\rangle \quad (270)$$

Then as shown in Lemma 10.4 $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ keeps (270) invariant. Thus we get

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\overline{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \left| \varphi \right\rangle = (270)$$

which has the form of state required in (262) if we define

$$|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},+}\rangle := \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_+} |\mathsf{false}\rangle \otimes \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\beta \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} e^{-\beta \pi \mathrm{i}/4} \, |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\beta}\rangle$$

Now we calculate $\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{indic_+}\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{indic_-}\mathcal{P}_{0,-}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\overline{b}}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}}|\varphi\rangle$ and show it has the form required in (263). We could do a similar direct calculation; the case here is slightly more complicated (note that $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ are not known to be commutative) but still possible; but here we choose a short path where we re-use the calculations we did just now.

Recall the construction of $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, it has the form of $U^{\dagger}M_{\theta_0^{(0)},indic_+}U$. That implies when the initial state has value $|\mathsf{false}\rangle$ in $indic_+$, $\Pi^{indic_+}_{\mathsf{false}}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$ is the same as $\mathbb{I}-\mathsf{X}_{indic_+}\Pi^{indic_+}_{\mathsf{true}}\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, where X_{indic_+} is an operator that flips the value of register $indic_+$. Thus

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\tilde{b}}^{-}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \left| \varphi \right\rangle = \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\tilde{b}}^{-}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \left| \varphi \right\rangle - \mathsf{X}_{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\tilde{b}}^{-}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \left| \varphi \right\rangle = \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{\tilde{b}}^{-}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \left| \varphi \right\rangle - \mathsf{X}_{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} (270)$$

Note the second term is invariant under $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ thus satisfies $\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{indic} \mathcal{P}_{0,-}(270) = 0$. This implies

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \left| \varphi \right\rangle = \Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \left| \varphi \right\rangle$$

Then a calculation similar to (265) to (270) shows this term has the form of (263) if we define

$$|\varphi_{K,\vec{b},-}\rangle := |\mathsf{false}\rangle \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_{-}} \otimes \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\beta \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} e^{\beta \pi \mathrm{i}/4} \, |\varphi_{K,\vec{b},\beta}\rangle$$

10.4 InPhTest Implies Approximate Invariance Under $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$

In this section we show passing InPhTest implies approximate invariance under $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$.

Theorem 10.6. Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 4 and is in a ϵ -basis-honest form. Suppose an efficient adversary Adv on initial state $|\varphi\rangle$ in InPhTest can make the client output pass as the flag with probability $\geq 1 - \epsilon$ and make the client output win as the score with probability $\geq OPT - \epsilon$. Then we have

$$|(\mathbb{I} - \mathcal{P}^{\dagger} \mathcal{P}) |\varphi\rangle| \le 50\epsilon^{1/16} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Proof. First we use a similar argument to the proof of Theorem 10.3. Similarly define $|\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle$, $|\psi'_{1,\theta_0}\rangle$ as (232)(233). As given in the condition, suppose an adversary Adv can pass the individual phase test with high probability:

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\pmb{K},\pmb{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi\rangle\,|^2 \geq 1 - \epsilon$$

By the same argument we know

$$\sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\psi_{0,\theta_0}'\rangle - |\psi_{1,\theta_0}'\rangle|^2 \le 6\sqrt{2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$\sum_{\theta \in \{0.1\cdots 7\}} |\left|\psi_{0,\theta_0}'\rangle + \left|\psi_{1,\theta_0+4}'\rangle\right|^2 \le 6\sqrt{2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$\forall b \in \{0,1\}, \theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}, ||\psi_{b,\theta_0}'\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{16}||\varphi_b\rangle|^2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

where $||\varphi_b\rangle|$ is the norm of $\boldsymbol{x}_b^{(0)}$ -branch of $|\varphi\rangle$.

If the server can win with significant probability:

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi\rangle\,|^2 \geq \mathsf{OPT} - \epsilon$$

$$\Rightarrow |\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(0)})}|\varphi\rangle\,|^2 \geq \mathsf{OPT} - 3\epsilon$$

As in the proof of Theorem 10.3, it implies

$$\sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle + |\psi'_{1,\theta_0+1}\rangle|^2 \ge \cos^2(\pi/8) - 9\epsilon$$

Now applying Lemma 10.2 we know

$$\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} ||\psi_{b,\theta_0}'\rangle - (e^{\theta_0 \mathrm{i}\pi/4} |\psi_{b,+}'\rangle + e^{-\theta_0 \mathrm{i}\pi/4} |\psi_{b,-}'\rangle)|^2 \le 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathrm{negl}(\kappa) \tag{271}$$

where

$$|\psi'_{b,+}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{b,\theta}\rangle, |\psi'_{b,-}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{b,\theta}\rangle$$
(272)

Recall the definition of $|\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle$, $|\psi'_{1,\theta_0}\rangle$ in (232)(233). Unroll (271) by substituting definitions (232)(233), we get

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\psi'_{0,\theta_{0},\cdot,\alpha}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,-}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(273)

$$+ \sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_{0}+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,-}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(274)

$$\leq 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{275}$$

Recall in the definition of $|\psi'_{0,\theta_0}\rangle$, $|\psi'_{1,\theta_0}\rangle$, α is store in a separate transcript register thus $|\psi'_{0,\theta_0,\cdot,\alpha}\rangle$ (and also $|\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_0+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle$) for different α are orthogonal states. Thus we can expand the norm-square-of-sum in (273) to sum-of-norm-square on values of α :

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_{0},\cdot,\alpha}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,+,\alpha}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,-,\alpha}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(276)

$$+ \sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_{0}+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,+,\alpha}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,-,\alpha}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(277)

$$\leq 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{278}$$

where $|\psi'_{b,\pm,\alpha}\rangle$ are defined to be the corresponding component of (272). Explicitly, they are:

$$|\psi'_{0,+,\alpha}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,\theta,\cdot,\alpha}\rangle, |\psi'_{0,-,\alpha}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,\theta,\cdot,\alpha}\rangle$$
(279)

$$|\psi'_{1,+,\alpha}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle, |\psi'_{1,-,\alpha}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta+\alpha,\alpha}\rangle$$
(280)

So far we are working on variables θ_0 and α , which corresponds to the value of client-side register $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}$ and client's message in the Hadamard test. We use a change-of-variable to introduce θ_1 to replace α . First define

$$|\tilde{\psi}'_{0,+,\alpha}\rangle, |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,-,\alpha}\rangle$$
 the same as (279)

$$|\tilde{\psi}_{1,+,\alpha}'\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left| \psi_{1,\cdot,\theta,\alpha}' \right\rangle, \\ |\tilde{\psi}_{1,-,\alpha}'\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{\theta \mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left| \psi_{1,\cdot,\theta,\alpha}' \right\rangle$$

Then (276)-(278) could be re-written as

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_{1} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_{0},\cdot,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,+,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,-,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(281)

$$+ \sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_{1} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta_{1},\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{1}i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{1,+,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{1}i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{1,-,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(282)

$$\leq 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{283}$$

As discussed in the paragraph above (225), the "." could be replaced by any value without changing the state. This implies (281)-(283) could be further re-written as

$$\sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_{1} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1},\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,+,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,-,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(284)

$$+ \sum_{\theta_{0} \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\psi'_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1},\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle - (e^{\theta_{1}i\pi/4}|\tilde{\psi}'_{1,+,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{1}i\pi/4}|\tilde{\psi}'_{1,-,\theta_{1}-\theta_{0}}\rangle)|^{2}$$
(285)

$$\leq 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{286}$$

This can be further unrolled by (224):

$$\sum_{b \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\varphi'_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle - \underbrace{|\theta_0\rangle|\theta_1\rangle}_{\mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)}} \otimes (e^{\theta_b \mathrm{i}\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{b,+,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + e^{-\theta_b \mathrm{i}\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{b,-,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle)|^2 \leq 1200\epsilon^{1/8} + \mathrm{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$(287)$$

Recall (219) translates to

$$\sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} |\left|\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\right\rangle - \left|\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\right\rangle|^2 \leq 6\sqrt{2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

which together with (287) implies

$$\sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\rangle$$

$$-|\theta_0\rangle\,|\theta_1\rangle\otimes(e^{\theta_0\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\,|\tilde{\psi}_{0,+,\theta_1-\theta_0}')+e^{\theta_1\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\,|\tilde{\psi}_{1,+,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\rangle+e^{-\theta_0\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\,|\tilde{\psi}_{0,-,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\rangle+e^{-\theta_1\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\,|\tilde{\psi}_{1,-,\theta_1-\theta_0}'\rangle)|^2\leq 2450\epsilon^{1/8}+\mathrm{negl}(\kappa)$$

Recall

$$|\varphi'_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + |\varphi'_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle \tag{289}$$

$$=\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta},\delta=0)(|\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle+|\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle) \tag{290}$$

$$\approx_{\sqrt{3\epsilon}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}, \delta = 0)(|\varphi_{0,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle) \tag{291}$$

$$= \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}((|\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle) \odot (\theta_{1} - \theta_{0})) \tag{292}$$

And we have

$$e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,+,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{1,+,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle \tag{293}$$

$$=e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{0,\theta,\cdot,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i\pi/4} |\psi'_{1,\cdot,\theta,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle$$
(294)

$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i \pi/4} |\psi'_{0,\theta+\theta_0,\theta+\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta i \pi/4} |\psi'_{1,\theta+\theta_0,\theta+\theta_1,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle$$
(295)

$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} (\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}, \delta = 0) e^{-\theta \mathrm{i}\pi/4} (|\varphi_{0,\theta_0+\theta,\theta_1+\theta}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_0+\theta,\theta_1+\theta}\rangle) \tag{296}$$

$$\approx_{\sqrt{3\epsilon}} \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} (\mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv} \circ e^{-\theta \mathrm{i}\pi/4} (|\varphi_{0,\theta_0+\theta,\theta_1+\theta}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_0+\theta,\theta_1+\theta}\rangle) \odot (\theta_1 - \theta_0)) \tag{297}$$

$$= \operatorname{Response} \circ \operatorname{Adv}((e^{\theta_0 \mathbf{i} \pi/4} | \psi_{0,+}) + e^{\theta_1 \mathbf{i} \pi/4} | \psi_{1,+})) \odot (\theta_1 - \theta_0))$$

$$\tag{298}$$

where

$$|\psi_{0,+}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta_0 i\pi/4} |\psi_{0,\theta_0,\cdot}\rangle, |\psi_{1,+}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots7\}} e^{-\theta_1 i\pi/4} |\psi_{1,\cdot,\theta_1}\rangle$$

where $|\psi_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle$ is defined by the $\mathbf{\Theta}^{(0)} = \theta_0, \theta_1$ component of $|\varphi_b\rangle$ excluding the $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0, \boldsymbol{\theta}_1$ registers. (That is, $|\varphi_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle = |\theta_0\rangle |\theta_1\rangle |\psi_{b,\theta_0,\theta_1}\rangle$.), and by the basis-phase correspondence property a subscript could be omitted. Similarly

$$e^{-\theta_0 i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{0,-,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle + e^{-\theta_1 i\pi/4} |\tilde{\psi}'_{1,-,\theta_1-\theta_0}\rangle$$

$$\tag{299}$$

$$\approx_{\sqrt{3\epsilon}} \mathsf{Response} \circ \mathsf{Adv}((e^{-\theta_0 \mathrm{i}\pi/4} | \psi_{0,-}\rangle + e^{-\theta_1 \mathrm{i}\pi/4} | \psi_{1,-}\rangle) \odot (\theta_1 - \theta_0)) \tag{300}$$

where

$$|\psi_{0,-}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta_0 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} e^{\theta_0 i\pi/4} |\psi_{0,\theta_0,\cdot}\rangle, |\psi_{1,-}\rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\theta_1 \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} e^{\theta_1 i\pi/4} |\psi_{1,\cdot,\theta_1}\rangle$$

Substitute these approximations and reverse HadamardTest^{Adv} from (288) we get

Substitute these approximations and reverse radianard rest from (288) we get
$$\sum_{\theta_{0},\theta_{1}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{2}} ||\varphi_{0,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle + |\varphi_{1,\theta_{0},\theta_{1}}\rangle - |\theta_{0}\rangle |\theta_{1}\rangle \otimes (e^{\theta_{0}i\pi/4}|\psi_{0,+}\rangle + e^{\theta_{1}i\pi/4}|\psi_{1,+}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{0}i\pi/4}|\psi_{0,-}\rangle + e^{-\theta_{1}i\pi/4}|\psi_{1,-}\rangle)|^{2}$$

$$<2500\epsilon^{1/8} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$$
(301)

Thus (301) says $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K}^{(0)})} | \varphi \rangle$ is close to a state in the form of (202). By Lemma 10.4 a state in the form of (202) is invariant under $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$. This implies

$$|(\mathbb{I} - \mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P})|\varphi\rangle| \le 50\epsilon^{1/16} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

11 Analysis of the Basis Norm Test (BNTest)

In this section we analyze the implication of passing the Basis Norm Test (BNTest) with high probability. As discussed in the introduction, it implies different standard basis components of the initial state have approximately equal norms.

11.1 Initial Setup of BNTest

Recall in the formal protocol BNTest is defined in two steps: $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K}, \tilde{\Theta})$ is applied on the output state of AddPhaseWithHelper, and in this protocol the client reveals $\tilde{\Theta}$ to the server and allows it to remove the phases; then both parties run $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K})$. In the next subsection we will analyze the property of $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K})$. (Recall that \tilde{K} denotes $(K^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$ and $\tilde{\Theta}$ denotes $(\Theta^{(i)})_{i \in [L]}$; see Section 6.1.)

The initial state of $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K}, \tilde{\Theta})$ is in Setup 3, while the initial state of $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K})$ does not have a corresponding setup that describes it. Below we formalize the properties of input states of $\mathsf{BNTest}(\tilde{K})$ as a setup.

Set-up 5. Setup 5 is defined to be the set of states that satisfy:

- The parties are as described in Section 4.1.
- The client holds a tuple of key pair registers $\tilde{K} = K^{(1)}, K^{(2)} \cdots K^{(L)}$, where each $K^{(i)} = (x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)})$. Each key has length κ . Correspondingly the server holds registers $S_{bsh}^{(1)}, S_{bsh}^{(2)} \cdots S_{bsh}^{(L)}$, where each register has size κ . Denote \tilde{S}_{bsh} as the tuple of registers $S_{bsh}^{(1)}, S_{bsh}^{(2)} \cdots S_{bsh}^{(L)}$.
- The state is efficiently preparable;
- The state is key checkable for any key in \tilde{K} ;
- ullet The state is strongly-claw-free for any key pair in $ilde{K}$.

Lemma 11.1. If a sub-normalized state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 3, $|\varphi\rangle \odot \tilde{\Theta}$ is in Setup 5.

Proof. By the condition we know $|\varphi\rangle = \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}), \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) |\varphi^1\rangle$ where $|\varphi^1\rangle$ is in Setup 1. By the definition of Setup 1 $|\varphi^1\rangle$ is strongly-claw-free for any key pair in $(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K})$. Then the claw-freeness of $|\varphi\rangle$ follows from Lemma 6.4.

Below we give the theorem for BNTest.

11.2 BNTest Implies Basis Norms Are Close to Uniform Vectors

Theorem 11.2 (Implication of BNTest). Suppose a sub-normalized purified joint state $|\varphi\rangle$ is in Setup 5 and is in a basis-honest form. Suppose Adv is an efficient adversary such that

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\tilde{K};1^{\kappa})|\varphi\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$$
 (302)

Expand the basis-honest part of $|\varphi\rangle$:

$$\Pi_{basishonest(\tilde{K})} |\varphi\rangle = \sum_{\tilde{K} \in Domain(\tilde{K})} \underbrace{|\tilde{K}\rangle}_{\tilde{K}} \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\tilde{S}_{beb}} \otimes |\varphi_{\tilde{K},\vec{b}}\rangle$$
(303)

and define the norm of $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch as $c_{\vec{b}}$:

$$c_{\vec{b}} := |\sum_{\tilde{K} \in Domain(\tilde{\pmb{K}})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\tilde{K},\vec{b}}\rangle \, |$$

Additionally define

$$c := | | \varphi \rangle |$$

Then we have

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{\vec{b}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}}c|^2 \leq 800\sqrt{\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Note that when we apply this theorem the initial state $|\varphi\rangle$ might be far from normalized. Due to this reason, we use the failing probability in (302) instead of the passing probability, which makes the expression simpler and easier to use later.

Proof. The BNTest will first combine the state into a two-key superposition state on an index set $I = (i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{|I|}) \subseteq [L]$ randomly selected by the client. In this process (see Protocol 9) the server will send back |I| - 1 output strings denoted by symbol r in the protocol, and these output strings, in the passing space, will help the client determine $K^{(combined)}$ as follows:

$$K^{(combined)} = (x_0^{(combined)}, x_1^{(combined)}) = (x_0^{(i_1)} x_{b^{(i_2)}}^{(i_2)} \cdots x_{b^{(i_{|I|})}}^{(i_{|I|})}, x_1^{(i_1)} x_{1-b^{(i_2)}}^{(i_2)} \cdots x_{1-b^{(i_{|I|})}}^{(i_{|I|})}), \quad b^{(i_2)} b^{(i_3)} \cdots b^{(i_{|I|})} \in \{0, 1\}^{|I|-1}$$

$$(304)$$

where the values of these subscripts (that is, b) are determined by the server's response (that is, r.)

Denote the output state of the first step (the key combination) of BNTest as $|\varphi^1\rangle$.

Then starting from $|\varphi^1\rangle$, the server is supposed to measure all the keys with superscripts in [L]-I in the standard basis and send back the result. Denote $[L]-I=j_1j_2\cdots j_{L-|I|}$. The server's response, on the passing space, could be expressed as

$$x_{b^{(j_1)}}^{(j_1)} x_{b^{(j_2)}}^{(j_2)} \cdots x_{b^{(j_{L-|I|})}}^{(j_{L-|I|})}, \quad b^{(j_1)} \cdots b^{(j_{L-|I|})} \in \{0, 1\}^{L-|I|}$$

$$(305)$$

Denote the output state after this step as $|\varphi^2\rangle$.

Let's introduce notations that describe (304)(305) more concisely, with $I = (i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{|I|}) \subseteq [L]$ and $\vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L$, where the i_1 -th bit of \vec{b}_0 is 0.

Define $X(I)\vec{b}_0$ as the output vector of doing a logical-not on each bit of \vec{b}_0 whose index is in I. And define

$$\vec{b}_0|_I = b^{(i_1)}b^{(i_2)}b^{(i_3)}\cdots b^{(i_{|I|})}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I} = x_{b^{(i_1)}}^{(i_1)}x_{b^{(i_2)}}^{(i_2)}\cdots x_{b^{(i_{|I|})}}^{(i_{|I|})}$$

$$\vec{b}_0|_{[L]-I} = b^{(j_1)}b^{(j_2)}\cdots b^{(j_{L-|I|})}, \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I} = x_{b^{(j_1)}}^{(j_1)}x_{b^{(j_2)}}^{(j_2)}\cdots x_{b^{(j_{L-|I|})}}^{(j_{L-|I|})}$$

Then (304)(305) could be expressed as follows.

$$(304) = (\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I}, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0|I}), (305) = \vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I}. \tag{306}$$

Then $|\varphi^2\rangle$ will go to the standard basis test with 1/2 probability, where the server is suppose to measure the combined keys and return a response in $K^{(combined)}$. By (302) the adversary could fail the standard basis test with probability $\leq 2\epsilon$, by Theorem 6.2 we know there exists an efficient server-side isometry $\tilde{\text{Adv}}_{ST}$ such that, define

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle := \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{ST} |\varphi^2\rangle$$

then

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$$
 is $1.5\sqrt{\epsilon}$ -basis-honest for $\mathbf{K}^{(combined)}$. (307)

Then $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\mathbf{K}^{(combined)})} |\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$ has the following form:

$$\sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I)} |I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \text{Domain}(\tilde{K})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L: \text{the } i_1\text{-th bit is } 0, \text{ where } i_1 \text{ is the first bit of } I \otimes \underbrace{|(\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0}|I, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0}|I)\rangle}_{\mathbf{K}^{(combined)}}$$

client

$$\otimes \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I}\rangle}_{\text{server's response (305)}} \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{\vec{b}_0, X(I)\vec{b}_0\}} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_II}\rangle}_{\tilde{S}_{bsh}} \otimes |\varphi_{\tilde{K}, I, \vec{b}}\rangle$$

where we use the notations in (306).

Define $c'_{I,\vec{b}}$ as the norm of the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch of $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(K^{(combined)})} |\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$ when I has value I, which is,

$$||I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \text{Domain}(\tilde{K})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes \underbrace{|(\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I}, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0|I})\rangle}_{K^{(combined)}} \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}|[L]-I}\rangle \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}|I}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{\tilde{K},I,\vec{b}}\rangle |. \tag{308}$$

where in (308) \vec{b}_0 is defined to be \vec{b} if the i_1 -th bit of \vec{b} is 0, and $X(I)\vec{b}$ otherwise.

We will first prove $(c_{\vec{b}})_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L}$ and $(c'_{I,\vec{b}})_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L}$ are close to each other. These two vectors are not directly comparable since we need to define $c_{I,\vec{b}}$ for different values of register I. That is, starting from (303), after the client samples random values for the I register, the state on the basis-honest space becomes:

$$\sum_{I \in \mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{I})} |I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \mathrm{Domain}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{S}}_{t-1}} \otimes \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathrm{Domain}(\boldsymbol{I})|}} |\varphi_{\tilde{K}, \vec{b}}\rangle$$

Then we can define $c_{I,\vec{b}}$ as the norm of the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch when the value of I register is I:

$$c_{I,\vec{b}} = | |I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \text{Domain}(\tilde{K})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \otimes \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\text{Domain}(I)|}} |\varphi_{\tilde{K},\vec{b}}\rangle | \quad \text{(which is } = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{\vec{b}})$$
 (309)

By making use of Lemma 6.6 we can prove

$$\sum_{I \in \operatorname{Domain}(I), \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{I,\vec{b}} - c'_{I,\vec{b}}|^2 \le 3\sqrt{\epsilon} + \operatorname{negl}(\kappa) \tag{310}$$

The proof details are put in the box below for continuity of proof stream.

Proof of (310):

Consider the mapping between $|\varphi\rangle$ and $|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$.

The client-side message in the first round of BNTest could be denoted as $[Combine(\tilde{K}^{(i)}, I; 1^{\kappa})]$. Let $D = \tilde{Adv}_{ST} \circ Response \circ Adv_1$ where Adv_1 is the adversary's operation in the first round, and Response is the adversary's measure-and-response operation in the first and second round. By the definition of $|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$:

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle = \mathsf{Calc}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}) \circ D(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}, \boldsymbol{I}; 1^{\kappa}) \rrbracket)$$

where we use $Calc(K^{(combined)})$ to denote the client-side operation that calculates $K^{(combined)}$ from the values of server's response r.

By the basis-honest property of $|\varphi\rangle$ and $|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$ we have

$$\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} \mathrm{Calc}^{-1} \, |\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon}} \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} D \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})} (|\varphi\rangle \odot [\![\mathrm{Combine}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}^{(i)}, \boldsymbol{I}; \boldsymbol{1}^{\kappa})]\!])$$

$$\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})} \left| \varphi \right\rangle \odot \left[\mathsf{Combine}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}, \boldsymbol{I}; 1^{\kappa}) \right] \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon}} \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})} D^{-1} \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} \mathsf{Calc}^{-1} \left| \tilde{\varphi}^2 \right\rangle$$

Apply Lemma 6.6 to the right hand sides of both equations, we get

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2}\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{L}} \Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} D\Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} (|\varphi\rangle \odot [\mathsf{Combine}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}, \boldsymbol{I}; 1^{\kappa})])$$

$$(311)$$

And

$$\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})} | \varphi \rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{Combine}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}, \boldsymbol{I}; 1^{\kappa}) \rrbracket \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0, 1\}^{L}} \Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} D^{-1} \Pi_{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{\vec{b}}} \Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})} | \tilde{\varphi}^{2} \rangle$$

$$(312)$$

Compare the amplitudes on both sides.

- In the left hand side of (311) the amplitude of $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch when the I register has value I is $c_{I,\vec{b}}$, while on the right hand side the amplitude of $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch when the I register has value I is no more than $c'_{I,\vec{b}}$.
- Similarly for (312) in the left hand side the amplitude of $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch when the I register has value I is $c_{I,\vec{b}}$, while on the right hand side the amplitude of $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ branch when the I register has value I is no more than $c'_{I,\vec{b}}$.

Applying Fact 4 completes the proof.

And from $|\varphi^2\rangle$ with 1/2 probability the state comes into a Hadamard test. By (302) we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT}\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{ST}^{\dagger}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) |\tilde{\varphi}^{2}\rangle|^{2} \leq 2\epsilon \tag{313}$$

where we use Adv_{HT} to denote the part of Adv 's operation in the Hadamard test branch of the third step of BNTest . Then there is (whose proof is put into a box below for the continuity of the proof stream)

$$\sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I), \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c'_{I,\vec{b}} - c'_{I,X(I)\vec{b}}|^2 \le 170\sqrt{\epsilon} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$$
(314)

Proof of (314):

Define $|\tilde{\varphi}_0^2\rangle$, $|\tilde{\varphi}_1^2\rangle$ as correspondingly the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(combined)}$, $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(combined)}$ branches of $\Pi_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)})}|\tilde{\varphi}^2\rangle$. That is,

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_0^2\rangle = \sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I)} |I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \text{Domain}(\tilde{K})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L: \text{the } i_1\text{-th bit is } 0, \text{ where } i_1 \text{ is the first bit of } I} \otimes \underbrace{|(\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I}, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0|I})\rangle}_{K^{(combined)}}$$

$$\otimes \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I}\rangle}_{\text{server's response (305)}} \otimes |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{I,\tilde{K},\vec{b}_0,0}\rangle$$

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{2}\rangle = \sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I)} |I\rangle \otimes \sum_{\tilde{K} \in \text{Domain}(\tilde{K})} |\tilde{K}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b}_{0} \in \{0,1\}^{L}: \text{the } i_{1}\text{-th bit is } 0, \text{ where } i_{1} \text{ is the first bit of } I} \otimes \underbrace{|(\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_{0}}|I, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_{0}}|I)\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}}$$

$$\otimes \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I}\rangle}_{\text{server's response (305)}} \otimes |\vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0|I}\rangle \otimes |\varphi_{I,\tilde{K},\vec{b}_0,1}\rangle$$

We will show (313) implies an efficient server-side operator O that

$$O(|\tilde{\varphi}_0^2\rangle\odot \text{[[HadamardTest]]}\odot \boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}) \approx_{9\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\tilde{\varphi}_1^2\rangle\odot \text{[[HadamardTest]]}\odot \boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)} \quad (315)$$

(where $\llbracket HadamardTest \rrbracket$ contains the random padding stored in register pad). O is constructed as follows:

- 1. Apply $\mathsf{Adv}_{HT}^{\mathsf{T}}\mathsf{Adv}_{ST}^{\mathsf{T}}$ (but do not do Response). Recall in the real execution of the protocol HadamardTest after the server's local operation a Response operator copies the value of some server-side register to the transcript register d. Denote this server-side register that stores the (unsent) response as \tilde{d} .
- 2. Do a control phase operation on the \tilde{d} register that adds a (-1) phase on the basis value $d \in \operatorname{Domain}(\tilde{d})$ such that

$$d \cdot (x_0^{(combined)}||H(pad||x_0^{(combined)})) + d \cdot (x_1^{(combined)}||H(pad||x_1^{(combined)})) = 1$$

(that is, the space span($\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}}$)).

3. Reverse $Adv_{HT} \tilde{Adv}_{ST}^{\dagger}$.

Let's show (315). This is because, under the condition of (313), applying Corollary 7.3 we get

$$\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT}\mathsf{Adv}_{ST}^{\dagger}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)};1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}_{0}^{2}\rangle \tag{316}$$

$$\approx_{3\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{(79)=0}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \mathsf{Adv}_{ST}^{\dagger}} (\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) \, | \tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{2} \rangle \tag{317}$$

$$\forall b \in \{0,1\}, \Pi_{=0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) | \tilde{\varphi}_b \rangle \approx_{2\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0 \tag{318}$$

$$\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT}\mathsf{Adv}^{\dagger}_{ST}}(\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)};1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}_{0}^{2}\rangle \tag{319}$$

$$\approx_{2\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negI}(\kappa)} - \prod_{(79)=1}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}}} \prod_{\neq 0}^{\mathsf{last}} \kappa^{\mathsf{bits}} \text{ of } \tilde{\boldsymbol{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{HT} \mathsf{Adv}_{ST}^{\dagger}} (\boldsymbol{K}^{(combined)}; 1^{\kappa}) | \tilde{\varphi}_{1}^{2} \rangle \tag{320}$$

Combining these relations with the construction of O completes the proof of (315).

Now return to the proof of (314). We compare the coefficients on both sides of (315). On the right hand side of (315) the norm of components where the I register has value I, $K^{(combined)}$ register has value $(\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|I}, \vec{x}_{X(I)\vec{b}_0|I})$, and the server-response register has value $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}_0|[L]-I}$, is $c'_{I,X(I)\vec{b}_0}$. On the left hand side this norm is c'_{I,\vec{b}_0} (note that O only has read-only access to the registers above thus it does not change the norm). Thus (315) implies

$$\sqrt{\sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{I}), \vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L: \text{the } i_1\text{-th bit of } \vec{b}_0 \text{ is } 0, \text{ where } i_1 \text{ is the first bit of } I} |c'_{I,\vec{b}_0} - c'_{I,X(I)\vec{b}_0}|^2 \le 9\epsilon^{1/4} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$
(321)

which by a change of variable implies

$$\sqrt{\sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I), \vec{b}_1 \in \{0,1\}^L: \text{the } i_1 \text{-th bit of } \vec{b}_1 \text{ is 1, where } i_1 \text{ is the first bit of } I} |c'_{I,X(I)\vec{b}_1} - c'_{I,\vec{b}_1}|^2 \le 9\epsilon^{1/4} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$$
(322)

which together implies (314).

Combining (310)(314) we get

$$\sum_{I \in \text{Domain}(I), \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{I,\vec{b}} - c_{I,X(I)\vec{b}}|^2 \le 180\sqrt{\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{323}$$

then substitute (309) we know (323) implies

$$\frac{1}{2^L} \sum_{\vec{b}_0 \in \{0,1\}^L} \sum_{\vec{b}_1 \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{\vec{b}_0} - c_{\vec{b}_1}|^2 \leq 180 \sqrt{\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

which by Fact 5 implies

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{\vec{b}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}}c|^2 \leq 800\sqrt{\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

12 Putting All Together

In this section we put the analysis of each subprotocol together. We prove the optimality of OPT in preRSPV in Section 12.1 and prove the verifiability property of preRSPV in Section 12.2. (Recall these statements are formalized in Section 5.4). Recall that

$$OPT = \frac{1}{3}\cos^2(\pi/8), p_{quiz} = \frac{1}{10}, p_{comp} = \frac{1}{10}$$
(324)

12.1 Proof of the Optimality of OPT

To prove the optimality of OPT, we need to analyze each step of Protocol 2, and make use of the property of InPhTest.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. Suppose the initial purified joint state is $|\varphi^0\rangle = O|0\rangle$ as described in Definition 4.6. Suppose an efficient adversary Adv satisfies

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) |\varphi^0\rangle| > 1 - 10^{-2000} \tag{325}$$

- 1. (Analysis of key-pair-superposition generation) First by Theorem 6.1 we could assume the state after the first step of the protocol is within Setup 1. Denote the purified joint state as $|\varphi^1\rangle$.
- 2. (Analysis of the first StdBTest) Since the standard basis test is executed on $|\varphi^1\rangle$ with probability 1/2, by (325) the server has to be able to make the client output pass in this test with probability $\geq 1-2\times 10^{-2000}$. That allows us to apply Lemma 6.2 and get

$$\exists$$
 efficient server-side operator $\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.sbt}$: $\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.sbt} | \varphi^1 \rangle$ is 1.5×10^{-1000} -basis-honest for $(\boldsymbol{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K})$ (326)

Denote

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^1\rangle := \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.sbt} |\varphi^1\rangle \tag{327}$$

3. (Analysis of the helper gadget method) Denote the output state of AddPhaseWithHelper as $|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle$:

$$|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle := \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{2.a}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}), \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) |\varphi^{1}\rangle$$
 (328)

=AddPhaseWithHelper
$$^{\mathsf{Adv}_{2.a}\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.sbt}^{-1}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})},\boldsymbol{K}),\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})|\tilde{\varphi}^{1}\rangle$$
 (329)

where $Adv_{2.a}$ is the Adv's operation in step 2.a of the verifiable state preparation case in Protocol 2. Since the verifiable state preparation case is reached with probability $\frac{1}{2}$, together with (325) we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle|^2 \ge 1 - 2 \times 10^{-2000}$$

That allows us to apply Theorem 7.4. As Setup 3, define H' as the blinded version of H where entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\mathrm{helper})}||\cdots$ are blinded. Define $\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}$ as the blinded version of $\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}$ (the part of Adv

starting from the step b of the verifiable state preparation) where each random oracle query is replaced by a query to H'. Then we have

$$\operatorname{preRSPV}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \approx_{15 \times 10^{-1000} + \operatorname{negl}(\kappa)} \operatorname{preRSPV}^{\operatorname{Adv}^{\operatorname{blind}}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \tag{330}$$

where $preRSPV_{\geq 2,b}$ denotes the execution of Protocol 2 starting from the 2.b step.

We will analyze the right hand side of (330) to understand the left hand side.

4. (Analysis of the second StdBTest) First by (330)(325) we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{\mathsf{blind}}_{\geq 2.b}}_{>2.b}|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle|^2 \ge 1 - 16 \times 10^{-1000} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{331}$$

Recall \mathcal{F}_{blind} is defined as the set of adversaries that only query the blinded oracle H'. First in $\mathsf{preRSPV}_{\geq 2.b}$ a standard basis test is executed with probability $\frac{1}{5}$. This together with (331) by Theorem 6.2 implies

 \exists efficient server-side operator $\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind} \in \mathcal{F}_{blind} : \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind} | \varphi^{2.a} \rangle$ is $(9 \times 10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa))$ -basis-honest for K (332)

5. (Analysis of AddPhaseWithHelper) Define

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle := \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \tag{333}$$

Now $|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle$ is in Setup 3. Applying Theorem 8.1 and Fact 8 we have

$$\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \, |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \, |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}_{blind}} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \tag{334}$$

6. (Analysis of InPhTest) Now the left hand side of (334) is in Setup 4. From (331)(333)(334) and the fact that InPhTest is executed with probability $\frac{1}{5}$ we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}}^{blind} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind})^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))|^{2} \geq 1 - 80 \times 10^{-1000} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{335}$$

where $\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}}$ is the part of $\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}$ in the $\mathsf{InPhTest}$ step. Apply Theorem 10.3 and we get

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))|^{2} \leq (\mathsf{OPT}+10^{-240}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)) \tag{336}$$

Now we start from (336) and substituting these analysis back step-by-step. Substituting (334), we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle)|^{2} \leq (\mathsf{OPT}+10^{-240}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)) \tag{337}$$

Since InPhTest is executed with $\frac{1}{5}$ probability in preRSPV_{>2.b}, this implies

$$|\Pi_{\mathrm{win}} \mathrm{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b}(\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle)|^2 \leq (\mathrm{OPT} + 10^{-240} + \mathrm{negl}(\kappa)) \cdot \frac{1}{5} \tag{338}$$

Substituting (330):

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle)|^2 \leq (\mathsf{OPT} + 1.01 \times 10^{-240} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)) \cdot \frac{1}{5} \tag{339}$$

Since $preRSPV_{\geq 2.b}$ is executed with $\frac{1}{2}$ probability in preRSPV, we get

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L,1^\kappa)\,|\varphi^0\rangle\,| \leq (\mathsf{OPT} + 1.01 \times 10^{-240} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)) \cdot \frac{1}{10} \tag{340}$$

which completes the proof. \Box

12.2 A Proof of Theorem 5.2

In this section we prove Theorem 5.2, the verifiability property of preRSPV. The proof is divided into three parts: (1) First we analyze each step of the protocol; (2) then we formally construct the isometry; (3) finally we prove the isometry satisfies Definition 4.3.

Proof of Theorem 5.2. Suppose the initial purified joint state is $|\varphi^0\rangle = O|0\rangle$ as described in Definition 4.6. Consider an efficient adversary Adv whose corresponding final output state is

$$|\varphi'\rangle := \mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \, |\varphi^0\rangle$$

Suppose the passing probability and the winning probability are big:

$$|\Pi_{\text{pass}}|\varphi'\rangle|^2 > 1 - 10^{-2000}$$
 (341)

$$|\Pi_{\text{win}}|\varphi'\rangle|^2 > (\text{OPT} - 10^{-200}) \cdot p_{\text{quiz}} = (\text{OPT} - 10^{-200}) \cdot \frac{1}{10}$$
 (342)

Our goal is to give an isometry Sim^{Adv} that satisfies (70).

Part I: analysis of the protocol To achieve this goal, we first need to analyze the protocol step-by-step to understand $|\varphi'\rangle$.

This part of the proof is as below. The first five steps are the same as the proof of Theorem 5.1; we give a summary for the important conclusion in each step.

1-5.

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^1\rangle := \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.sbt} |\varphi^1\rangle \text{ is } 1.5 \times 10^{-1000} \text{-basis-honest for } (\mathbf{K}^{(\text{helper})}, \mathbf{K}).$$
 (343)

$$|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle := \mathsf{AddPhaseWithHelper}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{2.a}}((\boldsymbol{K}^{(\mathrm{helper})}, \boldsymbol{K}), \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) |\varphi^{1}\rangle$$
 (344)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle|^2 \ge 1 - 2 \times 10^{-2000}$$

$$\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv} \geq 2.b}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \approx_{1.5 \times 10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \tag{345}$$

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\geq 2.b}}_{\geq 2.b}|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle|^2 \geq 1 - 3.1 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{346}$$

 $\exists \text{ efficient server-side operator } \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt} \in \mathcal{F}_{blind} : \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt} | \varphi^{2.a} \rangle \text{ is } (9 \times 10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)) \text{-basis-honest for } \boldsymbol{K}$

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle := \tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt} |\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \\ \mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle) \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}_{blind}} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \end{split} \tag{348}$$

6. (Analysis of CoPhTest) By (346) and the fact that CoPhTest is executed with probability $\frac{1}{5}$ in preRSPV $_{\geq 2.b}$ we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{CoPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{CoPhTest}}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\,|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle\,|^2 \geq 1 - 16 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Thus by (348)

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{CoPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{CoPhTest}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)|^{2} \geq 1 - 16 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

where $\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2,a}\rangle)$ is in Setup 4. We can further randomize $|\tilde{\varphi}^{2,a}\rangle$ under \mathcal{R}_2 by Theorem 9.3:

$$\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))) \approx_{10^{-123} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\$_2\rangle \otimes \mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle) \tag{349}$$

7. (Analysis of InPhTest) Finally we analyze the InPhTest. As the previous step, we know $\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \text{ReviseRO}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)$ is in Setup 4. By (346)(348) and the fact that InPhTest is executed with probability $\frac{1}{5}$ in preRSPV_{>2.b} we know the following about the passing probability and winning probability:

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}}^{blind}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{\mathsf{2.b.sbt}}^{blind})^{-1} (\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{\Theta}; 1^{\kappa}) \mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \, |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)|^{2} > 1 - 16 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}\mathsf{InPhTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{InPhTest}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\boldsymbol{K},\boldsymbol{\Theta};1^{\kappa})\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)|^{2} > \mathsf{OPT}-16 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

By Theorem 10.6 we can further randomize the state under \mathcal{P} :

$$\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{PR}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\operatorname{ReviseRO}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))\approx_{10^{-31}+\operatorname{negl}(\kappa)}\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\operatorname{ReviseRO}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle) \tag{350}$$

8. (A temporary summary and preparation) (348)(349)(350) implies

$$\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))\approx_{1.1\times10^{-31}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle\approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}_{blind}}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle$$

$$(351)$$

We aim at giving a server-side isomorphism between the left hand side of (351) and the target state (67).

Let's first analyze the state in the left hand side of (351). By Theorem 9.2 $\mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \circ \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(K)} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))$ is a pre-phase-honest form. Recall the indicator qubit registers used by \mathcal{P} are denoted by $indic_+, indic_-$. The operation of \mathcal{P} extracts the information of whether the state phases are under complex conjugation to these indicator registers, and $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$ erases the values in the indicator registers. Below we want to make this information explicit thus we first work under \mathcal{P} instead of $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$. Besides that, we also want to treat the $K^{(0)}$ key pair separately.

By Lemma 10.5 we have, there exist states $|\phi_{0,+}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,-}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,+}\rangle$, $|\phi_{1,-}\rangle$ such that:

$$\forall b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}: \quad \mathcal{PR}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b^{(0)}}^{S_{bsh}^{(0)}}}^{S_{bsh}^{(0)}} \mathsf{ReviseRO} \circ \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\tilde{\varphi}_{2.a}\rangle)))$$

$$= \underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{indic_{+}} \underbrace{|\mathsf{false}\rangle}_{indic_{-}} |\phi_{b^{(0)},+}\rangle + |\mathsf{false}\rangle |\mathsf{true}\rangle |\phi_{b^{(0)},-}\rangle$$

$$(352)$$

and for each $b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}$, $|\phi_{b^{(0)},+}\rangle$, $|\phi_{b^{(0)},-}\rangle$ have the following form, for some state family $(|\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle, |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle)_{K \in \text{Domain}(K), b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}, \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L}$:

$$|\phi_{b^{(0)},+}\rangle := \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \underbrace{|x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} e^{\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\text{i}\pi/4} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S_{bsh}} |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$$
(353)

$$|\phi_{b^{(0)},-}\rangle := \sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} e^{-\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})i\pi/4} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle$$
(354)

For each $b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}$, $\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L$, denote the overall norms of the $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ -branch of these states as $c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+},c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}$:

$$c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+} = |\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\Theta)} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes e^{\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})i\pi/4} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle | \qquad (355)$$

$$c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-} = |\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{K})} |K\rangle \otimes \sum_{\Theta \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{\Theta})} |\Theta\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes e^{-\text{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{\vec{b}})\text{i}\pi/4} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle | \qquad (356)$$

Now the remaining thing is to derive properties of these norms by analyzing BNTest.

9. (Analysis of BNTest) By (346) and the fact that BNTest is executed with probability $\frac{1}{5}$, we know

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^\kappa)\,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle\,|^2 > 1 - 16 \times 10^{-500} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$\Rightarrow |\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\mathsf{A\tilde{d}v}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^\kappa)\Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \, |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \, |^2 < 40 \times 10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Apply the collapsing property (Lemma 6.3) on $S_{bsh}^{(0)}$, use $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}}^{S_{bsh}^{(0)}}$, $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(0)}}^{S_{bsh}^{(0)}}$ to denote the projection onto the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}$ -branch and $\boldsymbol{x}_1^{(0)}$ -branch, we have

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\mathsf{A\tilde{d}v}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^{\kappa})\Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}^{(0)}_{bsh}}_{\boldsymbol{x}^{(0)}_{0}}\Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle|^{2} < 40\times10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{357}$$

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{\mathsf{2}.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^\kappa)\Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}^{(0)}_{bsh}}_{\boldsymbol{x}^{(0)}_1}\Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} \,|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle\,|^2 < 40\times 10^{-500} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{358}$$

Now we can analyze each of (357)(358) to derive basis norm relations for $b^{(0)} = 0, 1$. But to get what we want on (355)(356), we need to separate the honest phase part and the complex-conjugated phase part, as in (352).

Without loss of generality let's first consider (357) and use it to analyze (355)(356) for $b^{(0)} = 0$. To achieve it, we first substitute (351) to (357) and get

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^{\kappa})$$

$$\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\circ\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))))|^{2}<1.2\times10^{-31}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)~(359)$$

Recall the definition of \mathcal{P} in Definition 10.1, there is:

$$\mathcal{P}\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} = (\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_+} \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_-} + \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_+} \Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_-}) \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}$$

Note that with only the $\boldsymbol{x}_0^{(0)}$ -branch, $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ are equivalent to local operators that only apply on the $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0^{(0)}$, $indic_+$, $indic_-$ registers. But BNTest does not take these registers as inputs. And Π_{fail} and $\mathcal{P}_{0,+}$, $\mathcal{P}_{0,-}$ also commute, which implies (359) could be further simplified by replacing the $\mathcal{P}^{\dagger}\mathcal{P}$ in it by \mathcal{P} :

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{m{K}};1^{\kappa})$$

$$\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\circ\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))))))|^{2}<1.2\times10^{-31}+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)\quad(360)$$

which could be further decomposed into

$$\big| \Pi_{\mathsf{fail}} \mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}; 1^{\kappa})$$

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{osh}^{(0)}} (\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \circ \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))))))^{2} < 1.2 \times 10^{-31} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$(361)$$

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{fail}}\mathsf{BNTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}_{\mathsf{BNTest}}(\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}^{blind}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}};1^{\kappa})$$

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{false}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{+}} \Pi_{\mathsf{true}}^{\boldsymbol{indic}_{-}} \mathcal{P}_{0,-} \mathcal{P}_{0,+} \Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{0}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}} (\mathcal{R}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \circ \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))))))|^{2} < 1.2 \times 10^{-31} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

where the input states are the same as the two terms in (352). Thus applying the properties of BNTest (Theorem 11.2) implies

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{0,\vec{b},+} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{0,+}|^2 \le 10^{-12} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \text{ where } c_{0,+} := \sqrt{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} c_{0,\vec{b},+}^2} \tag{363}$$

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{0,\vec{b},-} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{0,-}|^2 \le 10^{-12} + \text{negl}(\kappa) \text{ where } c_{0,-} := \sqrt{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} c_{0,\vec{b},-}^2}$$
(364)

Similarly for $b^{(0)} = 1$ we have

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{1,\vec{b},+} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{1,+}|^2 \le 10^{-12} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \text{ where } c_{1,+} := \sqrt{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} c_{1,\vec{b},+}^2}$$
(365)

$$\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |c_{1,\vec{b},-} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}} c_{1,-}|^2 \le 10^{-12} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \text{ where } c_{1,-} := \sqrt{\sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} c_{1,\vec{b},-}^2}$$
(366)

Part II: construction of Sim With these analysis in hands we can start to construct the isometry Sim that satisfies (70). At a high level:

- 1. In step 0-3 below we first aim at giving a server-side isomorphism between the left hand side of (351) and the target state (367).¹⁶
- 2. Then the simulation of the left hand side of (70) is constructed based on the simulation of the left hand side of (351).

Sim is constructed as follows.

0. As the preparation, recall the target state (67) could be expanded into (below we use S_{subs} to denote the server-side registers appeared in (67)):

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\dots7\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}} \underbrace{|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes \sum_{\vec{b}\in\{0,1\}^L} e^{(\sum_{i\in[L]}\theta^{(i)}b^{(i)})i\pi/4} \underbrace{|b^{(1)}b^{(2)}\dots b^{(L)}\rangle}_{S_{subs}} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}}$$
(367)

where we use $b^{(i)}$ to denote the *i*-th bit of \vec{b} .

- 1. The isometry Sim first introduces the following registers in its workspace:
 - $indic_+, indic_-$ registers that hold true/false values, which are used to take the place of $indic_+, indic_-$ that appeared in (352) of Part I.
 - Single-bit register $i\tilde{ndic}_{col}$, which is used to simulate the value of $b^{(0)}$ (thus simulate the collapsing measurement $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}}$) in Part I.
 - $indic_{garbage}$ register, which indicates whether the state is what we aim to construct (when $indic_{garbage} = 0$) or it's some garbage state (when $indic_{garbage} \neq 0$). The reason is we aim to construct Sim as a unitary while the state (351) is not even necessarily normalized. How could we prepare a sub-normalized state through a unitary? Here we only aim at simulating the left hand side of (351) in the $indic_{garbage} = 0$ part, and arguing later that the norm of the $indic_{garbage} \neq 0$ is small.

In this step we define a server-side operation O_1 that operates on the server-side of (367), and indicator registers introduced above. This step assigns right values for these indicator registers, and make their norms match what we want. Recall the norms for each possible value of $b^{(0)}$ and +/- are given in (363)-(366). First, the operator in this step distribute norms based on values of indicator registers and maps (367) to:

$$(367) \otimes (\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{in\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}ic}_{garbage}} \otimes (\underbrace{|\mathsf{true}\rangle}_{in\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}ic}_{+}} \underbrace{|\mathsf{false}\rangle}_{in\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}ic}_{-}} ((\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{in\tilde{\boldsymbol{d}ic}_{col}} c_{0,+} + |1\rangle c_{1,+})$$

$$(368)$$

+
$$|\mathsf{false}\rangle |\mathsf{true}\rangle (|0\rangle c_{0,-} + |1\rangle c_{1,-}))$$
 (369)

$$+ \underbrace{|1\rangle}_{indic_{garbage}} |\cdots\rangle) \tag{370}$$

 $^{^{16}}$ Note that although we call (367) the "target state", what we are going to do is to apply Sim on (367) and simulate a state that resembles the left hand side of (351).

Now recall $indic_+, indic_-$ indicates whether the phases are complex-conjugated, and as discussed in Section 2.1, the complex-conjugated case is isometric to the honest case. To simulate this part, do a control-X on all the bits of S_{subs} conditioned on $indic_-$ = true. Then the final output state of this step is

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}} \underbrace{|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}|}_{\text{client}} \otimes (\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{\text{indic}_{garbage}} \otimes ($$

$$(371)$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\dots7\}^L\\ \text{indic}_{\pm}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8L}} \underbrace{|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\dots\theta^{(L)}\rangle}_{\text{client}} \otimes (\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{\text{indic}_{garbage}} \otimes ($$

$$\underbrace{|\text{true}\rangle |\text{false}\rangle}_{\text{indic}_{\pm}} \sum_{b^{(0)}\in\{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b}\in\{0,1\}^L} e^{(\sum_{i\in[L]}\theta^{(i)}b^{(i)})\text{i}\pi/4} \underbrace{|b^{(0)}\rangle}_{\text{indic}_{col}} \underbrace{|\vec{b}\rangle}_{S_{subs}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{b^{(0)},+} \tag{372}$$

$$+\left|\mathsf{false}\right\rangle\left|\mathsf{true}\right\rangle e^{(\sum_{i\in[L]}\theta^{(i)})\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \sum_{\vec{b}\in\{0,1\}^L} \sum_{\vec{b}\in\{0,1\}^L} e^{-(\sum_{i\in[L]}\theta^{(i)}b^{(i)})\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left|b^{(0)}\right\rangle \left|\vec{b}\right\rangle \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^L}} c_{b^{(0)},-}) \tag{373}$$

$$+ \underbrace{1}_{indic_{narbage}} |\cdots\rangle) \tag{374}$$

- 2. The next step is to create the state that simulates each branch of (353)(354) excluding the phase information. We first need to formally define the state that resembles each branch of (353)(354). This is defined step-by-step as follows:
 - (a) Define $|\chi^0_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$ as part of the states in (353)(354) excluding the phase information:

$$|\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}^{0}\rangle := \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle}_{\text{Client}}$$
(375)

$$|\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}^{0}\rangle := \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle}_{\text{Client}}$$
(376)

(b) (375)(376) contains many client-side registers, but what Sim can simulate should be server-side. To address this problem, define $|\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$ as the following states: corresponding to \boldsymbol{K} in $|\chi^0_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$, initialize S_K with the same size as K; and corresponding to other client-side registers implicit in (375)(376), initialize the corresponding server-side registers with the same size (for example, initialize $S_{K^{(\text{helper})}}$ corresponding to $K^{(\text{helper})}$). Denote the collection of them as S_{c} . Then define

$$|\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}^{1}\rangle := \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\tilde{\phi}_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle}_{S_{kob}}$$
(377)

$$|\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}^{1}\rangle := \underbrace{\sum_{K \in \text{Domain}(K)} |K\rangle \otimes |x_{b^{(0)}}^{(0)}\rangle \otimes \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^{L}} |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle |\tilde{\phi}_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle}_{S_{K}}$$
(378)

where $|\tilde{\phi}_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$ is defined to be the state coming from swapping the client-side registers and S_c (initialized to be empty) on $|\phi_{K,b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$.

(c) This step is a preparation for dealing with the blinded oracle later. Recall that when we analyze the final outcome state $|\varphi'\rangle$, one important step is to use (345) to replace the adversary querying the normal oracle by an adversary querying a blinded oracle. For the simulated state, we also need a way to connect the adversary that queries the normal oracle to an adversary that query the blinded oracle. This problem is addressed in this step, by artificially swapping the values of normal oracle and the blinded oracle in $|\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$, which is the definition of $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle$.

Define $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle$ as follows: start from states $|\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle$ ((377)(378)), swap the values of $\boldsymbol{H}(\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots)$ and $\boldsymbol{H}'(\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||K^{(\text{helper})}||\cdots)$ (recall \boldsymbol{H}' is the blinded oracle); Then as in the last step, we use an additional step to remove registers that are not server-side simulatable. Initialize a server-side empty register $\boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{H}',blind}$ that has the same size as the blinded part of the oracle, and swap the \boldsymbol{H}' registers that originally hold the blinded part, with $\boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{H}',blind}$.

What we get is the following. Suppose \mathcal{U} is a server-side operation that queries H, and \mathcal{U}^{blind} is its blinded version (that is, replacing all the queries to H by queries to the blinded one). Both operations output a value to some register, and use $|\Pi_0|\cdot\rangle|^2$ to denote the probability of getting 0. Then

$$|\Pi_0 \mathcal{U}|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle|^2 = |\Pi_0 \mathcal{U}^{blind}|\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}\rangle|^2 \text{ for all } \pm \in \{+,-\}, b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}, \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L$$
 (379)

(d) We want to define an operation that prepares state $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle$ conditioned on the subscript registers and indicator registers in (372)(373). But there is an additional restriction from the norms of each branch in (372)(373). For each value of S_{sub} and indicator registers in (372)(373), the norm of this branch is $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}}c_{b^{(0)},\pm}$; the state we want to prepare in this state has norm $c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}$, which is not compatible, even if they are close on average by (363)-(366). We need to rescale the state $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle$, $|\chi^2_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle$. We need to be careful: we do not want to up-scale them since we can't prepare a state in the random oracle model that is not valid (Definition 3.4), but down-scaling is fine.¹⁷

For each $b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}, \vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L, \pm \in \{+,-\}$, define $|\chi^3_{b^{(0)}, \vec{b},+}\rangle$ as:

$$|\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}^{3}\rangle := \begin{cases} |\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}^{2}\rangle & \text{if } c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}}c_{b^{(0)},\pm} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}}c_{b^{(0)},\pm} & |\chi_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm}^{2}\rangle & \text{if } c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},\pm} > \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}}c_{b^{(0)},\pm} \end{cases}$$
(380)

Then the overall operation of this step is defined as follows. Controlled by the indicator and S_{subs} registers, server-side isometry O_2 implements the mapping:

$$\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{in\tilde{d}ic_{qarbage}} \underbrace{|\text{true}\rangle}_{indic_{+}} \underbrace{|\text{false}\rangle}_{indic_{-}} \underbrace{|b^{(0)}\rangle}_{in\tilde{d}ic_{col}} \underbrace{|\vec{b}\rangle}_{S_{subs}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{L}}} c_{b^{(0)},+} \tag{381}$$

$$\left. \left| 0 \right\rangle \left| \mathsf{false} \right\rangle \left| \mathsf{true} \right\rangle \left| b^{(0)} \right\rangle \left| \vec{b} \right\rangle \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{b^{(0)},-} \tag{383} \right.$$

$$\rightarrow
\begin{cases}
\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{in\tilde{d}ic_{garbage}} |\chi^{3}_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle + |2\rangle |\cdots\rangle & \text{if } c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{b^{(0)},-} \\
|0\rangle |\chi^{3}_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle & \text{if } c_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-} > \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L}} c_{b^{(0)},-}
\end{cases}$$
(384)

3. Define O_3 as the operator that erases the subscript vector register \mathbf{S}_{subs} based on the values of $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}_{bsh}$ (where $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}_{bsh}$ is defined to be the registers that holds $\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}$ in (375)(376)):

$$\underbrace{O_3: \underbrace{|K\rangle}_{S_K} \underbrace{|\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle}_{S_{bsh}} \underbrace{|\vec{b}\rangle}_{S_{subs}} \rightarrow |K\rangle \, |\vec{x}_{\vec{b}}\rangle \, |0\rangle}_{}$$

 $^{^{17}\}mathrm{As}$ an example, if there is an operation that prepares a state $|\varphi\rangle,$ it's possible to prepare $\sqrt{1-a^2}\,|0\rangle\,|\varphi\rangle+a\,|1\rangle\,|garbage\rangle$ for $a\in(0,1),$ where the first bit is in the $indic_{garbage}$ register. But it's not possible to prepare $1/\sqrt{1-a^2}\,|\varphi\rangle.$

4. The remaining thing to do is to append the operators that connects a simulation of (352) given above to the simulation of real execution outcome $\Pi_{\text{comp}} | \varphi' \rangle$.

The overall operation of Sim, operating on $|(67)\rangle$, is defined as

$$\mathsf{Set}(\boldsymbol{type} \to |\mathsf{comp}\rangle) \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{comp}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1} \circ \mathsf{Disgard}(\boldsymbol{indic}, \boldsymbol{S_K}, \boldsymbol{S_c}, \boldsymbol{S_{H',blind}}) \circ \mathsf{COPY}(\boldsymbol{S_{\tilde{K}}} \to \boldsymbol{trans_{\tilde{K}}}) \circ \\ O_3 \circ O_2 \circ O_1$$

where:

- Recall in the comp round of Protocol 2, the client needs to send out all the keys in \tilde{K} to the server in the end. Denote the transcript register that holds this information as $trans_{\tilde{K}}$, and $\mathsf{COPY}(S_{\tilde{K}} \to trans_{\tilde{K}})$ that bitwise-CNOT the corresponding keys in the corresponding simulated registers to $trans_{\tilde{K}}$.
- Disgard operator disgards $\tilde{indic}_{garbage}, \tilde{indic}_+, \tilde{indic}_-, \tilde{indic}_{col}$ and $S_K, S_c, S_{H',blind}$ to the environment; these registers are used in our construction but are not accessible by the distinguisher in (70).
- Adv_{comp} is the operation of Adv in the comp round; $\tilde{\text{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}$ is the non-blinded version of $\tilde{\text{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}$ defined in (347).
- $Set(type \rightarrow |comp\rangle)$ means setting register type (recall in execution of Protocol 2 there is a round type register) in the transcript to comp.

Part III: proof of (70) Let's prove Sim constructed above satisfies (70). Suppose the efficient distinguisher is D, and use Π_0 to denote the projector that the distinguisher outputs 0. Thus (70) translates to:

$$|\Pi_0 D \Pi_{\mathsf{comp}} |\varphi'\rangle| \tag{385}$$

$$\approx_{0.1\sqrt{p_{\text{comp}}} + \text{negl}(\kappa)} |\Pi_0 D \sqrt{p_{\text{comp}}} \text{Sim} |(67)\rangle|$$
 (386)

We move towards it by analyzing both sides. First define D^{blind} as the operation that queries the blinded oracle instead of the original oracle H. First by (345) we can calculate the inner state of (385):

$$D\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}} | \varphi' \rangle \tag{387}$$

$$= \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} D\mathsf{Set}(\boldsymbol{type} \to |\mathsf{comp}\rangle) \mathsf{Disgard}(\mathsf{client\text{-}side} \; \mathsf{registers} \; \mathsf{except} \; \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)}) \mathsf{CalcRel}(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)})$$

$$\circ \; \mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{comp}} (| \varphi^{2.a} \rangle \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}) \tag{388}$$

$$\approx_{10^{-100} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} D^{blind} \mathsf{Set}(\boldsymbol{type} \to |\mathsf{comp}\rangle) \mathsf{Disgard}(\mathsf{client\text{-}side} \; \mathsf{registers} \; \mathsf{except} \; \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)}) \mathsf{CalcRel}(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)}) \tag{389}$$

$$\circ \operatorname{Adv}_{\operatorname{comp}}^{blind}(|\varphi^{2.a}\rangle \odot \tilde{\mathbf{K}}) \tag{390}$$

where $\mathsf{CalcRel}(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)}\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)})$ is the client-side operation that calculates the relative phase $\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)}\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)}$ from $\boldsymbol{\Theta}$.

Now we analyze (386) and move towards (389)(390).

1. By (363)-(366), we can change the basis norms of the outputs of $O_3 \circ O_2 \circ O_1 \mid (67) \rangle$ to the same norms as $|\phi...\rangle$ in (353)(354) (that is, remove the re-scaling in (380)):

$$O_{3} \circ O_{2} \circ O_{1} \circ (67)$$

$$\approx_{0.01+\operatorname{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^{L}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^{L}}} \left|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\right\rangle \otimes \left(\underbrace{0\right)}_{in\tilde{d}ic_{garbage}} \otimes \left(\frac{1}{in\tilde{d}ic_{garbage}}\right)$$

$$\left|\operatorname{true}\right\rangle \left|\operatorname{false}\right\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)}\in\{0,1\}} \sum_{\tilde{b}\in\{0,1\}^{L}} \underbrace{\left|b^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{in\tilde{d}ic_{col}} \left|\chi_{b^{(0)},\tilde{b},+}^{2}\right\rangle$$

$$+ e^{\left(\sum_{i\in[L]}\theta^{(i)}\right)\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \left|\operatorname{false}\right\rangle \left|\operatorname{true}\right\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)}\in\{0,1\}} \sum_{\tilde{b}\in\{0,1\}^{L}} \left|b^{(0)}\right\rangle \left|\chi_{b^{(0)},\tilde{b},-}^{2}\right\rangle \right) + \left|1\right\rangle \left|\cdots\right\rangle \right) \tag{391}$$

 $^{^{18}\}text{Recall }\overline{S_{\pmb{K}}}$ holds the simulation of $\pmb{K},$ here $\pmb{S}_{\tilde{\pmb{K}}}$ is the part of $\pmb{S}_{\pmb{K}}$ that simulates $\tilde{\pmb{K}}.$

2. This step aims at replacing $|\chi^2\rangle$ in (391) by the corresponding $|\chi^1\rangle$. The difference here is we swap the content of the original oracle and the blinded oracle; as discussed in (379), if we also swap the operators that query the original oracle to the blinded oracle, the final probability of outputting 0 in (386) will not change. Explicitly, it is

 $|\Pi_0 D \mathsf{Set}(\boldsymbol{type} \rightarrow |\mathsf{comp}\rangle) \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{comp}} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt})^{-1} \circ \mathsf{Disgard}(\boldsymbol{indic}, \boldsymbol{S_K}, \boldsymbol{S_c}, \boldsymbol{S_{H',blind}}) \circ \mathsf{COPY}(\boldsymbol{S_{\tilde{K}}} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{trans_{\tilde{K}}}) \circ (391)|$

$$= |\Pi_0 D^{blind} \mathsf{Set}(\boldsymbol{type} \to |\mathsf{comp}\rangle) \circ \mathsf{Adv}_{\mathsf{comp}}^{blind} \circ (\tilde{\mathsf{Adv}}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind})^{-1} \circ \mathsf{Disgard}(\boldsymbol{indic}, \boldsymbol{S_K}, \boldsymbol{S_c}) \circ \mathsf{COPY}(\boldsymbol{S_{\tilde{K}}} \to \boldsymbol{trans_{\tilde{K}}}) (\tag{393})$$

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}} \left| \theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)} \right\rangle \otimes (\underbrace{0}_{indic_{garbage}}) \otimes ($$

$$(394)$$

$$|\mathsf{true}\rangle\,|\mathsf{false}\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \underbrace{|b^{(0)}\rangle}_{in\vec{d}ic} |\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle \tag{395}$$

$$+ \, e^{(\sum_{i \in [L]} \theta^{(i)}) \mathrm{i} \pi/4} \, |\mathsf{false}\rangle \, |\mathsf{true}\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |b^{(0)}\rangle \, |\chi^1_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle) + |1\rangle \, |\cdots\rangle) \qquad (396)$$

(397)

3. This step aims at replacing $|\chi^1\rangle$ in (396) by the corresponding $|\chi^0\rangle$. The two states are the same up to positions of some registers (K corresponds to S_K , etc). Thus

$$\operatorname{Disgard}(\tilde{indic}, S_K, S_c,) \circ \operatorname{COPY}(S_{\tilde{K}} \to trans_{\tilde{K}})(394)(395)(396) \tag{398}$$

=Disgard(
$$indic, K$$
, client-side registers of $|\chi\rangle$) \circ ((399)

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}} |\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\rangle \otimes (\underbrace{|0\rangle}_{indic_{garbage}} \otimes (400)$$

$$|\operatorname{true}\rangle |\operatorname{false}\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \underbrace{|b^{(0)}\rangle}_{in\vec{d}ic_{-1}} |\chi^0_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\rangle \tag{401}$$

$$+ e^{(\sum_{i \in [L]} \theta^{(i)}) i\pi/4} \left| \mathsf{false} \right\rangle \left| \mathsf{true} \right\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} \left| b^{(0)} \right\rangle \left| \chi^0_{b^{(0)}, \vec{b}, -} \right\rangle) + \left| 1 \right\rangle \left| \cdots \right\rangle) \tag{402}$$

$$) \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})) \tag{403}$$

Note when we replace $S_{\tilde{K}}$ by \tilde{K} $\mathsf{COPY}(S_{\tilde{K}} \to trans_{\tilde{K}})$ becomes $\odot \tilde{K}$.

4. Note that we have not simulated the Θ register yet, and the phases in (391)(396)(402) solely come from (67). Introduce registers S_{Θ} that has the same size as Θ (which could hold (1 + L) phase pairs). Consider state

$$\sum_{\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\in\{0,1\cdots7\}^L}\frac{1}{\sqrt{8^L}}(|\theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}\rangle\otimes$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\Theta \in \mathrm{Domain}(\mathbf{\Theta}) \text{ such that} \\ \text{the relative phase of } \Theta^{(1)}\Theta^{(2)}\cdots\Theta^{(L)} \text{ is } \theta^{(1)}\theta^{(2)}\cdots\theta^{(L)}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8L}} \underbrace{\ket{\Theta}}_{\mathbf{\Theta}} \otimes$$

$$e^{\mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{b^{(0)}\vec{b}})\mathrm{i}\pi/4}\left|\mathsf{true}\right\rangle\left|\mathsf{false}\right\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)}\in\{0,1\}}\sum_{\vec{b}\in\{0,1\}^L}\underbrace{\left|b^{(0)}\right\rangle}_{in\widetilde{dic}_{col}}\left|\chi^0_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},+}\right\rangle$$

$$+ \, e^{-\mathrm{SUM}(\vec{\Theta}_{b^{(0)}\vec{b}})\mathrm{i}\pi/4} \, |\mathsf{false}\rangle \, |\mathsf{true}\rangle \sum_{b^{(0)} \in \{0,1\}} \sum_{\vec{b} \in \{0,1\}^L} |b^{(0)}\rangle \, |\chi^0_{b^{(0)},\vec{b},-}\rangle + |1\rangle \, |\cdots\rangle) \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})) \tag{404}$$

Compare (400)(401)(402)(403) and (404) two states differ by a global phase on each component corresponding to each value of $indic_{col}$, $indic_{qarbage}$, Θ . By Fact 2 there is

$$Disgard(\Theta)(404) \approx^{ind:\mathcal{F}_{cq}} (400)(401)(402) \tag{405}$$

where \mathcal{F}_{cq} is the set of operators that operates on the transcript, client-side registers and the $indic_{\pm}$ register in a read-only way.

Note

$$\Pi_0^{indic_{garbage}}(404)$$

$$= \mathsf{CalcRel}(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)}\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)}\cdots\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)})($$

$$(406)$$

$$\mathsf{Collapse}(\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)})\mathcal{PR}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\circ\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))\odot\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}) \tag{407}$$

where $\mathsf{Collapse}(S_{bsh}^{(0)})$ is the operation that calculate the subscript of the keys in $S_{bsh}^{(0)}$ to register $indic_{col}$.

5. Recall on each branch corresponding to the $K^{(0)}$, \mathcal{P}^{\dagger} could be seen as an operation that operates only on $indic_{\pm}$, $\Theta^{(0)}$. Thus

$$\mathsf{Collapse}(\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)})\mathcal{PR}_{2}(|\$_{2}\rangle\otimes(\mathcal{R}_{1}(|\$_{1}\rangle\otimes\mathsf{ReviseRO}\circ\Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})}|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle)))\odot\tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}) \tag{408}$$

$$\approx_0^{ind} \mathsf{Collapse}(\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}) \mathcal{P}^\dagger \mathcal{P} \mathcal{R}_2(|\$_2\rangle \otimes (\mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO} \circ \Pi_{\mathrm{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle))) \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}) \quad (409)$$

$$\approx_{0.01 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{Collapse}(\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}^{(0)}) \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} | \tilde{\varphi}^{2.a} \rangle))) \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}}) \tag{410}$$

$$\approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \Pi_{\mathsf{basishonest}(\mathbf{K})} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \odot \tilde{\mathbf{K}}$$
 (411)

$$\approx_{0.01} |\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \odot \tilde{K}$$
 (412)

where the distinguisher in (408)(409) operates on all the registers excluding the indicator registers and $\Theta^{(0)}$; (409)(410) is from (351); (410)(411) is by the collapsing property (where the distinguisher has no access to $K^{(0)}$), (411)(412) is by (347). Also note that we omit registers that are not used and remain in product state with other parts (for example, $|\$_1\rangle$, $|\$_2\rangle$ etc).

Combining all these steps we have

$$|\Pi_0 D \operatorname{Sim} |(67)\rangle| \tag{413}$$

$$\approx_{0.01 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} |\Pi_0 D^{blind} \Pi_{\mathsf{comp}} \mathsf{Disgard}(\mathsf{client\text{-}side} \; \mathsf{registers} \; \mathsf{except} \; \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)}) \mathsf{CalcRel}(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(2)} \cdots \boldsymbol{\theta}^{(L)})$$

$$\circ \operatorname{Adv}_{\operatorname{comp}}^{blind}(\operatorname{Adv}_{2.b.sbt}^{blind})^{-1}(|\tilde{\varphi}^{2.a}\rangle \odot \tilde{\boldsymbol{K}})| \tag{415}$$

which compared with (390) completes the proof.

13 From Remote State Preparation to Quantum Computation Verification

In this section we complete the construction of our CVQC protocol thus complete the proof of Theorem 1.1.

13.1 From Pre-RSPV to RSPV

In this subsection we will give an RSPV protocol (as defined in Definition 4.2, 4.3) from the pre-RSPV protocol (as defined in Definition 4.4, 4.5, constructed in Protocol 2).

Comparing the definition of RSPV to pre-RSPV, the differences are:

 In Definition 4.5 there is an additional case in the conclusion that the winning probability is bounded away from OPT. This means in preRSPV the adversary could possibly cheat by making the winning probability small.

In addition, in Definition 4.3 the bound on the passing probability in the first case is much smaller than Definition 4.5. This means in RSPV the adversary's freedom of cheating without being caught is much smaller.

• In preRSPV the output state is only generated in the comp round, which appears with probability p_{comp} ; in RSPV the state should be generated with high probability.

We do the security amplification from preRSPV to RSPV in two steps, as follows.

1. preRSPV to preRSPVTemp:

- (a) In Step 1, both parties do a repetition of preRSPV protocol. And the client calculates the number of winning cases. If it's significantly fewer than the optimal expectation value, the client outputs fail. (The client also outputs fail if any call to the subprotocols fail.)
 - In this way we resolve the problems discussed in the first bullet above. For the second bullet we put it into the second step below, and for the honest behavior (correctness property) of this step we use a simple solution as follows:
- (b) The client chooses a random index i and reveals it. If the i-th round is a comp round, then the server gets the state and the client stores comp as the overall flag. Otherwise the client stores \bot as the overall round type.

Thus preRSPVTemp will have the following outputs: type $\in \{comp, \bot\}$, flag $\in \{pass, fail\}$, and the client-side keys and server-side states (only if type= comp).

2. preRSPVTemp to RSPV:

Both parties repeat the preRSPVTemp protocol for many times to ensure an output state is generated with high probability.

13.1.1 Step 1: a fully verifiable protocol that does not necessarily generate an output state We first construct preRSPVTemp from preRSPV.

Protocol 14 (preRSPVTemp). Suppose the security parameter is κ and the output number is L.

- 1. Take the round number $N = 10^{2500}$.
 - For i in [N]:
 - (a) Both parties run protocol preRSPV($1^L, 1^{\kappa}$).

Note for each i there is a round type sampled from {test, quiz, comp}. In addition to the pass/fail flag, the client will output a score in {win, lose, \bot }, where win/lose only appear in the quiz round, and honestly, score = win with probability OPT (conditioned on quiz round).

2. If any round fail, the client outputs fail.

If the total number of win $is \leq N \cdot p_{\text{quiz}} \cdot (OPT - 10^{-210})$ (recall $OPT = \frac{1}{3}\cos^2(\pi/8) = 0.28451779686 \cdots p_{\text{quiz}} = \frac{1}{10}$), the client outputs fail.

- 3. The client picks a random round i and tells i to the server.
 - If the round type of the i-th round is comp, the server picks up the corresponding gadgets and disgards the others. The client keeps the keys, outputs comp in the overall round type register and disgards the other systems.

• If the round type of the i-th round is not comp, the client stores \perp in the overall round type register. Both parties disgard everything else.

Correctness In the honest setting conditioned on the overall round type is comp, with probability \geq $1-10^{-5}$ - negl(κ) the joint output state of the client and the server is (66).

Proof of correctness. By Section 5.4 in the honest setting each call to preRSPV could fail only with negligible probability. Thus except with negligible probability, the only case where the client will output fail against an honest server is the statistical testing of quiz scores (number of win) in the second step. By properties of the preRSPV protocol the honest server could generate a win score with probability $\geq \text{OPT} - \text{negl}(\kappa)$ in each quiz round. Thus the expectation of win for each round $i \in [N]$ is $\geq p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot \mathsf{OPT} - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$. Then by Chernoff's bound

Pr[the number of win is
$$\leq N \cdot p_{\text{quiz}} \cdot (\text{OPT} - 10^{-210})] \leq 10^{-6} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$$

This completes the proof.

Now we prove Protocol 14 satisfies a verifiability statement as Definition 4.3 (verifiability of RSPV protocol) for target state (67) with output number L.

Theorem 13.1 (Verifiability of preRSPVTemp). For any polynomial time adversary Adv, any efficientlypreparable initial state $|\varphi^0\rangle = O|0\rangle$, there exists a server-side operation $Sim^{Adv,O}$ such that

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPVTemp}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) | \varphi^0 \rangle$$
 (416)

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{preRSPVTemp}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L,1^\kappa) | \varphi^0 \rangle \tag{416}$$

$$\approx_{0.11+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv},O} | Equation \ (67) \rangle \tag{417}$$

Proof of Theorem 13.1. Consider an efficient adversary Adv. Let's analyze the output state of the first step of Protocol 14. The first step is an iteration of preRSPV for each $i \in [N]$. For each round counter $i \in [N]$, suppose the history of round types and output flags and scores of previous tests by the beginning of the i-th round are recorded as

$$rec^{\langle i} = ((type_1 \cdots type_{i-1}), (flag_1, \cdots flag_{i-1}), (score_1 \cdots score_{i-1}))$$
 (418)

where type $\in \{\text{test}, \text{quiz}, \text{comp}\}$, flag $\in \{\text{pass}, \text{fail}\}$, score $\in \{\text{win}, \text{lose}, \bot\}$. We use bold fonts for their corresponding registers. Then

Domain($rec^{(i)}$) := The set of all the valid records (equation (418)) by the end of round i-1

Suppose the server's state in the end of round i-1 is denoted as $|\varphi^{i-1}\rangle$ and the component (Definition 3.16) when the history record is $rec^{< i}$ is denoted as $|\varphi^{i-1}\rangle$. Thus

$$|\varphi^{i-1}\rangle = \sum_{rec < i \in \text{Domain}(rec^{< i})} \underbrace{|rec^{< i}\rangle}_{rec^{< i}} \otimes |\varphi^{i-1}_{rec^{< i}}\rangle$$
 (419)

When the first step of Protocol 14 completes, the final state could be decomposed as

$$|\varphi^N\rangle = \sum_{rec \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{rec}^{\leq N})} \underbrace{|rec\rangle}_{\boldsymbol{rec}^{\leq N}} \otimes |\varphi^N_{rec}\rangle$$

where $rec^{\leq N}$ are registers for all these records in all the N rounds.

Denote the part of Adv's operation at round i on record $rec^{< i}$ as $\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, i}$. For each round $i \in [N]$, history record $rec^{< i} \in Domain(i-1)$, apply the verifiability of preRSPV (Theorem 5.2) on initial state

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{flag_{< i}} \ket{\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}}$$

where $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{flag_{< i}}$ is the projection onto the space that the registers $flag_1 \cdots flag_{i-1}$ all have value pass. Then we know there exists a server-side simulator $\mathsf{Sim}_{rec^{< i}, i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec} < i, i}$ such that at least one of the following three cases is true: 19

¹⁹Note that Theorem 5.2 is on normalized initial state, thus we need to normalize $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_{< i}} | \varphi_{\mathit{rec}^{< i}}^{i-1} \rangle$ before applying it. This is possible as long as $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_{< i}} | \varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1} \rangle$ is non-negligible norm, and the efficiently-preparable property still preserve by Fact 6. If the norms are negligible it could be merged with the third case below.

• Limited passing probability:

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\textit{flag}_i}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec} < i,i}(|rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\textit{flag}_{< i}}|\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle)|^2 \leq (1 - 10^{-2000})|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\textit{flag}_{< i}}|\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle|^2 \tag{420}$$

(We omit the arguments of the protocol call for simplicity.)

• The probability of win is less than expected:

$$|\Pi_{\mathsf{win}}^{\boldsymbol{score}_i}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}< i,i}(|rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{< i}}|\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle)|^2 \leq p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} - 10^{-200})|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{< i}}|\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle|^2 \tag{421}$$

• The output state has verifiability:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\boldsymbol{type}_{i}}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}< i, i}(|rec^{

$$\approx_{0.1\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}|\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{$$$$

where $Adv_{rec < i, < i}$ is the operation of Adv by the beginning of the *i*-th round when the record is $rec^{< i}$.

We want to show (422) is true with sufficiently high probability in the passing space for randomly chosen i. Formally, define

$$T := \text{the set of } (rec^{< i}, i), i \in [N], rec^{< i} \in \text{Domain}(rec^{< i}) \text{ that } (422) \text{ is true.}$$

$$(423)$$

We want to show

$$|(\mathbb{I} - \Pi_{\in T}^{rec^{$$

where $\Pi_{\in T}^{rec^{<i},i}$ is the projection onto the space that the round counter i, and the history record by the beginning of time step i, is in T. We put the proof into a box for continuity of proof stream.

Consider state $|\varphi^N\rangle$, which is the state when the first step of preRSPVTemp completes. Use $rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} |\varphi^N\rangle$ to denote the (subnormalized) probability distribution coming from measuring the rec transcript register of $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} |\varphi^N\rangle$. Recall we use $rec^{< i}$ to denote the first i-1 records of rec. Define events

$$\begin{split} E_1 := \text{ there exists } i \in [N], \ \pmb{flag}_i = \text{fail} \\ E_2 := \text{number of win} \leq N \cdot p_{\text{quiz}} \cdot (\text{OPT} - 10^{-210}) \end{split}$$

For simplicity define

$$\epsilon = 10^{-2000}$$

And define

$$\begin{split} A_{rec} &:= \{i \in [N] : (rec^{< i}, i) \text{ makes (420) hold} \} \\ B_{rec} &:= \{i \in [N] : (rec^{< i}, i) \text{ makes (421) hold} \} \\ W_{rec} &:= \{i \in [N] : \boldsymbol{score}^i = \text{win in } |\varphi^N\rangle \} \end{split}$$

Then

$$\Pr_{i \leftarrow [N]} \Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} | \varphi^N \rangle} [((421) \text{ holds } \lor (420) \text{ holds }) \land \neg (E_1 \lor E_2)]$$

$$\leq \Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} | \varphi^N \rangle} [|A_{rec}| \geq 30/\epsilon \land \neg E_1]$$

$$+ \Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} | \varphi^N \rangle} [|B_{rec} - A_{rec}| \geq 10^{-5} N \land |A_{rec}| \leq 30/\epsilon \land \neg E_2]$$

$$+ 60/(N\epsilon) + 10^{-5} \tag{425}$$

where the first term in (425) is $\leq (1 - \epsilon)^{30/\epsilon} \leq 10^{-5}$.

To bound the second term above, recall the definition of E_2 above. We want to bound the probability that the number of win is big with the other events given in the second term. First note

$$[N] = A_{rec} \cup (B_{rec} - A_{rec}) \cup ([N] - B_{rec} - A_{rec})$$

We will bound the number of win for $i \in B_{rec} - A_{rec}$ and $i \in ([N] - B_{rec} - A_{rec})$ separately, as follows:

$$\Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} | \varphi^N \rangle} [| (B_{rec} - A_{rec}) \cap W_{rec} | \ge | B_{rec} - A_{rec} | \cdot p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} - 10^{-203})] \le 10^{-5}$$
 (426)

$$\Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}|\varphi^N\rangle}[|([N] - B_{rec} - A_{rec}) \cap W_{rec}| \ge |[N] - B_{rec} - A_{rec}| \cdot p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} + 10^{-215})] \le 10^{-5} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{427}$$

Both comes from Corollary 3.2. ^a Combining them we have

$$\Pr_{rec \leftarrow \Pi_{\text{pass}}|\varphi^N\rangle}[|B_{rec} - A_{rec}| \geq 10^{-5}N \wedge |A_{rec}| \leq 30/\epsilon \wedge \neg E_2] \leq 5 \times 10^{-5} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

Summing them up completes the proof.

 a The probability upper-bound of each sample in (427) come from (422), while the probability upper-bound of each sample in (426) comes from Theorem 5.1:

$$|\Pi_{\mathrm{win}}^{\boldsymbol{score}_i}\mathsf{preRSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec} < i,i}(|rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{< i}} |\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle)|^2 \leq p_{\mathsf{quiz}} \cdot (\mathsf{OPT} + 10^{-220}) |\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{< i}} |\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i-1}\rangle|^2 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \quad (428)$$

When the whole protocol completes, for each $rec \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{rec}^{\leq N})$, suppose rec appears with probability p_{rec} . Now consider the simulator $\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}}$ defined as follows. (Since we mix the necessary definitions with the actual operations we use underlines to remark the actual operations of $\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}}$.)

1. Pick a random $i \in [N]$.

Sample $rec \in Domain(\mathbf{rec}^{\leq N})$ with probability p_{rec} , and keep the terms with index in [i-1]. Denote it as $rec^{\leq i}$ ($\in Domain(\mathbf{rec}^{\leq i})$) and the appearance probability is $p_{rec}^{\leq i}$.

The purified overall state by the end of this step is

$$\sqrt{p_{rec^{< i}}} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} |i\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec^{< i} \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{rec}^{< i})} |rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes |0\rangle$$
(429)

2. As implicitly used in (422), $|\varphi_{rec^{<i}}^{i-1}\rangle$ is efficiently preparable by a unitary followed by a re-scaling by Fact 6. (That is, there exists a polynomial time simulator $\mathsf{Sim}_{rec^{<i},<i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}<i,<i}$ such that

$$|\varphi_{rec^{$$

)

Suppose $\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, i}$ is the operation of Adv during the *i*-th round when the previous history record is $rec^{< i}$. Recall $(rec^{< i}, i) \in T$, there exists a simulator $\mathsf{Sim}_{rec^{< i}, i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, i}, \mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, < i}}$ that satisfies (422).²⁰

Controlled by the values of $rec^{< i}$ and i, if $(rec^{< i}, i) \notin T$, set all the flags to fail and stop the construction of Sim. Otherwise apply $\operatorname{Sim}_{rec^{< i}, i}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, i}, \operatorname{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, i}}$ on the server side of |Equation (67) \rangle . Denote the post-execution state

$$|\tilde{\varphi}_{rec^{

$$(431)$$$$

²⁰Following the convention on the superscript of Sim, where Sim^{Adv,O} stands for the simulator corresponding to the protocol execution against adversary Adv and initial state $O|0\rangle$, the second part of the superscript here should be $\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}}_{rec^{< i}, < i}$. Here we simply use $\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{< i}, < i}$ for simplicity.

The overall state by the end of this step when the round counter is i, is

$$|\tilde{\varphi}^{i}\rangle := \sum_{rec < i \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{rec} < i)} |rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{rec^{< i}}^{i+1}\rangle$$
 (432)

3. Controlled by the values of $rec^{< i}$ and i, apply

$$\mathsf{Sim}_{rec^{i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}i} = \mathsf{Disgard}(\boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{C}}) \mathsf{Serversim}(\mathsf{preRSPVTemp}_{>i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}i}) \tag{433}$$

on (432), where:

- $Adv_{rec^{<i},>i}$ is the operation of Adv starting from the i+1-th round when the previous history record by the end of the i-1 round is $rec^{<i}$.²¹
- Serversim(Prtl) is a server-side operation that (1) first initialize a register S_C that has the same size as the client-side registers initialized in Prtl; (2) do all the operations between the server-side of the initial state and S_C instead of the real client. This transformation transforms an interactive protocol to a server-side operations that simulates the server-side view of the original protocol.

Denote the final state as

$$|\tilde{\varphi}'\rangle = \sum_{rec^{i}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{rec}i} |\tilde{\varphi}^i_{rec^{$$

We will prove Sim satisfies (416).

By (422)(430)(431), for any $(rec^{< i}, i) \in T$:

$$|rec^{$$

Thus applying (434) for each $(rec^{< i}, i) \in T$ and summing up the errors we get:

$$\Pi_{(rec^{< i}, i) \in T} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} |i\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec^{< i} \in \text{Domain}(\mathbf{rec}^{< i})} |rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\text{comp}}^{\mathbf{type}_{i}} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathbf{flag}_{< i}} |\varphi_{rec^{< i}}^{i}\rangle \quad (435)$$

$$\approx_{(1/10+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa))\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}}^{ind}\Pi_{(rec^{< i},i) \in T} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \left| i \right\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec^{< i} \in \mathsf{Domain}(\boldsymbol{rec}^{< i})} \left| rec^{< i} \right\rangle \otimes \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\boldsymbol{flag}_{< i}} \left| \tilde{\varphi}_{rec^{< i}}^{i} \right\rangle \quad (436)$$

Then let's consider the application of $\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}< i,> i}_{rec< i,> i}$. For any rec< i, by construction (433):

$$\operatorname{Sim}_{rec < i, > i}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{rec} < i, > i} | \varphi_{rec < i}^{i} \rangle = \operatorname{preRSPVTemp}_{> i}^{\operatorname{Adv}_{rec} < i, > i} | \varphi_{rec < i}^{i} \rangle \tag{437}$$

Combining it with (435)(436) we get

$$\Pi_{(rec < i, i) \in T} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \left| i \right\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec < i \in \text{Domain}(rec < i)} \left| rec^{< i} \right\rangle \otimes \text{preRSPVTemp}_{>i}^{\text{Adv}_{rec} < i}, >i \left(\Pi_{\text{comp}}^{\textit{type}_i} \Pi_{\text{pass}}^{\textit{flag} < i} \left| \varphi_{rec < i}^i \right\rangle \right)$$

(438)

$$\approx_{(1/10+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa))\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}}^{ind}\Pi_{(rec^{i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{i}}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathsf{flag}_{

$$(439)$$$$

There the record in the *i*-th round is implicit in $|\tilde{\varphi}_{rec<i}^{i+1}\rangle$ in (432), and the adversary has access to it; but we make the $rec^{<i}$ part explicit in (432) thus we also need to make it explicit in the subscript of the adversary's operation.

Which implies both sides are close if we focus on the space that all the flag registers are in value pass (denoted as Π_{pass}):

$$\Pi_{(rec^{< i}, i) \in T} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} |i\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec^{< i} \in \mathsf{Domain}(\boldsymbol{rec}^{< i})} |rec^{< i}\rangle \otimes \mathsf{preRSPVTemp}_{>i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec}^{< i}, > i} (\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\boldsymbol{type}_i} | \varphi_{rec^{< i}}^i \rangle)$$

$$\approx_{(1/10+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa))\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}}^{ind}\Pi_{(rec^{i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{rec^{i}}\left|\tilde{\varphi}_{rec^{

$$(441)$$$$

Now we could apply (424) to (440) and get

$$(440) \approx_{0.01 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} |i\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec \in \mathsf{Domain}(\mathbf{rec}^{\leq N})} |rec\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\mathbf{type}_i} |\varphi_{rec}^N\rangle$$
(442)

And by the construction of Sim we have the simulated state on the space of $(\mathbb{I} - \Pi_{(rec^{< i}, i) \in T_i})\Pi_{pass}$ has norm 0. Thus

$$(441) = \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \sum_{i \in [N]} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} |i\rangle \otimes \sum_{rec \in \mathsf{Domain}(\mathbf{rec}^{\leq N})} |rec\rangle \otimes \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} |\tilde{\varphi}_{rec}^{N}\rangle) \tag{443}$$

which together implies

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\boldsymbol{type}_i}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\sum_{i\in[N]}\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\left|i\right>\otimes\left|\varphi'\right> \approx_{0.11+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind}\sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}}\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\sum_{i\in[N]}\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\left|i\right>\otimes\left|\tilde{\varphi}'\right>$$

This completes the proof.

13.1.2 Step 2: handing the case where comp round is not reached

In this section we construct RSPV protocol from the preRSPVTemp protocol in the last section.

Protocol 15 (RSPV). Inputs: security parameter κ , output number L. Take $N = 10/p_{\text{comp}} = 100$.

- 1. For $i \in [N]$:
 - (a) Both parties run preRSPVTemp.
 - If this subprotocol call outputs comp in its round type register, break out of the loop.
 - Otherwise both the client and the server disgard all outputs (client side phases and server-side states) of this round.
- 2. If the loop in the first step does not terminate by the breaking out command, the client outputs fail in the flag register. If any subprotocol call returns fail as its flag, the client outputs fail too.

Otherwise, suppose the first step breaks out when the round counter is i. The client and the server use the keys and states generated in the i-th round as the output keys and the output state.

Correctness If the server is honest, the protocol succeeds with probability $\geq 0.98 - \text{negl}(\kappa)$ and the joint state of the client and the server is (66) (up to negligible distance) in the end.

Proof. The cases where an honest server could result in fail are:

- In the underlying preRSPVTemp protocol the client could possibly output fail against an honest server. This happens with probability $\leq N \cdot (10^{-4} + \text{negl}(\kappa)) \leq 0.01 + \text{negl}(\kappa)$.
- The probability that all the calls of preRSPVTemp have round type \bot is $\le (1 p_{\mathsf{comp}})^N \le 0.01$.

If these two cases do not happen, the client and the honest server get the output keys and states (66) by the correctness of preRSPVTemp. This completes the proof.

Then we could prove Protocol 15 satisfies Definition 4.3, the verifiability requirement for RSPV protocol:

Theorem 13.2 (Verifiability of Protocol 15, repeat of Definition 4.3). For any efficient adversary Adv there exists a server-side operator Sim^{Adv} such that:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{RSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L,1^\kappa) \left| 0 \right\rangle \approx_{0.15+\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}} \left| Equation \right. (67) \rangle \tag{444}$$

Proof. Expand the left hand side of (444) by the value of the register that stores the round counter i when the protocol terminates:

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{RSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) \left| 0 \right\rangle \tag{445}$$

$$= \sum_{i \in [N]} \underbrace{|i\rangle}_{\text{round counter}} \otimes \Pi_{\text{pass}}^{\mathbf{flag}_{i}} \Pi_{\text{comp}}^{\mathbf{type}_{i}} \text{preRSPVTemp}^{\text{Adv}_{i}} (\Pi_{\text{pass}}^{\mathbf{flag}_{

$$+ |N\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\text{pass}}^{\mathbf{flag}_{i}} \Pi_{\perp}^{\mathbf{type}_{i}} \text{preRSPVTemp}^{\text{Adv}_{i}} (\Pi_{\text{pass}}^{\mathbf{flag}_{

$$(446)$$$$$$

$$+ |N\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_i} \Pi_{\perp}^{\mathit{type}_i} \mathsf{preRSPVTemp}^{\mathsf{Adv}_i} (\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_{< i}} \Pi_{\perp}^{\mathit{type}_{< i}} \mathsf{RSPV}_{< i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{< i}} |0\rangle) \tag{447}$$

where $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{flag_{< i}}$ is the projection onto the space that the flag registers for round 1 to i-1 all have value pass, $\Pi_{\perp}^{type_{< i}}$ is the projection onto the space that the round type registers for round 1 to i-1 all have value \perp , $\mathsf{RSPV}_{< i}$ is the protocol from round 1 to i-1, $\mathsf{Adv}_{< i}$ is the part of Adv by the end of the i-1-th round. And $\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_i}$, $\Pi_{\perp}^{\mathit{type}_i}$, Adv_i are defined similarly.

The norm of term (447) is upper bounded by $(1 - p_{\mathsf{comp}})^N \leq 0.01$. Thus

$$(445) \approx_{0.01} \sum_{i \in [N]} |i\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_i} \Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\mathit{type}_i} \mathsf{preRSPVTemp}^{\mathsf{Adv}_i} (\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_{< i}} \Pi_{\bot}^{\mathit{type}_{< i}} \mathsf{RSPV}_{< i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{< i}} |0\rangle) \tag{448}$$

Then we could apply Theorem 13.1 to each term of (448) which leads to an isometry $Sim^{i,Adv}$ for each $i \in [N]$:

$$\forall i \in [N], \quad |i\rangle \otimes \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_i} \Pi_{\mathsf{comp}}^{\mathit{type}_i} \mathsf{preRSPVTemp}^{\mathsf{Adv}_i} (\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\mathit{flag}_{< i}} \Pi_{\perp}^{\mathit{type}_{< i}} \mathsf{RSPV}_{< i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{< i}} |0\rangle) \tag{449}$$

$$\approx_{0.11\sqrt{p_i} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} |i\rangle \otimes \sqrt{p_i} \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{flag_i} \mathsf{Sim}^{i,\mathsf{Adv}} | \text{Equation (67)} \rangle$$
(450)

where

$$p_i := |\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}^{\textit{flag}_{< i}} \Pi_{\perp}^{\textit{type}_{< i}} \mathsf{RSPV}_{< i}^{\mathsf{Adv}_{< i}} \left| 0 \right\rangle|^2$$

Then summing them up and summing up the error terms we could continue from (448):

Right hand side of
$$(448)$$
 (451)

$$\approx_{0.11 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \sum_{i \in [N]} \sqrt{p_i} \sqrt{p_{\mathsf{comp}}} |i\rangle \otimes \mathsf{Sim}^{i,\mathsf{Adv}} | \text{Equation (67)} \rangle$$
 (452)

where (452) defines a simulator Sim that samples i with probability $p_i p_{\mathsf{comp}}$ and runs the corresponding $Sim^{i,Adv}$. Combining (448)(451)(452) completes the proof.

13.2 From RSPV to CVQC

Now we will construct a CVQC protocol from the RSPV protocol in the last subsection.

Protocol 16 (CVQC). Input: circuit C to be verified, which determines the gadget number L = O(|C|)under Theorem 4.2. Suppose the security parameter is κ .

- 1. Both parties run RSPV $(1^L, 1^\kappa)$.
- 2. Both parties run the gadget-assisted verification protocol (Theorem 4.2) with the gadgets above.

We have the following for the protocol, which proves Theorem 1.1.

Completeness The protocol has completeness $\frac{2}{3}$.

Proof. There are two cases where the client in the protocol will output fail on a yes instance against an honest server:

- The call to the RSPV protocol in the first step might fail with probability $\frac{1}{10} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$, as defined in Definition 4.2.
- The underlying gadget-assisted verification protocol in the third step is allowed to have a failing probability of $\frac{1}{10}$.

The total probability is $\leq \frac{1}{3} + \text{negl}(\kappa)$.

Soundness The protocol has soundness $\frac{1}{3}$ in QROM against BQP adversaries.

Proof. After the application of RSPV against adversary Adv, define $|\varphi'\rangle$ as the output state:

$$|\varphi'\rangle = \mathsf{RSPV}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(1^L, 1^\kappa) |0\rangle$$

By Theorem 13.2, there exists a server-side isometry Sim such that

$$\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} | \varphi' \rangle \approx_{0.15 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}^{ind} \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}} | \mathsf{Equation} (67) \rangle$$
 (453)

By the soundness property of the underlying gadget-assisted protocol (by Theorem 4.2, denote as GAUVBQC) we know for any Adv' which denotes the adversary for the gadget-assisted verification step:

$$\forall C, o, \Pr[C \, | 0\rangle = o] \leq \frac{1}{100} : |\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{GAUVBQC}^{\mathsf{Adv}'}(C, o, \Pi_{\mathsf{pass}}\mathsf{Sim}^{\mathsf{Adv}} \, | \mathrm{Equation} \, \, (67)\rangle)|^2 \leq \frac{1}{50}$$

Substitute (453) we get

$$\forall C, o, \Pr[C \, | 0 \rangle = o] \leq \frac{1}{100} : |\Pi_{\mathsf{pass}} \mathsf{GAUVBQC}^{\mathsf{Adv}'}(C, o, |\varphi'\rangle)|^2 \leq 0.33 + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

which completes the proof.

Efficiency The protocol runs in time $O(poly(\kappa)|C|)$.

By this time we complete the proof of Theorem 1.1.

A Missing Proofs By Section 5

Proof of Fact 3. This is implied by

$$||\varphi\rangle - |\phi\rangle|^2 = 2(||\varphi\rangle|^2 + ||\phi\rangle|^2) - ||\varphi\rangle + |\phi\rangle|^2$$

Proof of Fact 9. This is because state

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \sum_{\theta \in \{0,1\cdots 7\}} |\theta\rangle$$

is invariant under the operator.

Proof of Fact 10. This is because for any $sum \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}$, state

$$\sum_{c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\in\mathcal{C}, \text{SUM}(c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N)=sum} |c_0c_1c_2\cdots c_N\rangle$$

is invariant under the operator.

Proof of Fact 4. Suppose $\vec{c} = (c_1, c_2 \cdots c_D)$, $\vec{d} = (d_1, d_2 \cdots d_D)$. Denote S as the set of index i such that $c_i \leq d_i$. Then

$$\vec{c'} \approx_{\epsilon_1} \vec{d} \Rightarrow \sum_{i \in S} |c_i - d_i|^2 \le \epsilon_1^2$$

$$\vec{c} \approx_{\epsilon_2} \vec{d'} \Rightarrow \sum_{i \notin S} |c_i - d_i|^2 \le \epsilon_2^2$$

Summing them up completes the proof.

Proof of Fact 5.

$$\frac{1}{|D|} \sum_{d_1 \in D} \sum_{d_2 \in D} |c_{d_1} - c_{d_2}|^2 = 2 \sum_{d \in D} (1 + \frac{1}{D}) c_d^2 - 2 (\frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|}} \sum_{d \in D} c_d)^2 \approx_{\epsilon} 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|}} \sum_{d \in D} c_d \approx_{\frac{3}{2}\epsilon/c + \frac{1}{D}} c$$

$$\Rightarrow \sum_{d \in D} |c_d - \frac{1}{\sqrt{D}} c|^2 = c^2 - 2 (\frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|}} \sum_{d \in D} c_d) c + c^2 \approx_{4\epsilon/c + \frac{2}{D}} 0$$

Proof of Fact 6. Define $\tilde{\mathsf{Sim}}$ as the operation that runs O and measures register C until c appears. Cuting-off the repetition in $\tilde{\mathsf{Sim}}$ by κ and purifying the operation completes the construction.

Lemma 3.1 is the usual Chernoff's bound.

Proof of Corollary 3.2. We only need to prove

$$\Pr[(\forall i, \text{ sample history by time } i \text{ is not in } S_i) \land (|\{i: s_i = 1\}| \ge (1 + \delta)pN)] \le e^{-\delta^2 N/4}$$

which comes from Lemma 3.1.

A proof of Lemma 3.4 is given in [55] using standard techniques. We give a proof here for self-containment.

Proof of Lemma 3.4. Define Π as the projection onto strings with prefix in **pads** in the query input register. Then consider $H(\mathbb{I} - \Pi)$ which is the operation that projecting out the space that have a prefix in **pads** from the query.

Define O_k as the operation that the last k queries of O to the random oracle are replaced by $H(\mathbb{I} - \Pi)$. We can prove, for all $k \in [|O|]$ (|O| denotes the number of queries):

$$O_{k} \sum_{pads \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})|}} |pads\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} O_{k-1} \sum_{pads \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})|}} |pads\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle. \tag{454}$$

The reason is, (454) could be reduced to

$$|\prod \sum_{pads \in \text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\text{Domain}(\boldsymbol{pads})|}} |pads\rangle \otimes U_k |\varphi\rangle | \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0$$
(455)

where U is the part of O just before the k-th query counting from the last to the first. Note by the time of the k-th query (counting from the last to the first) pads still contains unused freshly new randomness. Thus (455) is true by direct calculation.

Summing up (454) for each
$$k \in [|O|]$$
. Then $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle := O_{|O|} |\varphi\rangle$ gives the state we want.

B Missing Proofs in Section 6

Proof of Lemma 6.4. Define H' as the blinded oracle where $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}||\cdots$ and $\{0,1\}^{2\kappa}||\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}||\cdots$ are blinded. Define Adv^t as the operation where the first t queries of Adv are replaced by queries to H'. First we could prove

$$\forall t \in [|\mathsf{Adv}|], \mathsf{Adv}^t(|\varphi\rangle \odot [\![\mathsf{AuxInf}]\!]) \approx_{\mathsf{negI}(\kappa)} \mathsf{Adv}^{t-1}(|\varphi\rangle \odot [\![\mathsf{AuxInf}]\!]) \tag{456}$$

(456) is proved as follows. Define U^{t-1} as the operation in Adv^{t-1} by the time of the t-th query. Define S_{roq} to be the register used to hold random oracle queries. Then (456) is reduced to proving

$$|\Pi^{\boldsymbol{S}_{roq}}_{\in\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}||\cdots\cup\{0,1\}^{2\kappa}||\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}||\cdots}U^{t-1}(|\varphi\rangle\odot[\![\operatorname{AuxInf}]\!])|\leq \operatorname{negl}(\kappa) \tag{457}$$

Use pads to denote the set of registers that holds the random pads used in Auxlnf. Applying Lemma 3.4 we get $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ that does not depend on $H(pads||\cdots)$ such that

$$|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \sum_{pads \in \mathsf{Domain}(\pmb{pads})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathsf{Domain}(\pmb{pads})|}} \, |pads\rangle \otimes |\varphi\rangle$$

This implies (457) is reduced to proving

$$\left| \prod_{\substack{i \in \{0,1\}^{\kappa} | |\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}| | \dots \cup \{0,1\}^{2\kappa}}}^{S_{roq}} U^{t-1}(|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \odot [\![\mathsf{AuxInf}]\!]) \right| \le \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$(458)$$

since entries of H in the form of $pads||p_{pre}^{(t)}||x_{1-b}^{(i)},pads||x_{1-b}^{(i)}||p_{post}^{(t)}$ are never queried by the preparation of $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ and U^{t-1} , the left hand side is equal to

$$|\Pi_{\in\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\boldsymbol{x}_{1-h}^{(i)}||\cdots\cup\{0,1\}^{2\kappa}}^{S_{roq}}U^{t-1}(|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle\odot[\$])|$$
(459)

where [\$] denotes random strings of the same size of [AuxInf]). Then (459) is $\leq \text{negl}(\kappa)$ by claw-freeness. Now (456) is proved.

Now summing up (456) for each $t \in [|\mathsf{Adv}|]$ we have

$$\mathsf{Adv}(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{AuxInf} \rrbracket) \approx_{\mathsf{negI}(\kappa)} \mathsf{Adv}'(|\varphi\rangle \odot \llbracket \mathsf{AuxInf} \rrbracket) \tag{460}$$

where Adv' is the operation where each query in Adv is replaced by query to H'. Now by the same reason as (458) to (459) we know

$$|\Pi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{1-b}^{(i)}}\mathsf{Adv}'(|\varphi\rangle\odot \llbracket \mathsf{AuxInf} \rrbracket)| \leq \mathsf{negI}(\kappa)$$

which together with (460) completes the proof.

Proof of Lemma 6.5. Define Adv^t as the operation where the first t queries of Adv are replaced by queries to H'. The problem is reduced to

$$\mathsf{Adv}^t \left| \varphi \right\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{Adv}^{t-1} \left| \varphi \right\rangle$$

as the proof of Lemma 6.4, this is further reduced to

$$|\Pi_{\cdots \mid |\boldsymbol{x}_{1-h}^{(i)}|\mid \cdots}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{roq}} U^{t-1} \left| \varphi \right\rangle | \leq \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

which holds by claw-freeness.

C Missing Proofs in Section 7

To prove Lemma 7.2, we first prove the following lemma.

Lemma C.1. Suppose the client holds a key pair in register $K = \{x_0, x_1\}$. Below we use |x| to denote the length of keys in K. Suppose the purified joint state

$$|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle = \sum_{pad \in \{0,1\}^{\kappa}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{\kappa}}} \underbrace{|pad\rangle}_{pad \ in \ transcript} \otimes |\tilde{\varphi}_{pad}\rangle$$

does not depend on $H(\mathbf{pad}||\{0,1\}^{|\mathbf{x}|})$. Suppose an adversary Adv^{blind} only queries the blinded oracle H' where entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\mathbf{x}_b|$ are blinded, for some $b \in \{0,1\}$. Then

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last\ \kappa\ bits\ of\ \boldsymbol{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \, | = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\Pi_{\neq 0}^{last\ \kappa\ bits\ of\ \boldsymbol{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \, |$$

where the subscript " \geq 2" means the first step of HadamardTest (sampling a random pad) has already been done and thus skipped.

The proof is by a direct calculation similar to the proof of Lemma A.7.1 in [55].

Proof. Without loss of generality assume b = 0. Since $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ does not depend on $H(\mathbf{pad}||\{0,1\}^{|\mathbf{x}|})$ and Adv^{blind} does not query $H(\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\mathbf{x}_b)$,

$$\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}_{\geq 2}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\ket{\tilde{\varphi}} \text{ does not depend on } \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{pad}||\boldsymbol{x}_0).$$

Suppose the server's response in HadamardTest is written into register $d = (d_1, d_2)$ where d_2 corresponds to the last κ bits. Then we can write the post-execution state as

$$\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}_{\geq 2}(\boldsymbol{K}; 1^{\kappa}) | \tilde{\varphi} \rangle = \sum_{(d_1, d_2) \in \mathsf{Domain}(\boldsymbol{d})} |d_1\rangle |d_2\rangle |\chi_{d_1, d_2}\rangle \tag{462}$$

Then we can expand the left hand side of (461) as follows:

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\mathbf{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\mathbf{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\mathbf{K};1^{\kappa})|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle| \tag{463}$$

(substitute (462) and use the condition that
$$|\chi_{d_1,d_2}\rangle$$
 does not depend on $\boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{pad}||\boldsymbol{x}_0)$) (464)

$$= \sqrt{\mathbb{E}_{H(\boldsymbol{pad}||\boldsymbol{x}_0)} |\Pi_{d_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{x}_0 + d_2 \cdot H(\boldsymbol{pad}||\boldsymbol{x}_0) = d_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{x}_1 + d_2 \cdot H(\boldsymbol{pad}||\boldsymbol{x}_1)} \Pi_{d_2 \neq 0} \sum_{d_1 d_2} |d_1\rangle \otimes |d_2\rangle \otimes |\chi_{d_1, d_2}\rangle|^2}$$
(465)

$$= \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} |\Pi_{d_2 \neq 0} \sum_{d_1, d_2} |d_1\rangle \otimes |d_2\rangle \otimes |\chi_{d_1, d_2}\rangle|^2}$$

$$\tag{466}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last } \kappa \text{ bits of } \boldsymbol{d}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K}; 1^{\kappa}) |\tilde{\varphi}\rangle | \tag{467}$$

Then we could prove Lemma 7.2.

Proof of Lemma 7.2. We will move towards Lemma C.1 step by step.

1. Suppose the random pad used in the Hadamard test is stored in register pad. By Lemma 3.4 there exists $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ such that

$$|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^{\kappa}}} \sum_{pad \in \{0,1\}^{\kappa}} \underbrace{|pad\rangle}_{pad} \otimes |\varphi\rangle$$

and $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$ does not depend on the value of $H(pad||\cdots)$.

2. By Lemma 6.5 we have

$$\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\ket{\varphi} \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\ket{\varphi}$$

where Adv^{blind} come from replacing all the queries in Adv by queries to \mathbf{H}' , where \mathbf{H}' is the blinded version of \mathbf{H} where entries $\{0,1\}^{\kappa}||\mathbf{K}|$ are blinded.

3. We can apply Lemma C.1 to get

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\textit{\textbf{d}}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\textit{\textbf{K}};1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \, | \\ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\textit{\textbf{K}};1^{\kappa}) \, |\tilde{\varphi}\rangle \, |$$

$$|\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa\text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle\,| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa\text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}_{\geq 2}^{\mathsf{Adv}^{blind}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle\,|$$

Combining all these steps completes the proof.

Then we could prove Corollary 7.3 from this lemma.

Proof of Corollary 7.3. For each $b \in \{0, 1\}$, define

$$|\varphi_{b,0}'\rangle := \Pi_{(79)=0}^{d} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }d} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K};1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi_{b}\rangle$$

$$|\varphi_{b,1}'\rangle := \Pi_{(79)=1}^{\textit{\textbf{d}}} \Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\textit{\textbf{d}}} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\textit{\textbf{K}};1^{\kappa}) \, |\varphi_b\rangle$$

$$|\varphi_{b-}'\rangle := \prod_{=0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }d} \mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\pmb{K};1^{\kappa}) |\varphi_b
angle$$

Then by Lemma 7.2 we have

$$\forall b \in \{0,1\}, ||\varphi_{b,0}'\rangle| \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} ||\varphi_{b,0}'\rangle + |\varphi_{b,1}'\rangle|, ||\varphi_{b,1}'\rangle| \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} ||\varphi_{b,0}'\rangle + |\varphi_{b,1}'\rangle| \tag{468}$$

From the condition of Corollary 7.3 we get

$$||\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle + |\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle| \ge \sqrt{1-p} - \epsilon \tag{469}$$

On the other hand

$$||\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle + |\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle| \le \sqrt{2}\sqrt{||\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle|^2 + ||\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle|^2}$$

$$(470)$$

(By (468))
$$\leq \sqrt{||\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle + |\varphi'_{0,1}\rangle|^2 + ||\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle + |\varphi'_{1,1}\rangle|^2} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$
 (471)

$$\leq \sqrt{1 - \epsilon^2 - ||\varphi_{0,-}'\rangle|^2 - ||\varphi_{1,-}'\rangle|^2} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa) \tag{472}$$

Comparing it with (469) we get

$$|\,|\varphi_{0,-}'\rangle\,|^2 + |\,|\varphi_{1,-}'\rangle\,|^2 \leq p + 2\epsilon + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

$$\Rightarrow \forall b \in \{0,1\}, |\left.|\varphi_{b,-}'\right\rangle| \leq \sqrt{p+2\epsilon} + \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$$

This completes the proof of (110)

For (109), we can first bound

$$||\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle|^2 + ||\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle|^2 \le \frac{1}{2}(||\varphi_0\rangle|^2 + ||\varphi_1\rangle|^2) \le \frac{1}{2}(1 - \epsilon^2)$$
 (473)

which together with (469) allows us to apply Fact 3 and get

$$|\varphi'_{0,0}\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{p+\epsilon}} |\varphi'_{1,0}\rangle$$

which completes the proof of (109).

Finally by the condition of Corollary 7.3 again we get, the norm of the failing space of the output state is $\leq \sqrt{p}$, thus

$$||\varphi'_{0,1}\rangle + |\varphi'_{1,1}\rangle| \leq \sqrt{p} + \sqrt{\epsilon}$$

which completes the proof.

D Missing Proofs in Section 8

Proof of Lemma 8.2. The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 6.6. As the proof of Lemma 6.6, Lemma 8.2 is reduced to

$$\sum_{b,b' \in \{0,1\}^2, b \neq b'} \prod_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b'}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \circ \mathcal{P} \circ \prod_{\boldsymbol{x}_{b}^{(i)}}^{\boldsymbol{S}_{bsh}} \prod_{\text{basishonest}(\boldsymbol{K})} |\varphi\rangle \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} 0 \tag{474}$$

where \mathcal{P} is an efficient operation in \mathcal{F}_{blind} . Then (474) follows by the claw-free property of $|\varphi\rangle$.

Proof of Lemma 8.3. Suppose $|\varphi\rangle = \mathcal{R}_1(|\$_1\rangle \otimes \mathsf{ReviseRO}|\varphi^0\rangle)$. Define $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle = \mathsf{Prtl}^{\mathsf{Adv}_0}|\varphi^0\rangle$. By Lemma 8.1 we know the passing probability when the initial state is $|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle$, is $\geq 1 - p - \mathsf{negl}(\kappa)$. Applying Lemma 7.2 proves

$$|\Pi_{(79)=0}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}';1^{\kappa})\left|\tilde{\varphi}\right\rangle| \approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}';1^{\kappa})\left|\tilde{\varphi}\right\rangle|$$

$$|\Pi_{(79)=1}^{\boldsymbol{d}}\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}';1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle\,|\approx_{\mathsf{negl}(\kappa)}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\Pi_{\neq 0}^{\text{last }\kappa \text{ bits of }\boldsymbol{d}}\mathsf{HadamardTest}^{\mathsf{Adv}}(\boldsymbol{K}';1^{\kappa})\,|\tilde{\varphi}\rangle\,|$$

Applying Lemma 8.1 again, together with the fact that ReviseRO commutes with all the operators in HadamardTest^{Adv} and Prtl^{Advo}, completes the proof. \Box

E Missing Proofs in Section 10.1

We will prove the lemmas in Section 10.1 step by step.

E.1 Basic Inequalities

Before going to the proofs, we give the following basic lemmas. These lemmas could be proved via basic linear algebra or calculus.

Lemma E.1. Suppose
$$\vec{a}=(a_1,a_2\cdots a_n), \ \vec{b}=(b_1,b_2\cdots b_n).$$
 If $\frac{\vec{a}\cdot\vec{b}}{|\vec{a}||\vec{b}|}\geq 1-\epsilon$, there is

$$ec{a}/|ec{a}| pprox \sqrt{2\epsilon} \; ec{b}/|ec{b}|$$

 $\textbf{Lemma E.2.} \ \, \textit{If} \ \, \cos^2(\tfrac{1}{4}\arccos\lambda) + \cos^2(\tfrac{1}{4}\arccos(-\lambda)) \approx_{\epsilon} 2\cos^2(\pi/8), \ \, \epsilon < 0.1, \ \, \textit{there is } \lambda \approx_{4\sqrt{\epsilon}} 0.1, \ \, \textit{there is } \lambda \approx_{$

E.2 3-states Lemmas

Below we use Re to denote the real part of a complex number.

Lemma E.3. Suppose vectors $|\varphi\rangle$, $|\psi\rangle$ both have norm ≤ 1 . Then for any $|\chi\rangle$ with norm ≤ 1 ,

$$||\varphi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 + ||\psi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 \le 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle}{||\varphi\rangle|\cdot||\psi\rangle|})) \tag{475}$$

If $|\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle \neq 0$ the equality holds iff $|\varphi\rangle = |\psi\rangle = 1$ and

$$|\chi\rangle = (|\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle)/||\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle| \tag{476}$$

Proof. The left hand side of (475) is less than or equal to

$$4 + 2\operatorname{Re}(\langle \varphi | \chi \rangle) + 2\operatorname{Re}(\langle \chi | \psi \rangle) \tag{477}$$

Up to an isometry, suppose $|\varphi\rangle = h|0\rangle$ and $|\psi\rangle = (a+b\mathrm{i})|0\rangle + c|1\rangle$, $h, a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, $h \leq 1$, $a^2 + b^2 + c^2 \leq 1$. Assume $|\chi\rangle = \alpha|0\rangle + \beta|1\rangle + \gamma|2\rangle$, $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}$, $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 + |\gamma|^2 \leq 1$. Then we could calculate (477) directly

by Cauchy's inequality:

$$(478)$$

$$=4 + 2((h+a)\operatorname{Re}(\alpha) + b\operatorname{Im}(\alpha) + c\operatorname{Re}(\beta)) \tag{479}$$

$$\leq 4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2}\sqrt{(\text{Re}(\alpha))^2 + (\text{Im}(\alpha))^2 + (\text{Re}(\beta))^2}$$
(480)

$$\leq 4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2} \tag{481}$$

$$\leq 4 + 2\sqrt{h^2 + 2ah + 1} \tag{482}$$

$$\leq 4 + 2\sqrt{2 + 2a} \tag{483}$$

$$=8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle}{|\varphi\rangle|}))\tag{484}$$

$$\leq 8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle}{||\varphi\rangle|\cdot||\psi\rangle|}))\tag{485}$$

where the equality holds when

$$h = 1, a^2 + b^2 + c^2 = 1, (\mathrm{Re}(\alpha))^2 + (\mathrm{Im}(\alpha))^2 + (\mathrm{Re}(\beta))^2 = 1$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(\alpha)/(h+a) = \operatorname{Im}(\alpha)/b = \operatorname{Re}(\beta)/c$$

This implies (476).

Then we have the following lemma, which says the $|\chi\rangle$ should be close to the optimal state if (475) holds approximately:

Lemma E.4. Suppose vectors $|\varphi\rangle$, $|\psi\rangle$ both have norm ≤ 1 . Assume²² $||\varphi\rangle + |\psi\rangle| \geq 0.5$. If vector $|\chi\rangle$, $||\chi\rangle| \leq 1$, satisfies

$$||\varphi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 + ||\psi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 \ge 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}((\frac{\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle}{||\varphi\rangle| \cdot ||\psi\rangle|})) - \epsilon \tag{486}$$

where $\epsilon < 0.1$. Then there is

$$|\chi\rangle \approx_{3\sqrt{\epsilon}} (|\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle)/|\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle|$$
 (487)

Proof. Similar to the proof of Lemma E.3 we have

$$||\varphi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 + ||\psi\rangle + |\chi\rangle|^2 = 4 + 2((h+a)\operatorname{Re}(\alpha) + b\operatorname{Im}(\alpha) + c\operatorname{Re}(\beta))$$

where $h, \alpha, \beta, a, b, c$ are defined in the same way.

Then (478)-(485) together with (486) imply all the inequalities in (478)-(485) are equality up to an error ϵ , which means

$$4 + 2((h+a)\operatorname{Re}(\alpha) + b\operatorname{Im}(\alpha) + c\operatorname{Re}(\beta)) \geq 4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2}\sqrt{(\operatorname{Re}(\alpha))^2 + (\operatorname{Im}(\alpha))^2 + (\operatorname{Re}(\beta))^2} - \epsilon \ (488)$$

$$4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2}\sqrt{(\operatorname{Re}(\alpha))^2 + (\operatorname{Im}(\alpha))^2 + (\operatorname{Re}(\beta))^2} \ge 4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2} - \epsilon \tag{489}$$

$$4 + 2\sqrt{(h+a)^2 + b^2 + c^2} \ge 4 + 2\sqrt{h^2 + 2ah + 1} - \epsilon \tag{490}$$

$$4 + 2\sqrt{h^2 + 2ah + 1} \ge 4 + 2\sqrt{2 + 2a} - \epsilon \tag{491}$$

By Lemma E.1, define

$$\vec{u} := (\operatorname{Re}(\alpha), \operatorname{Im}(\alpha), \operatorname{Re}(\beta)), \vec{v} := (h + a, b, c),$$

the inequalities can be translated to

(By condition)
$$|\vec{v}| = ||\varphi\rangle + |\psi\rangle| \ge 0.5$$

²²This is to rule out the border case where $|\psi\rangle + |\varphi\rangle \approx 0$. In this case (475) still holds, but $|\chi\rangle$ is not uniquely determined.

(By (488))
$$\vec{u} \cdot \vec{v} \ge |\vec{u}| \cdot |\vec{v}| - \epsilon/2$$

(By (489)) $|\vec{u}| \ge 1 - \epsilon/(2|\vec{v}|) \ge 1 - \epsilon$ (492)

thus

$$\frac{\vec{u} \cdot \vec{v}}{|\vec{u}| \cdot |\vec{v}|} \ge 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{(1 - \epsilon)}$$

By Lemma E.1 there is

$$\vec{u}/|\vec{u}| \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon/(1-\epsilon)}} \vec{v}/|\vec{v}|$$
 (493)

Note that by (492), and $|\chi\rangle \leq 1$ we have

$$|\chi\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{2\epsilon}} \alpha |0\rangle + \text{Re}(\beta) |1\rangle$$
 (494)

$$\vec{u} \approx_{1-1/(1-\epsilon)} \vec{u}/|\vec{u}| \tag{495}$$

Combining (493)(494)(495) implies (487).

E.3 5-states Lemmas, with Approximate Normalization

Corollary E.5. Suppose subnormalized vectors $|\phi_0\rangle$, $|\phi_4\rangle$ satisfy $||\phi_0\rangle| \approx_{\epsilon} 1$, $||\phi_4\rangle| \approx_{\epsilon} 1$, $|\phi_0\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} - |\phi_4\rangle$, $\epsilon < 0.1$. Then for subnormalized vectors $|\phi_1\rangle$, $|\phi_2\rangle$, $|\phi_3\rangle$ there is

$$||\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_1\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_1\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_3\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_3\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle|^2 \le 16\cos^2(\pi/8) + 6.6\epsilon$$

Proof. By Lemma E.3:

$$||\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_1\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_1\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle|^2 \le 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_0|\phi_2\rangle}{||\phi_0\rangle|\cdot||\phi_2\rangle|}))$$

$$||\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_3\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_3\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle|^2 \le 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_2|\phi_4\rangle}{||\phi_2\rangle|\cdot||\phi_4\rangle|}))$$

By basic calculus, from $|\phi_0\rangle/|\phi_0\rangle|\approx_{3.3\epsilon}-|\phi_4\rangle/|\phi_4\rangle|$ we know

$$\cos^{2}\left(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{|\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot|\phi_{2}\rangle|}\right)\right) + \cos^{2}\left(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\langle\phi_{2}|\phi_{4}\rangle}{|\phi_{2}\rangle|\cdot|\phi_{4}\rangle|}\right)\right) \tag{496}$$

$$\leq \cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{||\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{2}\rangle|})) + \cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(-\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{||\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{2}\rangle|})) + 3.3\epsilon/4 \tag{497}$$

$$\leq 2\cos^2(\pi/8) + 3.3\epsilon/4$$
 (498)

which completes the proof.

Corollary E.6. Suppose subnormalized vectors $|\phi_0\rangle$, $|\phi_1\rangle$, $|\phi_2\rangle$, $|\phi_3\rangle$, $|\phi_4\rangle$ satisfy $||\phi_0\rangle| \approx_{\epsilon} 1$, $||\phi_4\rangle| \approx_{\epsilon} 1$, $|\phi_0\rangle \approx_{\epsilon} - |\phi_4\rangle$, $\epsilon < 0.01$. If

$$||\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_1\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_1\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_3\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_3\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle|^2 \ge 16\cos^2(\pi/8) - \epsilon \tag{499}$$

Then $|\phi_0\rangle$, $|\phi_1\rangle$, $|\phi_2\rangle$, $|\phi_3\rangle$, $|\phi_4\rangle$ satisfy:

$$\operatorname{Re}(\langle \phi_0 | \phi_2 \rangle) \approx_{4\sqrt{\epsilon}} 0 \ (that \ is, \ | |\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle | \approx_{8\sqrt{\epsilon}} \sqrt{2})$$
 (500)

$$\operatorname{Re}(\langle \phi_2 | \phi_4 \rangle) \approx_{4\sqrt{\epsilon}} 0 \ (that \ is, \ | |\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle | \approx_{8\sqrt{\epsilon}} \sqrt{2})$$
 (501)

$$|\phi_1\rangle \approx_{15\sqrt{\epsilon}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle)$$
 (502)

$$|\phi_3\rangle \approx_{15\sqrt{\epsilon}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle)$$
 (503)

Proof. Notice that by the conditions we get $\frac{|\phi_0\rangle}{||\phi_0\rangle|} \approx_{1.12\epsilon} |\phi_0\rangle$, $\frac{|\phi_4\rangle}{||\phi_4\rangle|} \approx_{1.12\epsilon} |\phi_4\rangle$. And by the same argument as Corollary E.5 there is

$$||\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_1\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_1\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_3\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_3\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle|^2$$
(504)

$$\leq 8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{||\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{2}\rangle|})) + 8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_{2}|\phi_{4}\rangle}{||\phi_{2}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{4}\rangle|})) \tag{505}$$

$$\leq 8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{||\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{2}\rangle|})) + 8\cos^{2}(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(-\frac{\langle\phi_{0}|\phi_{2}\rangle}{||\phi_{0}\rangle|\cdot||\phi_{2}\rangle|})) + 6.6\epsilon \tag{506}$$

$$\leq 16\cos^2(\pi/8) + 6.6\epsilon \tag{507}$$

which together with (499) implies each of (504)(505)(506)(507) are approximately $16\cos^2(\pi/8)$ with error in $[-\epsilon, 6.6\epsilon]$. First by (506):

$$8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_0|\phi_2\rangle}{||\phi_0\rangle|\cdot||\phi_2\rangle|})) + 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(-\frac{\langle\phi_0|\phi_2\rangle}{||\phi_0\rangle|\cdot||\phi_2\rangle|})) \approx_{7.6\epsilon} 16\cos^2(\pi/8)$$

which by Lemma E.2 implies

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\langle \phi_0 | \phi_2 \rangle}{| |\phi_0 \rangle | \cdot | |\phi_2 \rangle|}\right) \approx_{4\sqrt{\epsilon}} 0$$

which proves (500); and by symmetry (501) is proved too. And by the approximate equality of (504)(505) there is

$$||\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_1\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_1\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle|^2 \ge 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_0|\phi_2\rangle}{||\phi_0\rangle| \cdot ||\phi_2\rangle|})) - 7.6\epsilon$$

$$||\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_3\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_3\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle|^2 \ge 8\cos^2(\frac{1}{4}\arccos\operatorname{Re}(\frac{\langle\phi_2|\phi_4\rangle}{||\phi_2\rangle| \cdot ||\phi_4\rangle|})) - 7.6\epsilon,$$

apply Lemma E.4 we get

$$|\phi_1\rangle \approx_{9\sqrt{\epsilon}} (|\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle)/|\,|\phi_0\rangle + |\phi_2\rangle\,|$$

$$|\phi_3\rangle \approx_{9\sqrt{\epsilon}} (|\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle)/|\,|\phi_2\rangle + |\phi_4\rangle\,|$$

then substituting (500)(501) implies (502)(503).

E.4 Proofs of Lemmas in Section 10.1

Now we are going to prove Lemma 10.1, which is basically an application of Corollary E.5 above.

Proof of Lemma 10.1. From the conditions we know

$$\forall i \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx \sqrt{\epsilon} - |\phi_{1,i+4}\rangle \approx \sqrt{\epsilon} - |\phi_{0,i+4}\rangle$$

Without loss of generality assume $A_0 \leq A_1$. Apply Corollary E.5 we have

$$||\phi_{0,0}\rangle + |\phi_{0,1}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,1}\rangle + |\phi_{0,2}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,2}\rangle + |\phi_{0,3}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,3}\rangle + |\phi_{0,4}\rangle|^2 \le 2\cos^2(\frac{\pi}{8})A_0 + 5\sqrt{\epsilon}$$

$$|\left.|\phi_{0,4}\rangle+|\phi_{0,5}\rangle\right.|^{2}+|\left.|\phi_{0,5}\rangle+|\phi_{0,6}\rangle\right.|^{2}+|\left.|\phi_{0,6}\rangle+|\phi_{0,7}\rangle\right.|^{2}+|\left.|\phi_{0,7}\rangle+|\phi_{0,0}\rangle\right.|^{2}\leq2\cos^{2}(\frac{\pi}{8})A_{0}+5\sqrt{\epsilon}A_{0}+A_$$

which implies

$$\sum_{i \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}} | |\phi_{0, i-1}\rangle + |\phi_{0, i}\rangle |^2 \le 4\cos^2(\pi/8)A_0 + 10\sqrt{\epsilon}$$

which together with $\sum_{i\in\{0,1\cdots7\}} ||\phi_{0,i}\rangle - |\phi_{1,i}\rangle|^2 \le \epsilon$ completes the proof.

Now we prove Lemma 10.2.

Proof. Without loss of generality assume $A_0 \leq A_1$. From the conditions we know

$$\forall i \in \{0, 1 \cdots 7\}, |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} - |\phi_{1,i+4}\rangle \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} - |\phi_{0,i+4}\rangle \tag{508}$$

Substitute (508) to the fourth condition we get

$$||\phi_{0,0}\rangle + |\phi_{0,1}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,1}\rangle + |\phi_{0,2}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,2}\rangle + ||\phi_{0,3}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,3}\rangle + ||\phi_{0,4}\rangle|^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}\cos^2(\frac{\pi}{8}) - 17\epsilon \tag{509}$$

$$||\phi_{0,4}\rangle + |\phi_{0,5}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,5}\rangle + |\phi_{0,6}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,6}\rangle + |\phi_{0,7}\rangle|^2 + ||\phi_{0,7}\rangle + |\phi_{0,0}\rangle|^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}\cos^2(\frac{\pi}{8}) - 17\epsilon \qquad (510)$$

Apply Corollary E.6 we have

$$|\phi_{0,1}\rangle \approx_{11\epsilon^{1/4}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\phi_{0,0}\rangle + |\phi_{0,2}\rangle)$$
 (511)

$$|\phi_{0,3}\rangle \approx_{11\epsilon^{1/4}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\phi_{0,2}\rangle + |\phi_{0,4}\rangle) \approx_{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\phi_{0,2}\rangle - |\phi_{0,0}\rangle)$$
 (512)

Define

$$|\tilde{\phi}_{0,+}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\phi_{0,0}\rangle - i|\phi_{0,2}\rangle)$$
 (513)

$$|\tilde{\phi}_{0,-}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\phi_{0,0}\rangle + i|\phi_{0,2}\rangle) \tag{514}$$

Then through a direct calculation we can verify

$$\forall i \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}, |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{12\epsilon^{1/4}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,+}\rangle + e^{ii\pi/4} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,-}\rangle$$
(515)

Which together with (508) we get

$$\forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, 7\}, |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{13\epsilon^{1/4}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,+}\rangle + e^{ii\pi/4} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,-}\rangle$$
 (516)

Thus for $|\phi_{0,+}\rangle$, $|\phi_{0,-}\rangle$ defined in (207)(208), we have

$$|\phi_{0,+}\rangle := \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i \in \{0,1,\cdots7\}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{13\epsilon^{1/4}} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,+}\rangle$$
 (517)

$$|\phi_{0,-}\rangle := \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \in \{0,1,\cdots7\}} e^{ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{13\epsilon^{1/4}} |\tilde{\phi}_{0,-}\rangle$$
 (518)

Combining it with (516) we have

$$\forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, 7\}, |\phi_{0,i}\rangle \approx_{38\epsilon^{1/4}} e^{-ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,+}\rangle + e^{ii\pi/4} |\phi_{0,-}\rangle$$

Which together with (508) completes the proof of Lemma 10.2.

References

- [1] Dorit Aharonov, Michael Ben-or, and Elad Eban. Interactive proofs for quantum computations, 2017.
- [2] Gorjan Alagic, Andrew M. Childs, Alex Bredariol Grilo, and Shih-Han Hung. Non-interactive classical verification of quantum computation. In *IACR Cryptol. ePrint Arch.*, 2020.
- [3] Gorjan Alagic, Yfke Dulek, Christian Schaffner, and Florian Speelman. Quantum fully homomorphic encryption with verification. In ASIACRYPT, 2017.
- [4] Alexander Poremba Alexandru Gheorghiu, Tony Merger. Quantum cryptography with classical communication: parallel remote state preparation for copy-protection, verification, and more. 2022.

- [5] Andris Ambainis, Debbie Leung, Laura Mancinska, and Maris Ozols. Quantum random access codes with shared randomness. 10 2008.
- [6] Sanjeev Arora and Boaz Barak. Computational Complexity: A Modern Approach. Cambridge University Press, USA, 1st edition, 2009.
- [7] Frank Arute, Kunal Arya, Ryan Babbush, Dave Bacon, Joseph C. Bardin, Rami Barends, Rupak Biswas, Sergio Boixo, Fernando G. S. L. Brandao, David A. Buell, Brian Burkett, Yu Chen, Zijun Chen, Ben Chiaro, Roberto Collins, William Courtney, Andrew Dunsworth, Edward Farhi, Brooks Foxen, Austin Fowler, Craig Gidney, Marissa Giustina, Rob Graff, Keith Guerin, Steve Habegger, Matthew P. Harrigan, Michael J. Hartmann, Alan Ho, Markus Hoffmann, Trent Huang, Travis S. Humble, Sergei V. Isakov, Evan Jeffrey, Zhang Jiang, Dvir Kafri, Kostyantyn Kechedzhi, Julian Kelly, Paul V. Klimov, Sergey Knysh, Alexander Korotkov, Fedor Kostritsa, David Landhuis, Mike Lindmark, Erik Lucero, Dmitry Lyakh, Salvatore Mandrà, Jarrod R. McClean, Matthew McEwen, Anthony Megrant, Xiao Mi, Kristel Michielsen, Masoud Mohseni, Josh Mutus, Ofer Naaman, Matthew Neeley, Charles Neill, Murphy Yuezhen Niu, Eric Ostby, Andre Petukhov, John C. Platt, Chris Quintana, Eleanor G. Rieffel, Pedram Roushan, Nicholas C. Rubin, Daniel Sank, Kevin J. Satzinger, Vadim Smelyanskiy, Kevin J. Sung, Matthew D. Trevithick, Amit Vainsencher, Benjamin Villalonga, Theodore White, Z. Jamie Yao, Ping Yeh, Adam Zalcman, Hartmut Neven, and John M. Martinis. Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor. Nature, 574(7779):505–510, 2019.
- [8] James Bartusek. Secure quantum computation with classical communication. In Kobbi Nissim and Brent Waters, editors, *Theory of Cryptography*, pages 1–30, Cham, 2021. Springer International Publishing.
- [9] James Bartusek and Giulio Malavolta. Candidate obfuscation of null quantum circuits and witness encryption for qma. *IACR Cryptol. ePrint Arch.*, 2021:421, 2021.
- [10] Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, Peter W. Shor, John A. Smolin, Barbara M. Terhal, and William K. Wootters. Remote state preparation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 87:077902, Jul 2001.
- [11] Dan Boneh, Özgür Dagdelen, Marc Fischlin, Anja Lehmann, Christian Schaffner, and Mark Zhandry. Random oracles in a quantum world. In Dong Hoon Lee and Xiaoyun Wang, editors, *Advances in Cryptology ASIACRYPT 2011*, pages 41–69, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [12] Zvika Brakerski, Paul Christiano, Urmila Mahadev, Umesh V. Vazirani, and Thomas Vidick. A cryptographic test of quantumness and certifiable randomness from a single quantum device. In 59th IEEE Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, FOCS 2018, Paris, France, October 7-9, 2018, pages 320–331, 2018.
- [13] Zvika Brakerski, Venkata Koppula, Umesh Vazirani, and Thomas Vidick. Simpler proofs of quantumness, 05 2020.
- [14] Anne Broadbent, Joseph Fitzsimons, and Elham Kashefi. Universal blind quantum computation. In *Proceedings of the 2009 50th Annual IEEE Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science*, FOCS '09, pages 517–526, Washington, DC, USA, 2009. IEEE Computer Society.
- [15] Ran Canetti, Oded Goldreich, and Shai Halevi. The random oracle methodology, revisited. *J. ACM*, 51(4):557–594, July 2004.
- [16] Nai-Hui Chia, Kai-Min Chung, and Takashi Yamakawa. Classical verification of quantum computations with efficient verifier. *IACR Cryptol. ePrint Arch.*, 2020:1273, 2020.
- [17] Alessandro Chiesa, Peter Manohar, and Nicholas Spooner. Succinct arguments in the quantum random oracle model. In Dennis Hofheinz and Alon Rosen, editors, *Theory of Cryptography*, pages 1–29, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [18] Kai-Min Chung, Yi Lee, Han-Hsuan Lin, and Xiaodi Wu. Constant-round blind classical verification of quantum sampling. ArXiv, abs/2012.04848, 2020.

- [19] Bram Cohen and Krzysztof Pietrzak. Simple proofs of sequential work. In *IACR Cryptol. ePrint Arch.*, 2018.
- [20] Alexandru Cojocaru, Léo Colisson, Elham Kashefi, and Petros Wallden. Qfactory: Classically-instructed remote secret qubits preparation. In Steven D. Galbraith and Shiho Moriai, editors, Advances in Cryptology ASIACRYPT 2019 25th International Conference on the Theory and Application of Cryptology and Information Security, Kobe, Japan, December 8-12, 2019, Proceedings, Part I, volume 11921 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 615-645. Springer, 2019.
- [21] Andrea Coladangelo, Alex B. Grilo, Stacey Jeffery, and Thomas Vidick. Verifier-on-a-leash: New schemes for verifiable delegated quantum computation, with quasilinear resources. In Yuval Ishai and Vincent Rijmen, editors, Advances in Cryptology EUROCRYPT 2019, pages 247–277, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [22] Özgür Dagdelen and Marc Fischlin. The fiat-shamir transformation in a quantum world. 06 2013.
- [23] Jelle Don, Serge Fehr, Christian Majenz, and Christian Schaffner. Security of the fiat-shamir transformation in the quantum random-oracle model. In Alexandra Boldyreva and Daniele Micciancio, editors, Advances in Cryptology CRYPTO 2019, pages 356–383, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [24] Vedran Dunjko and Elham Kashefi. Blind quantum computing with two almost identical states. ArXiv, abs/1604.01586, 2016.
- [25] Edward Eaton and Fang Song. A Note on the Instantiability of the Quantum Random Oracle, pages 503–523. 04 2020.
- [26] Samuele Ferracin, Theodoros Kapourniotis, and Animesh Datta. Reducing resources for verification of quantum computations. *Phys. Rev. A*, 98:022323, Aug 2018.
- [27] Joseph F. Fitzsimons, Michal Hajdušek, and Tomoyuki Morimae. Post hoc verification of quantum computation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 120:040501, Jan 2018.
- [28] Joseph F. Fitzsimons and Elham Kashefi. Unconditionally verifiable blind quantum computation. *Phys. Rev. A*, 96:012303, Jul 2017.
- [29] Rosario Gennaro, Craig Gentry, and Bryan Parno. Non-interactive verifiable computing: Outsourcing computation to untrusted workers. In *Proceedings of the 30th Annual Conference on Advances in Cryptology*, CRYPTO'10, page 465–482, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010. Springer-Verlag.
- [30] Craig Gentry and Daniel Wichs. Separating succinct non-interactive arguments from all falsifiable assumptions. pages 99–108, 01 2011.
- [31] Alexandru Gheorghiu. Robust verification of quantum computation. 2018.
- [32] Alexandru Gheorghiu, Theodoros Kapourniotis, and Elham Kashefi. Verification of quantum computation: An overview of existing approaches. *Theory of Computing Systems*, 63, 05 2019.
- [33] Alexandru Gheorghiu and Thomas Vidick. Computationally-secure and composable remote state preparation. In David Zuckerman, editor, 60th IEEE Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, FOCS 2019, Baltimore, Maryland, USA, November 9-12, 2019, pages 1024–1033. IEEE Computer Society, 2019.
- [34] Oded Goldreich. Zero-knowledge twenty years after its invention, 2002. oded@wisdom.weizmann.ac.il 12026 received 5 Dec 2002.
- [35] Alex Grilo. A Simple Protocol for Verifiable Delegation of Quantum Computation in One Round. 07 2019.
- [36] Qi Zhao Honghao Fu, Daochen Wang. Computational self-testing of multi-qubit states and measurements. 2022.

- [37] Zhengfeng Ji, Anand Natarajan, Thomas Vidick, John Wright, and Henry Yuen. $Mip^* = re$. Commun. ACM, 64(11):131-138, oct 2021.
- [38] Neal Koblitz and Alfred J. Menezes. The random oracle model: a twenty-year retrospective. *Designs*, Codes and Cryptography, 77(2):587–610, 2015.
- [39] Qipeng Liu and Mark Zhandry. Revisiting post-quantum fiat-shamir. In Alexandra Boldyreva and Daniele Micciancio, editors, Advances in Cryptology – CRYPTO 2019, pages 326–355, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [40] Urmila Mahadev. Classical homomorphic encryption for quantum circuits. In Mikkel Thorup, editor, 59th IEEE Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, FOCS 2018, Paris, France, October 7-9, 2018, pages 332–338. IEEE Computer Society, 2018.
- [41] Urmila Mahadev. Classical verification of quantum computations. In Mikkel Thorup, editor, 59th IEEE Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, FOCS 2018, Paris, France, October 7-9, 2018, pages 259–267. IEEE Computer Society, 2018.
- [42] Tony Metger, Yfke Dulek, Andrea Coladangelo, and Rotem Arnon-Friedman. Device-independent quantum key distribution from computational assumptions, 10 2020.
- [43] Tony Metger and Thomas Vidick. Self-testing of a single quantum device under computational assumptions. In *ITCS*, 2021.
- [44] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information: 10th Anniversary Edition. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA, 10th edition, 2011.
- [45] Tobias J Osborne. Hamiltonian complexity. Reports on Progress in Physics, 75(2):022001, jan 2012.
- [46] Bryan Parno, Jon Howell, Craig Gentry, and Mariana Raykova. Pinocchio: Nearly practical verifiable computation. *Commun. ACM*, 59(2):103–112, jan 2016.
- [47] Ben Reichardt, Falk Unger, and Umesh V. Vazirani. Classical command of quantum systems. Nature, 496:456–460, 2013.
- [48] Adi Shamir. Ip = pspace. J. ACM, 39(4):869–877, oct 1992.
- [49] Peter W. Shor. Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer. SIAM J. Comput., 26(5):1484–1509, October 1997.
- [50] Thomas Vidick and Tina Zhang. Classical zero-knowledge arguments for quantum computations. *TQC Proceedings*, 2019.
- [51] A. C. Yao. How to generate and exchange secrets. In 27th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (sfcs 1986), pages 162–167, Oct 1986.
- [52] Mark Zhandry. How to Record Quantum Queries, and Applications to Quantum Indifferentiability, pages 239–268. 08 2019.
- [53] Jiayu Zhang. Delegating quantum computation using only hash functions. CoRR, abs/1810.05234, 2018.
- [54] Jiayu Zhang. Delegating quantum computation in the quantum random oracle model. In Dennis Hofheinz and Alon Rosen, editors, *Theory of Cryptography*, pages 30–60, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [55] Jiayu Zhang. Succinct Blind Quantum Computation Using a Random Oracle, page 1370–1383. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2021.